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CHAIRMAN’S REPORT
主 席 報 告

Introduction 

This is my third Chairman’s report to the rugby community 
on behalf of the Board of Directors (the Board) and covers 
the key aspects of Hong Kong, China Rugby (HKCR) activities 
during the 2024/25 year. After a more stable financial year 
immediately post the pandemic, I am pleased to report 
continued recovery in 2024/25 with another healthy 
domestic season being seen at all levels of the game. 

Cathay/HSBC Hong Kong Sevens

Following the official announcement that the main stadium 
at the Kai Tak Sports Park (KTSP) would host the Cathay/
HSBC Hong Kong Sevens in March 2025, significant efforts 
were expended by the Board, the HKCR staff team, our 
sponsors and partners to ensure that the 2025 tournament 
would be a success. A 14% increase in ticket sales meant 
110,907 fans attended across three days, and I would like 
to pay tribute to all of the hard-working HKCR staff whose 
efforts contributed to ensuring that the tournament was a 
memorable and historic event. 

Given the success of the 2025 Cathay/HSBC Hong Kong 
Sevens (the Sevens) there is now an opportunity to develop 
the event further, learning lessons and building upon our 
collective reflections regarding the event earlier this year. As 
we look to strengthen our position as the rugby events hub 
of Asia, we will continue to identify ways in which to optimise 
the use of the world-leading facilities at KTSP for the benefit 
of both the domestic and international game. 

It is always vitally important to remember that the revenue 
generated via the hosting of the Sevens continues to allow 
HKCR to maintain support for our clubs and community, as 
well as introduce new initiatives. I am pleased to advise that 
the move of the Sevens to the KTSP generated a financial 
surplus for HKCR in line with forecasts on a like-for-like basis; 
however, revenues did not demonstrate as much growth in 
the current year due to a change in accounting treatment as 
referred to in the Finance Directors report. Encouragingly, 
given the fact that the 2025 event was not a sell out, and 
based upon a number of learnings from the first event, it is 
expected that the financial return associated with the event 
can be materially enhanced at the next edition in 2026.

Representative Rugby

Our representative teams continue to perform well across 
all formats of the game, and further details are contained in 
a specific section of this report. I would of course highlight 
the recent qualification of the Men’s XVs team for the Men’s 
Rugby World Cup 2027 in Australia as a key achievement 
in terms of representative rugby. The Board and Senior 
Leadership Team (the SLT) will work closely together to 
ensure that the opportunities associated with qualification 
in relation to both positive exposure and additional 
sponsorship are maximised in terms of benefits for both 
Hong Kong and the wider rugby community.  

Domestic Rugby

In terms of the domestic game, I would like to highlight 
the positive progress being made by the Women’s Club 
Coaching Officers (WCCOs) to facilitate our collective aim 
to build a strong and sustainable future for the women’s and 
girls’ game. The work completed by Jamie Farndale has also 
meant that we are on a strong path towards developing a 
more robust model for the domestic game moving forward. 
The focus in 2025/26 will now be upon how best we can 
support community clubs to grow their presence and player 
base going forward, as well as the development of more 
robust pathway structures.

Strategic Plan 

The Board and SLT have continued to maintain a strong 
focus upon our strategic objectives, continuing to adopt 
a framework that focuses strongly on our purpose, 
“To optimise positive social impact for Hong Kong 
through rugby”, and our Mission, “To build a connected, 
sustainable ecosystem of rugby in Hong Kong.” Respective 
updates within this annual report continue to reflect the 
three strategic “Pillars” of Community & Participation, 
Sustainability, and Representative Rugby, each supporting 
the others in delivering more participants to the community 
game, additional funding and revenue generation, and 
better representative performance. James and the SLT 
have adopted an appropriate approach to both the 
implementation and monitoring of the plan so as to ensure 
that the ongoing execution of our strategy is based upon 
clear metrics and a transparent reporting process. 

 
 
 簡 介

這是我代表董事會向欖球社區提交的第三份主席報告，涵蓋2024/25年
度中國香港欖球總會 (欖總) 的主要內容。經歷後疫情年代一個相對穩定
的財政年度後，我很高興報告2024/25年度持續復甦，所有級別的本地
賽事均呈現良好的發展。

國 泰 / 滙 豐 香 港 國 際 七 人 欖 球 賽
隨著正式宣佈「國泰/滙豐香港國際七人欖球賽」將於2025年3月在啟德
體育園主場館舉行，董事會、欖總員工團隊、我們的贊助商及合作夥伴
均投入大量努力，確保2025年賽事取得圓滿成功。門票銷售增長14%，
三天賽事共有110,907名球迷到場觀賽。我謹向所有辛勤工作的欖總員
工致敬，正是他們的努力，促成這項歷史性的難忘盛事。

2025年國泰/滙豐香港國際七人欖球賽的成功，為我們提供了進一步提
升該項賽事的良機，從今年活動的經驗中汲取寶貴教訓並加以反思。為
鞏固我們作為亞洲欖球賽事中心的地位，我們將繼續研究如何善用啟德
體育園的世界級設施，惠及本地及國際賽事。

必須緊記的是，香港國際七人欖球賽的收入繼續為中國香港欖球總會提
供重要支持，使其能夠持續支持球會及社區項目，並推動新計劃的實
施。我很高興地宣布，香港國際七人欖球賽已成功移師至啟德主場館舉
行，實現財務盈餘，這與預期的同比盈餘一致；然而，受財務總監報告
中提及的會計處理方式變更影響，本年度的收入增長幅度不及預期。令
人鼓舞的是，儘管2025年的賽事未能完售，但憑藉首屆賽事的經驗教
訓，預計2026年賽事的財務表現將顯著提升。

代 表 隊 欖 球
我們的代表隊在各級別賽事中繼續表現出色，詳情已載於本報告的相關
章節。我必須特別強調當中的一項重大成就，就是男子15人欖球代表隊
在最近成功獲得2027年在澳洲舉行的男子欖球世界盃參賽資格。董事會
及領導層團隊將緊密合作，確保有關晉級的喜訊得到充分而全面的曝光
機會，惠及香港及整個欖球社群。

本 地 欖 球
本地欖球方面，我特別欣見女子球會教練的引進取得積極進展，這
有助實現我們有關建構長遠可持續女子欖球運動的共同目標。Jamie 
Farndale所作出的努力亦讓我們朝着建立更穩健的本地賽事模式，邁出
重要一步。2025/2026年度，我們的重點將放在如何更有效地支持社區
球會擴展規模及球員基礎，以及建立更完善的發展階梯。

發 展 策 略
董事會及領導層團隊持續專注於發展策略，繼續採用以我們的宗旨「透
過欖球運動，致力為香港創造正面社會影響」，以及使命「在香港建立
一個緊密相連、可持續發展的欖球生態」為核心的框架。本年報內各項
更新亦繼續反映三大支柱：「社區和參與」、「可持續發展」及「代表
隊欖球」，彼此互為支援，以推動社區參與人數上升、增加資金與收入
來源，以及提升代表隊成績。華哲思及領導層團隊亦已採用適切的實施
與監察機制，配合清晰的指標及透明公開的匯報流程，確保發展策略得
以貫徹執行。
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 Governance 

As members are aware, James took up the role of CEO in 
early July 2024 and since that time has been very focused 
upon both embedding himself within HKCR and the 
rugby community as well as looking at ways in which the 
performance of HKCR could be enhanced. An organisational 
review of HKCR was completed earlier this year, and James 
is now in the process of executing upon the findings of this 
review. This includes both some restructuring of HKCR as an 
organisation as well as the recruitment of a number of new 
Executive Directors. I would like to thank all those who have 
helped James to settle into his new role during the course 
of the year.

I would also like to recognise the three Independent Directors 
on the Board, namely Gill Meller, Brett Free and Josh Lewsey, 
all of whom have made significant contributions during the 
year. I would particularly like to thank Josh for his contribution 
given that his term on the Board will end in August 2025. 

Greater Bay Area

HKCR continues to explore opportunities for expansion of 
the game in the Greater Bay Area and this will remain a focus 
for the Board and SLT in 2025/26.

The National Games  

Hong Kong will host the rugby sevens component of the 15th 
National Games in November 2025, and our preparations 
for the event continue in earnest. We now look forward to 
playing a leading role in the delivery of the Rugby Sevens 
competition. Thank you to Rod Lai for the important role that 
he has continued to play sitting on the PRC 15th National 
Games Rugby Sevens Competition Sub-Committee. 

Other Key Initiatives

I would also like to summarise a number of other key 
achievements during the year, including the signing of a 
Memorandum of Understanding with the Japan Rugby 
Football Union, the formalisation of the relationship between 
HKCR and Rugby For Good, the publication of the HKCR 
Sustainability Action Plan, and the continued development 
of the LIFT programme focused upon supporting women’s 
leadership. All of these initiatives reflect the aspiration of 
HKCR to continue to be a leading rugby union both in Asia 
and globally.

Thank You 

This has been another busy year, but also one that has been 
hugely rewarding, and I would like to record my thanks to 
the entire cross-section of the rugby community who have 
offered their support and advice so generously. 

I would specifically like to thank: 

•	 Our President, Peter Duncan and the HKCR Vice Presidents 
•	 My fellow Directors, HKCR Staff and Leadership Team
•	 All Club Chairmen, Officials, Coaches and Managers
•	 All the sponsors and patrons of HKCR
•	 All officials, including Referees, Assistant Referees, 

Assessors and the various members of panels
•	 The Medical Services Team overseeing this vital part of 

our game 
•	 The many other Committees, groups, and working parties, 

that all work for the betterment of rugby in Hong Kong
•	 The supporters and fans of Hong Kong China Rugby and
•	 All of the volunteers who contribute to rugby in Hong 

Kong for their tireless support

Finally, I would like to acknowledge individuals who 
collectively made great contributions to our game but who 
have sadly passed over the past year. This includes Alex 
Iu, who was Chairman of University Rugby Club as well as 
being hugely committed to community and women’s rugby 
in Hong Kong; Jason Going, who was a stalwart member of 
Valley RFC who also represented Hong Kong 7s and 15s; Nick 
Bamber, who was Club Chairman at Kowloon RFC from 1996 
to 1997 during a pivotal time in the club’s history; and Mason 
Wilkinson, who was a much-loved member of the Kowloon 
Stingrays U18s team. Rest in Peace, and thank you all.

管 治
如會員所知，華哲思（James Farndon）已於2024年7月初履新行政總
裁一職。自上任以來，他一直積極融入中國香港欖球總會和欖球社區，
同時審視提升欖總表現的方法。欖總的機構檢討已於年初完成，James 
現正落實該檢討的建議，當中包括欖總的架構重組，以及招聘多名新任
執行董事。我謹此感謝所有在年內協助James順利履新的人士。

我亦謹此鳴謝董事會的三位獨立董事，包括馬琳 (Gill Meller)、斐愽歷 
(Brett Free) 及 Josh Lewsey，他們於年內均作出了重大貢獻。特別要
感謝 Josh，他的董事會任期將於2025年8月屆滿。

大 灣 區
欖總繼續探索在大灣區擴展欖球運動的機會，這將繼續是董事會及領
導層團隊在2025/2026年的重點工作。

全 國 運 動 會
香港將於2025年11月承辦第十五屆全國運動會的七人欖球比賽項目，我
們正積極進行籌備工作，並期待在舉辦七人欖球比賽中發揮主導作用。
感謝黎志豪在中華人民共和國第十五屆運動會七人制橄欖球賽小組委員
會中肩負重要職責。

其 他 重 要 項 目
我亦希望簡述年內其他主要成就，包括與日本橄欖球協會簽署合作備忘
錄、中國香港欖球總會與橄欖成長基金建立正式合作關係、發布中國香
港欖球總會可持續發展行動計劃，以及繼續推動專為支持女性領導力而
設的「LIFT計劃」。上述各項舉措，均彰顯中國香港欖球總會致力成為
亞洲乃至全球領先的欖球總會。

致 謝
這又是一個忙碌但亦成果豐碩的一年，我謹此向整個欖球界中慷慨提
供支援及寶貴建議的各界人士致謝。

我亦要特別感謝：

	• 我們的會長鄧樂勤先生及中國香港欖球總會副會長們

	• 我們的董事們、欖總職員及領導層團隊

	• 所有球會主席、球證、教練及經理

	• 所有中國香港欖球總會的贊助商及贊助者

	• 所有裁判人員，包括球證、助理球證、評估員和各顧問小組成員

	• 賽事中不可或缺的醫務團隊

	• 許多其他為促進香港欖球發展而努力的小組委員會、團體及工作小
組

	• 中國香港欖球總會的支持者及球迷；以及

	• 所有不辭勞苦支持香港欖球運動的義工們

最後，我要特別向以下幾位在過去一年不幸離世的人士致意，感謝他們在
過去數十年間為欖球運動作出卓越貢獻。他們包括：曾任大學欖球會主
席的Alex Iu，他為本地社區和女子欖球發展貢獻良多；Jason Going，
他是華利欖球會的中堅分子，曾代表香港七人及15人欖球隊出賽；Nick 
Bamber，他在1996年至1997年擔任九龍欖球會主席，帶領球會度過關
鍵時期；以及Mason Wilkinson，九龍魔鬼魚U18隊深受愛戴的成員。感
謝您們的無私奉獻，願您們安息。



1110 中國香港欖球總會二零二四至二零二五年年度報告HKCR ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

CEO 
REPORT

CEO REPORT - 行 政 總 裁 報 告

行政總裁報告

CEO REPORT - 行 政 總 裁 報 告

JAMES FARNDON
華哲思
CEO
行政 總 裁



1312 中國香港欖球總會二零二四至二零二五年年度報告HKCR ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

CEO REPORT
行 政 總 裁 報 告
Having now completed my first year as CEO, there is a 
great deal to collectively reflect on since the last reporting 
period, including several key developments. One of the 
key milestones this year has been the hosting of the 2025 
Cathay/HSBC Hong Kong Sevens at the Kai Tak Main 
Stadium. The move to the new home of the Sevens was 
momentous, holding historical significance for the wider 
Hong Kong rugby community and fans. The collaborative 
efforts of the HKCR staff team with our key sponsors, partners 
and stakeholders are to be celebrated, particularly given 
this was the first major sporting event to be held at the new 
venue. I would also highlight that there is much to learn from 
such transitions to build on the 2025 tournament, ensuring 
2026 provides the best experience for all those involved. 
My thanks go to Bryan Rennie and his team for ensuring the 
tournament remains an iconic event in the global sporting 
calendar. 

Finances

Financially, we have continued to build on a position of 
relative stability this year to ensure we can make sound, 
impactful decisions as we reinvest across the game in Hong 
Kong. Delivering the first tournament at Kai Tak, with positive 
gate receipts and subsequent stadium yields, provides 
a positive platform for the future. The continued need to 
carefully prioritise financially will be imperative given our 
ambitious strategic goals. 

Club Development and Sustainability

The recruitment of Jamie Farndale for the role of General 
Manager, Club Development and Sustainability, has meant 
designated support for domestic clubs, which is both timely 
and appreciated. I have great confidence that Jamie and 
the team have started to lay the foundations for future work 
with clubs across the community. The Men’s and Women’s 
Premiership operations and administration also transfer fully 
to the Domestic Rugby Department, which will continue to 
be effectively managed by Jamie Farndale and Andrew Li, 
with close collaboration with the Performance Department. 

Representative Rugby 

I congratulate our Women’s XVs squad for their achievements 
on and off the field. Despite not qualifying for the Women’s 
Rugby World Cup 2025, we were all hugely proud of 
the team’s efforts at the WXV Division 3 Tournament in 
September and October in Dubai. During the subsequent 
rebuilding phase, a newer-look squad gained a victory over 
Kazakhstan and runners-up spot in the 2025 Asia Rugby 
Women’s Championship. 

The Men’s XVs have now booked a ticket to the Rugby World 
Cup 2027 in Australia which has historic significance for 
HKCR. Effective performance planning and decision-making 
will now be critical to optimise the squad's preparations over 
the next two years and beyond. The exposure and profile 
gained from playing in a Men’s Rugby World Cup can be 
unparalleled for Hong Kong – with our aim to create Hong 
Kong role models and to build a legacy for the local and 
domestic game in Hong Kong being central to our strategic 
ambitions. 

Both our Men’s and Women’s 7s teams excelled at the Asian 
Sevens Series, and at the Melrose Claymores at the Hong 
Kong Sevens, where they both earned the right to lift the 
Melrose Swords in front of a packed home crowd at Kai 
Tak Stadium. They are now preparing for the new season, 
including an appearance at the National Games and the 
new three-division HSBC SVNS Series.

We are delighted to have also confirmed a Memorandum 
of Understanding with the Japan Rugby Football Union 
moving forward to build on an already strong relationship 
with them, with a view to sharing best practice across several 
areas of the game domestically and internationally.

行 政 總 裁 報 告
本人履新行政總裁已滿一年，自上次年度報告後，實在有許多值得我們
回顧的事項，當中包括多項重大發展。本年度其中一個重要里程碑，是
在啟德主場館舉辦國泰/滙豐香港國際七人欖球賽。七欖遷址至新主場
館別具歷史意義，對廣大香港欖球社群及球迷而言亦意義深遠。中國香
港欖球總會員工團隊與主要贊助商、合作夥伴及持份者通力合作，成
功為新場館舉辦首項大型體育盛事，實在值得慶賀。我亦希望強調，
我們需要從此次過渡中汲取寶貴經驗，在2025年賽事的基礎上，確保
2026年賽事能為所有參與者提供最佳體驗。在此，我特別感謝榮拜仁 
(Bryan Rennie) 及其團隊，致力確保香港七欖繼續成為全球體壇的巔
峰盛事。

財 務
我們在相對穩定的基礎上進一步鞏固財務狀況，以確保有能力作出明智
且具影響力的決定，將資金重新投入到香港欖球的發展之中。在啟德舉
辦首屆賽事，門票收入和相關的場館收益均表現理想，為未來奠定良好
的基礎。考慮到我們積極進取的策略目標，審慎理財仍將至關重要。

球 會 發 展 及 可 持 續 發 展
Jamie Farndale獲聘為球會發展及可持續發展總經理，為本地球會提
供適時且備受期待的專項支援。我深信Jamie及其團隊已著手為未來與
社群內各球會的合作奠定基礎。男子、女子超級聯賽的營運及行政事務
亦會全面轉移至由Jamie Farndale及李嘉威管理的本地欖球部主理，
與高水平欖球部緊密合作。

代 表 隊 欖 球
我謹此祝賀女子15人欖球代表隊在球場內外取得卓越成績。儘管未能
獲得2025年女子欖球世界盃的參賽資格，但我們為球隊在杜拜舉行的
WXV錦標賽第三級別賽事中的拼勁深感驕傲。在隨後的重建階段，新
陣容於2025年亞洲欖球錦標賽中擊敗哈薩克，取得寶貴勝利。

男子十五人欖球代表隊已成功獲得2027年澳洲欖球世界盃的入場券，
這對於中國香港欖球總會來說具有歷史意義。目前，制定有效的表現
規劃及決策，將會對優化球隊的備戰工作，尤關重要。而角逐男子欖
球世界盃將帶來的曝光率和關注度，亦可謂前所未有。我們將繼續落
實發展策略，以打造香港模範，並以為本港欖球運動留下深遠影響為
目標。

我們的男、女子七人欖球隊在亞洲七人欖球系列賽和香港國際七人欖
球賽Melrose銀劍賽中均表現出色。他們在啟德主場館座無虛席的主
場觀眾面前，雙雙舉起Melrose銀劍獎座。球隊目前正在備戰新賽
季，包括參加全運會和全新三個級別的滙豐世界SVNS七人欖球系列
賽。

我們很高興能與日本橄欖球協會簽署合作備忘錄，進一步鞏固雙方一
直以來的緊密關係，以期分享欖球運動在本地及國際層面各個領域的
最佳做法。
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Local Player Development 

Concurrently, I am delighted to highlight the return of 
the Men’s Dragons Programme, originally set up by 
George Simpkins. Salom Yiu Kam Shing’s leadership 
of the programme, ably supported by Kai Hang Fung, 
Joseph Szeto, Kenny Ng, and Brendon Ireland, has been 
a resounding success. Highly successful district talent ID 
initiatives have taken place – culminating in a Talent Testing 
Day at HKSI that was attended by several Senior Government 
Officials – have added significant value to the identification 
and recruitment of local players. This work at the district 
level will also continue to complement Regional Hub plans. 
I’d also like to recognise the work of Royce Chan with her 
leadership of the Women’s Development Group, identifying 
future players from the women’s and girls’ game. 

15th National Games Preparations

Our preparations for the 15th National Games – for which 
Hong Kong China hosts the rugby sevens component of the 
event in November 2025 – are making good progress. As 
we work with key stakeholders to prepare to deliver of the 
competition, our Men’s and Women’s 7s stars are eagerly 
looking forward to taking to the field at Kai Tak Main Stadium 
in November.

HKCR People and Culture 

Olivier Maitre has been instrumental in providing senior-
level HR support for the executive office, Senior Leadership 
Team, the wider staff team, and the people and culture 
function – supported ably by Lydia Yu alongside her day-to-
day HR commitments. There is still much work to be done 
to ensure our systems and processes are optimal, but I am 
confident that we are moving in the right direction. Our 
collective aim is for all staff to be proud to work for HKCR, to 
feel supported in a way that enables them to thrive and be 
motivated to learn, develop and improve. Initial results from 
the staff engagement survey provide a positive platform to 
progress from, allowing some creative initiatives to now be 
implemented.

HKCR Staffing 

Following a review of our organisational structure there have 
been some significant changes at the senior leadership 
level, with Simon Amor now in the post of Executive Director, 
Performance and Representative Rugby; Dean McLachlan as 
Executive Director, Domestic Rugby; and Rocky Chow now 
taking on the leadership of Rugby For Good in the role of 
Executive Director. Strong General Managers have also been 
recruited, including Jamie Farndale (GM Club Development 
and Sustainability), Hugh Everson (GM Medical Services) and 
Mike Kerrisk (GM Events), with Iwan Phillips undertaking the 
role of GM Commercial. All will add significant value moving 
forward. We wish Jo Hull, Lucy Clarke, Aaron Stockdale and 
Dave Greaves all the very best in their future endeavours 
and thank them for their committed service over several 
years for HKCR.

I would like to recognise the contribution of all our Senior 
Leadership Team for all their efforts over the past season, 
also recording my thanks to Crystal Wong our Corporate 
Services Manager, who has continued to look after the 
Board, managed our Sevens VIP Programme, and, on a 
personal note, was invaluable in assisting me throughout my 
first year as CEO. Crystal now transitions into a part-time role 
supporting executive office projects and event operations. 

I’d like to thank Chris and the Board of Directors for their 
continued support and extend thanks and well wishes to 
outgoing Board Directors finishing their respective terms, 
Tony Karton, Dave Scott and Josh Lewsey. I’d also like to 
extend a sincere thank you to all of our valued volunteers 
for their hard work and commitment across the Hong Kong 
rugby community.

Lastly, I’d like to echo the comments from Chris Brooke in 
the Chairman’s Report and pass on my sincere condolences 
to the friends and families of Alex Iu, Jason Going, Nick 
Bamber and Mason Wilkinson who sadly passed over the 
past year.

本 地 球 員 發 展
同時，我很高興地宣布，最初由George Simpkins創立的「龍隊」男子	
15人欖球計劃載譽而歸。該項目由姚錦成領導，並由馮啟恆、司徒穎
聰、伍偉強及魏溥德 (Brendon Ireland) 鼎力支援，取得顯著成果。地
區選材活動成果豐碩，最終以在香港體育學院舉行的人才選拔日圓滿結
束，多位政府高級官員出席，為發掘及招募本地球員增添重大價值。這
項地區層面工作將繼續配合地區中心計劃。我亦要表揚陳朗詩領導女子
發展小組，致力為女子成人及青少年賽事發掘具潛質的球員。

第 十 五 屆 全 國 運 動 會 籌 備 工 作
我們正積極籌備中國香港於2025年11月承辦的第十五屆全國運動會七
人制橄欖球比賽項目。我們正與主要持份者攜手合作，籌辦賽事的工作
如火如荼。我們的男、女子七人欖球隊亦都熱切期待，在11月於啟德主
場館上陣比賽。

欖 總 人 文 與 文 化
Olivier Maitre一直為行政辦公室、領導層團隊、整體員工以及人員文化
職能等方面提供高級別人力資源支援，發揮了重要作用。雖然我們的系
統與流程仍有許多進步空間，但我深信我們正朝著正確的方向邁進。我
們的共同目標，是讓所有員工都以服務中國香港欖球總會為榮，並感到
獲得支援，使他們能夠茁壯成長，從而積極學習、發展及進步。員工參
與度調查的初步結果為我們提供了正面的基礎，讓一些具創意的新措施
得以實行。

欖 總 人 手 編 制
經檢討組織架構後，高級領導層出現了若干重大變動。Simon Amor現任
職高水平及代表隊欖球執行董事，Dean McLachlan任職本地欖球執行董
事，而周思豪則轉任橄欖成長基金行政總裁。多位優秀總經理亦已加盟，
包括Jamie Farndale (球會發展及可持續發展總經理)、Hugh Everson 
(醫療服務總經理) 及Mike Kerrisk (賽事總經理)，而Iwan Phillips則擔
任商務總經理一職。他們定能為欖總的未來作出重大貢獻。在此，我們
亦衷心祝願侯祖瑟芬 (Jo Hull)、卡露絲 (Lucy Clarke)、魏德朗 (Aaron 
Stockdale) 及格雷夫斯 (Dave Greaves) 在未來的發展一切順利，並感
謝他們多年來為欖總所作出的貢獻。

我謹此感謝全體領導層團隊於過去一季所作出的努力，並特別致謝
我們的企業服務經理黃凱盈，她一如既往地照顧董事會，管理七欖
貴賓項目，並在個人層面上，在我擔任行政總裁首年內給予寶貴支
援。Crystal現已轉任兼職，支援行政辦公室項目及賽事運作。

我亦要衷心感謝蒲敬思及董事會的持續支持，並向即將卸任的董事
簡東利 (Tony Karton)、Dave Scott 及Josh Lewsey致以謝意及	
祝福。在此，我亦謹向所有義工們致以最真誠的謝意，感謝他們為香
港欖球界付出的努力、投入及奉獻。

最後，我想藉此呼應蒲敬思的主席報告，並向過去一年不幸離世的
Alex Iu、Jason Going、Nick Bamber及Mason Wilkinson的親友
致以誠摯的哀悼。
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I am delighted to present my report as Finance Director of 
Hong Kong, China Rugby (“HKCR”) for the year ending 30th 
April 2025.  The year was certainly one of significant change 
for HKCR; with the first ever Hong Kong Sevens hosted at 
its new home in Kai Tak Sports Park and with the Men’s XVs 
team qualifying for the Rugby World Cup for the first time in 
its history. 

The Hong Kong Sevens, saw the highest ever attendance 
at a Hong Kong Sevens tournament and puts HKCR well on 
track to sell out for the 2026 edition. The new stadium is a 
world class venue which Hong Kong can be proud of and 
despite the pressure of being the first major event held at 
the Kai Tak stadium, the event delivered a great experience 
for spectators and partners and was in line with commercial 
expectations. Hong Kong Sevens has a strong reliance 
on overseas visitors and it now has a venue to match the 
expectations of overseas sports fans which will help take the 
event to the next level.

Domestic Rugby was also a beneficiary of the Hong Kong 
Sevens; with HKCR being able to introduce increased club 
subventions during the year to assist clubs in their running 
costs and promoting the game in Hong Kong. Subventions 
returned to a ‘per team’ basis for the first time since 
Covid. In addition to this HKCR was able to support Club 
Coaching Officers for the Women’s game for the first time, 
representing a significant investment in the top end of the 
women’s domestic game.

2024/2025 Financial Performance

Under its  previous accounting treatment and on a like for 
like basis, HKCR would have recorded a profit before tax of 
HK$10.0m (2024: HK$27.2m) for the year ended 30 April 2025.  
However a change in accounting treatment for revenue and 
cost recognition on the stadium suites due to an interpretation 
in IFRS 15 in conjunction with PwC; along with a change in 
the nature of the stadium/suite agreements which were not 
received until March 2025 has resulted in a loss of $2.4m in 
this transitional year. The increase in expenses is primarily due 
to stadium costs resulting from the move to Kai Tak which has 
higher rental charges and rechargeable costs. Investments 
have also been made in staffing and in the representative 
squads which were made to give the teams the support they 
needed; in particular the Men’s XVs team who successfully 
qualified for the Rugby World Cup in Australia in 2027.

Over the course of 3 years, HKCR has managed to increase the 
size of its balance sheet from HK$94.4m up to its current level 
of HK$177.2m which represents a sizable increase and a lot 
of effort from the business and commercial team. As a result 
of this turnaround, HKCR has been restored to full financial 
health. This has been achieved at the same time as growing 
investment in all aspects of the game from the professional 
level right through to grass roots rugby. This is always a difficult 
balance but it is positive to note strong net asset growth at the 
same time as the increased investment and provides a stable 
base for HKCR going forward as it seeks to maximise revenues 
from the Hong Kong Sevens and seek efficiencies in future 
tournaments using knowledge and experience gained from 
hosting it a Kai Tak this year.

The full financial statements are set out on pages 106 to 141. 

Looking Ahead 

Despite the success of the current and recent years; there will 
be some challenges ahead for HKCR and the Company will 
be looking to expand it sources of revenue going forward as 
well as seeking to optimize the Hong Kong Sevens financial 
benefit by targeting a sold out event once again. These 
challenges result from the Men’s XVs team qualifying for 
the Rugby world cup and from committed levels of support 
to the club game in Hong Kong via the financial assistance 
programme for Men’s Premiership rugby clubs, which 
increases the investment back into the game and assists 
clubs in providing a strong base from which to support the 
representative team as they take on the significant challenge 
of competing at the World Cup in 2027.

At the time of writing, discussions are well underway with an 
agreement with World Rugby to host the upcoming Hong 
Kong Sevens tournament and whilst these discussions are 
always challenging; I remain confident that we will have 
an agreeable outcome for HKCR which will aim to remove 
some of the future uncertainties are facing. In prior years, 
these agreements have been only 1 year agreements which 
has made it challenging for the commercial team to secure 
longer term partnerships; but the current intention from 
World Rugby is to have a longer agreement; which should 
be mutually beneficial.

Discussions are also progressing on a second event which 
could be run by HKCR, or with HKCR’s assistance with the 
aim of enhancing the offerings available to both local and 
visiting spectators alike and diversifying the revenue base 
of HKCR.

DIRECTOR OF FINANCE REPORT
財 務 董 事 報 告

我很高興以中國香港欖球總會 (欖總) 財務董事的身份，提交截至2025年
4月30日為止年度的財務報告。對欖總而言，本年度無疑是充滿重大變
化的一年；我們首次在新主場館啟德體育園舉辦香港國際七人欖球賽，
而男子15人欖球隊亦創造歷史，取得欖球世界盃的參賽資格。

香港國際七人欖球賽創下歷來最高觀眾人數紀錄，為中國香港欖球總會
在2026年賽事門票售罄的目標奠定良好基礎。新場館作為一個世界級場
地，讓香港引以為傲。儘管承辦啟德體育園的首個大型賽事帶來不少壓
力，但七欖為觀眾和合作夥伴帶來了極佳的體驗，亦符合營商預期。七
欖向來倚重海外訪客，從今起在這個能夠滿足海外體育愛好者期望的場
館舉行，將有助賽事提升至更高水平。

本地欖球賽事亦受惠於七欖，欖總今年得以增加對球會的津助，支持球
會的營運開支及推廣本地欖球運動。自新冠疫情後，津助金額首次恢復
以「每隊」為基礎發放。此外，欖總亦首次能夠資助女子賽事的球會教
練，標誌著對本地頂級女子賽事的重大投資。

2 0 2 4 / 2 0 2 5 年 度 財 務 表 現
根據過往的會計處理方式，並按同等基準計算，中國香港欖球總會截至
2025年4月30日止年度錄得的稅前利潤應為港幣$10,000,000 (2024年為
港幣$27,200,000)。然而，就《國際財務報告準則第15號》的詮釋，經
本會與羅兵咸永道會計師事務所協商後，對場館包廂的收益及成本確認方
式作出會計處理變更；同時，場館/包廂協議的性質亦有所變動 (直至2025
年3月方才收到相關協議)，導致本過渡年度錄得虧損港幣$2,400,000。
開支增加主要由於賽事遷移至啟德後，租金費用及可收回成本上升所致。
本會亦在人員編制及代表隊方面投入資源，為隊伍提供所需支援，尤其是
成功取得2027年澳洲欖球世界盃參賽資格的男子15人欖球隊。

過去三年，欖總成功將資產負債表規模由港幣$94,400,000增至現時
的港幣$177,200,000。增幅相當可觀，實有賴業務和商務團隊努力的
成果。基於這項好轉，欖總得以全面恢復至健康的財務狀態。同時，
我們仍持續增加由專業到基層等各個層面的欖球運動投資。要在強化資
本儲備與運動投入之間達致一個良好平衡，實屬不易，但實際成果令人
鼓舞，為欖總鞏固財務基礎，奠定穩健前路。欖總將致力從七欖賽事中
實現收益最大化，並利用今年在啟德體育園舉辦賽事所獲得的知識和經
驗，在未來尋求效率提升。

 

完整的財務報表載於106至141頁。

展 望 未 來 
儘管本年度和近年表現卓越，欖總仍將面臨若干挑戰，公司將尋求開拓收
入來源，並再次以售罄門票為目標，優化七欖賽事的財務收益。這些挑戰
包括：男子十五人欖球隊晉身欖球世界盃，以及承諾透過財務支援計劃，
加強對本地男子超級聯賽球會的支持。此舉增加對欖球運動的投資，並協
助球會提供穩固的基礎，支持香港代表隊競逐2027年欖球世界盃。

在撰寫本報告期間，我們正與世界欖球總會進行深入討論，就即將舉行的
香港國際七人欖球賽達成協議。雖然這些討論歷來頗具挑戰，但我仍有信
心，我們將為欖總取得一個令人滿意的結果，消除未來的不確定性。以往
這些協議僅為一年期，令商業團隊難以確立長期的合作伙伴關係。然而，
世界欖球總會目前有意簽訂更長期的協議，此舉將為雙方帶來互惠。

此外，我們正進行積極討論由中國香港欖球總會主辦或協辦另一項賽事，務
求為本地及訪港球迷提供更多精彩賽事，並使欖總的收入來源更趨多元化。

致 謝
本財政年度止於2025年4月30日，亦標誌著格雷夫斯的離任。他一直勤
勉地擔任首席財務總監╱首席營運總監的職務達12年半之久，本人謹此
衷心感謝他多年來的努力，尤其是他最近協助統籌將七欖由舊場館遷至
啟德體育園的過渡工作，以及在關鍵時期協助欖總渡過新冠疫情，成功
保持財政儲備處於健康的水平。這很大程度上歸功於他的遠見：在2020
年七欖賽事舉行前，提前為欖總購買了涵蓋保障新冠肺炎的保險，而這
正是當時全球大多數體育賽事未曾有所考慮及準備的。為此，欖總將一
直心存感激。

最後，我要感謝中國香港欖球總會全體員工，特別是行政管理層及財務團
隊，盡心盡力及展現專業精神，致力為本會維持穩定，並成功統籌過渡至
啟德體育園的工作，當中涉及的工作量及複雜程度遠超此處所能詳述。

最後，我想在此正式感謝格雷夫斯幫助帶領公司度過了極具挑戰性的
時期，並祝他的繼任人一切順利。

財務董事

馬天偉
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The year ended 30th April 2025 also marked the departure of 
David Greaves, who diligently held the role of Chief Financial 
Officer/Chief Operating Officer for 12 and half years and I would 
personally like to place on record my thanks for his efforts over 
these years; most recently helping manage the transition of 
the event from the old stadium to Kai Tak and crucially helping 
HKCR survive the covid period and still retain a healthy level of 
reserves. This was in no small part due to his foresight in taking 
out insurance far in advance of the 2020 tournament which also 
covered Covid-19 – which most sporting events in the world 
did not have; for this, HKCR will always be grateful.

Finally, I would like to acknowledge and thank all the staff at 
HKCR and particularly, from my perspective, the executive 
management and the finance team for their diligence and 
professionalism in keeping HKCR in a stable and for managing 
the transition to the Kai Tak stadium, a task which involved a 
lot more work and complexity then it’s possible to detail here.

As a final note, I would like to place on record my thanks to 
Dave for helping lead the business through exceptionally 
challenging times and I wish his successor all the best.

Martin Murray
Director, Finance
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STRATEGIC PLAN 
發 展 策 略

During the first year of implementing HKCR’s 10 year 
strategic plan, we continued to make positive steps towards 
achieving our mission “To build a connected, sustainable 
ecosystem of rugby in Hong Kong.”

Our three strategic pillars, 1. Community & Participation 
("C&P"), 2. Sustainability and 3. Representative Rugby ("RR")) 
have made good progress on delivering strategic initiatives 
which has seen more participants to the community 
game, more funding and revenue generation and better 
representative performance. 

In 2025, HKCR redesigned and implemented a new operating 
model to deliver on the strategic plan. This resulted in new 
senior leadership appointments and recruitment in our 
strategic areas of focus such as Sustainability, Domestic 
rugby and the Women’s game. 

這是中國香港欖球總會實行十年策略計劃的第一年，我們致力實踐我們
的使命「在香港建立一個緊密相連、可持續發展的欖球生態」。

三大發展策略支柱：1. 社區和參與、2. 可持續發展、3. 代表隊欖球，在
推動實踐各項措施進展良好，帶動更多人參與社區賽事、增加資金和收
入來源，以及提升代表隊的表現。

2025年，欖總重新設計並賽施一個新的營運模式，以配合發展策略。這
促成我們在可持續發展、本地欖球和女子欖球等重點領域的高層領導任
命和招聘。

該策略計劃還附加了額外的球員福利倡議，以支持和推動策略倡議的實施。

今年其中一些傑出成就：

	• 在全新的啟德主場館成功舉辦2025年香港國際七人欖球賽，為期三
天，吸引超過110,000名觀眾入場，售出45,200張三日套票，實
現95%的售票率

	• 男子15人代表隊獲得2027年欖球世界盃參賽資格

	• 推行「龍隊」計劃，為本地人才建立發展途徑

	• 透過愛丁頓非撞式欖球計劃，為270名球員聯繫20個小型欖球會的
其中七個

	• 發布中國香港欖球總會的可持續發展行動計劃

	• 實施新的執行董事架構，以精簡領導層、提升管理專業知識，並推
動後續實施及交付

1.	 On a like for like basis with prior year與前一年同等基礎比較 
2.	 Nielson Sports Report 尼爾森體育報告

3.	 Commencing 2025/26 school year 自2025/26 學年開始

Our strategic plan implementation progress
我 們 的 策 略 計 劃 實 施 進 度

Key achievements for the year
本 年 傑 出 成 就

The strategic plan was also supplemented with additional 
Player Welfare initiatives to support and enable the delivery 
of the strategic initiatives.

Our most notable achievements this year:
•	 Delivered the 2025 HK7s in the new Kai Tak Stadium 

with over 110,000 attendees over three days and 45,200 
three day tickets sold resulting in a 95% sold out event

•	 Men’s 15s Rugby World Cup 2027 qualification
•	 Implemented the Dragon’s programme to build 

pathways for local talent
•	 Edrington Touch Rugby connecting 270 players with 7 

out of the 20 mini clubs in Hong Kong
•	 Published HKCR’s Sustainability Action Plan
•	 Implemented a new Executive Director structure to 

streamline leadership, elevate management expertise 
and drive subsequent implementation and delivery

Delivered a successful 2025 HK7s event in Kai Tak 
Stadium with over 110,000 attendees over three days 
and 45,200 three day tickets sold resulting in a 95% sold 
out event
在全新的啟德主場館成功舉辦 
2025年香港國際七人欖球賽， 
三日吸引超過110,000名觀眾入場， 
售出45,200張三日套票，實現95%的售票率

Edrington Touch Rugby project connecting 270 players 
with 7 out of the 20 mini clubs
透過愛丁頓非撞式欖球計劃，為270名球員聯繫 
20個小型欖球會的其中七個

Men’s 15s won the  
AREC 2025
男子15人欖球隊贏得 
2025年亞錦賽冠軍

Designated “Club Development 
Support” through new GM of Club 
Development & Sustainability
新任球會發展及可持續 
發展總經理將專責 
「球會發展支援」

Talent ID Days which 
engaged over 200 young 
local athletes 
人才招募日成功 
吸引超過200名 
本地運動員參與

Over 70 Teams from the Touch and 
Rugby Communities taking part in the 
Community Competition
逾70支來自非撞式欖球和 
欖球社區的球隊 
參加社區比賽

Men’s and Women’s 
qualification for 2025 
Challenger series
男子及女子隊均晉級至2025
年挑戰者系
列賽

First domestic 7s competition 
for senior rugby in partnership 
with Valley RFC
與華利欖球會合作， 
舉行首個成人 
本地七人欖球賽

HK7s generated a HK$768 million positive economic 
impact to Hong Kong2

香港國際七人欖球賽 
為香港帶來港幣$ 7.68 億的 
正面經濟影響 2

19% more teams from both Primary and Secondary 
Schools taking part in HKCR programmes from prior year, 
with 21% more Girls teams
中國香港欖球總會的中、小學球隊的 
參與人數較上一年度增加 19%， 
其中女子隊伍增加 21%

Men’s 15s qualified for the 
 Rugby World Cup in 2027
男子15人欖球隊獲得  
2027年欖球世界盃 
參賽資格

First Rugby Union and HK based 
signatory of the UN Sports for 
Nature Framework 
首個欖球總會、亦是香港首個 
加入「體育促進自然」框架的 
組織

Men’s 15s ranked 23rd  
in the world
男子15人欖球隊 
世界排名第23位

Published HKCR’s Sustainability 
Action Plan 
發布中國香港欖球總會 
可持續發展行動計劃

Women’s 15s ranked 
17th in the world
女子15人欖球隊現時
世界排名
17位

Women’s 15s second in 
AREC 2025
女子15人欖球隊在2025年
亞錦賽獲得亞軍

Regional hub roll-
out 
落實推行
地區中心

Dragon’s programme to 
build pathways for local 
talent
重啟龍隊計劃，
致力培育本地 
欖球人才

Women’s CCOs fully integrated 
into the domestic and 
representative programmes
女子球會教練融入本地和

代表隊項目

New 3-year kit supplier partnership 
with Castore and representative 
back of shirt partner with DHL 
與 Castore 建立全新的球
衣供應商合作夥伴關係，為
期3年；另與DHL建立合作
夥伴關係，成為球衣背面
贊助商

Hong Kong Jockey club continued 
support for HKCR’s Primary and 
Secondary school programmes for 
the next 3 years3

香港賽馬會在未來三年3 

繼續支持中國香港欖球 
總會的小學及中學項目
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STRATEGY EXECUTION 
發 展 策 略 執 行 

Executing our strategy and 10-year vision   實 現 我 們 的 發 展 策 略 及 十 年 願 景

Pillar 1: Community & Participation
支柱1：社區和參與

Objectives 
目標

Optimise societal impact through enhanced engagement, participation and retention
透 過 加 強 互 動 、提 升 參 與 及 留 任 球 員 ，以 最 大 限 度 優 化 社 會 影 響

Long term KPIs 
長期關鍵績效指標

（KPIs）

Refer to subsequent 
slides for short to 

medium term KPIs
請參關後頁了解中短

期KPls

•	 Participation, engagement, and fan viewership of HKCR population to increase by 
>10% annually1 from 2024/25 to 2028/29 season through a vibrant rugby community 
built around Regional Hubs 
以地區中心為樞紐，建立充滿活動的欖球社區，目標在2024/25到2028/29賽季，提升中國香港欖球總
會的參與度、互動投入度及觀賽球迷人數，每年1 增長10%以上

•	 Generate 15,000 registered participants1 participating in the playing pathway and 
target equal gender recruitment efforts to change the gender split to 60:402 by 2027 
across all ages
吸引15,000註冊球員1參與欖球賽事，倡導球員招募工作的性別平等，目標是在2027年，實現所有分
齡組別的性別比例為60:402

•	 Rugby Sevens to be ranked in the top 3 team sports by participation for both HKSSF 
and USF for boys and girls by 2027
2027年，七人欖球運動位列中國香港學界體育聯會及中國香港大專體育協會最多人數參與的男、女子
隊際運動項目頭三名

•	 Rugby introduced to local school PE Curriculum by 2027 and GBA clubs, local schools 
and universities integrated into domestic club community  
2027年，欖球運動全面納入本地學校體育課程；推動大灣區球會、本地學校及大學融入本地球會社區

In 2024-25, improvements have been made in participation, engagement and fan viewership. Although total participation has increased 
by 5.2% in 2024/25 and has not met the target annual increase of >10%, there have been improvements from both local and international 
schools with an increase in school player participations by 32%. There has also been an improvement in girl’s player registrations which 
increased by 13% (local schools increased by 21%). 

2024-25賽季錄得的參與度、互動及球迷收看率均有所提升。2024/25賽季的總參與人數增加5.2%，雖未達至10%以上的年度增幅目標，但本地和國際學校

的參與度均有所提升，學校球員的參與度32%的升幅。女子球員的註冊人數也增加了13%（本地學校錄得21%的增幅）。

Strategy 
 and Tactics 
策略及措施

Ref. 參考編號 Initiatives 倡議 In January 2025, HKCR launched the Regional Hub pilot programme 
and plans have been developed to roll-out regional hubs in 
Hong Kong. In addition, schools have been identified to kick start 
the Touch Rugby programme across 6 districts in Hong Kong. 
Furthermore, the first domestic Sevens competition for senior rugby 
was launched in partnership with Valley RFC.

2025年1月，中國香港欖球總會啟動地區中心試行項目，並為在全

港各地推行地區中心制定計劃。此外，我們亦已確定在全港六個地

區開展非撞式欖球計劃的學校。此外，中國香港欖球總會也與華利

欖球會合作，舉辦了首個本地成人組別七人欖球賽。

C&P-1 Incentivise recruitment of players to HKCR 
accredited clubs
支持欖總認可球會的球員招募工作

C&P-2 Alignment of Sevens and Touch across the 
community
確保七人欖球及非撞式欖球在整個欖球社區的一致性

C&P-3 Regional hubs
地區中心

On track At risk Not met

Pillar 1: Community & Participation
支柱1：社區和參與

Key 
achievements in 

2024-25  
2024-25年度傑

出成就

•	 Established the Edrington Touch Rugby project to connect schools to clubs which resulted in 270 
players connecting with 7 out of the 20 mini clubs (6 districts in Hong Kong)
建立愛丁頓非撞式欖球項目，聯結學校及球會，為270名球員與20小型欖球會（在全港6個地區）中的7個，建立聯繫

•	 Piloted a club / school Touch competition
試行球會/學校非撞式欖球比賽

•	 Re-introduced 7s competitions in the 2024/25 senior domestic season, with the first senior rugby 
domestic 7s competition in partnership with Valley RFC
在2024/25賽季恢復七人欖球賽，並與華利欖球會合作舉辦首個本地成人組別七人欖球賽

•	 Piloted the Regional Hub programme utilising the HKCR facilities in Tin Shui Wai
在天水圍運用中國香港欖球總會的設施試行區域中心計劃

•	 Held Talent ID Days for local schools to recruit and develop local athletes
為本地學校舉辦人才招募日，招募並培育本地運動員

•	 Re-instated subventions for youth and senior clubs
恢復對青少年及成人球會的資助

•	 Designated “Club Development Support” through new GM of Club Development & Sustainability
新任球會發展及可持續發展總經理將專責「球會發展支援」

Key priorities for 
2025-26 

2025-26年度主

要優先處理事項

•	 Progress two-year Regional Hub pilot programme and assess outcome of the pilot to determine next 
steps for the Regional Hub roll-out
施行為期兩年的地區中心試行項目，並評估試行結果，以確定推行地區中心的後續工作

•	 Kick start a modified Regional Hub model and identify possible next locations in Kowloon and Hong 
Kong Island
推行經改進後的地區中心模式，在九龍和港島區辨識下一輪地區中心的位置選項

•	 Kick start discussions with the Education Bureau on the creation of a rugby curriculum for primary 
schools Physical Education ahead of the 2026 school year (Sept 2026)
與教育局開展討論，在2026學年(2026年9月)之前為小學體育教育制定欖球課程

•	 HKCR, in collaboration with member clubs and associations, will launch a campaign addressing 
negative pitch side behaviour across the game 
中國香港欖球總會將與會員球會及其他屬會合作，開展一項針對處理欖球賽事場外不良行為的項目

1.	 Participants of 9,600 as of February 2024 and 5.2% annual growth up to May 2025 截至2024年2月，參與者人數達9,600人；截至2025年5月，年增率為5.2%

2.	 Current gender split of 70:30 as of May 2025 截至2025年5月，男女比例為70:30
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Pillar 2: Sustainability
支柱2：可持續發展

Objectives 
目標

Ensure HKCR can achieve its goals on a sustainable basis
在 可 持 續 發 展 的 基 礎 上 ，實 現 目 標

Long term KPIs 
長期關鍵績效指標

（KPIs）

•	 Generate an increased annual surplus by 2034 from 3 major sources: 
a) the HK7s
b) hosting a second major annual event 
c) HKCR’s digital platform monetisation

從三大主要收入來源，提升年度盈餘：

a) 香港國際七人欖球賽

b) 舉辦第二個大型年度活動

c) 欖總數碼平台

•	 Recognised as a leader in the sports industry across sustainability – Environmental, 
Social and Governance
欖總致力推動在環境、社會影響及治理領域的可持續發展，矢志成為體育業界可持續發展的領導者

During this period, HKCR has made progress towards diversifying income streams with the development of fan profiling capabilities, 
implementation of the e-commerce platform and CRM and the integration of HKCR’s website. Planning for a second annual event will also 
be a key focus for 2025-26, with the prospect of this being another major event held by HKCR to generate surplus. Furthermore, HKCR 
implemented the Environment and Social Impact framework, published HKCR’s Sustainability Action Plan, ran the Hong Kong Sport and 
Sustainability Summit and was a UN Sports for Nature Signatory. 

在此期間，中國香港欖球總會在實現多元化收入來源取得進展，包括開發球迷分析功能、推出全新的中國香港欖球總會網站，設立客戶關係管理(CRM)平台和

整合中國香港欖球總會網站。展望2025/26年，籌辦第二項年度活動也將是重點，該賽事將有望成為欖總另一項大型活動，從而創造盈餘。另外，中國香港欖

球總會實踐環境保護及社會責任框架，發布了可持續發展行動計劃，並舉辦香港體育與可持續發展峰會，同時是聯合國「體育促進自然」的簽署方。 

Strategy 
 and Tactics 
策略及措施

Ref. 參考編號 Initiatives 倡議 Good progress has been made this year towards HKCR's 

Sustainability initiatives which resulted in the implementation 

of the Environment and Social Impact framework, publishment 

of the HKCR Sustainability Action Plan and the development of 

digital capabilities such as the new HKCR website and CRM. 

HKCR held a successful 2025 HK7s event at the new Kai Tak 

Stadium which received a 92% score from World Rugby. This 

also generated a HK$768 million positive economic impact to 

Hong Kong.  

今年，中國香港欖球總會在推動可持續發展倡議方面取得良好進

展，落實環境及社會影響框架，亦發布《中國香港欖球總會可持續

發展行動計劃》。同時，欖總積極開發數碼功能，包括推出全新的

中國香港欖球總會網頁及客戶關係管理 (CRM)平台等，提升營運效

率與用戶體驗。此外，今年，中國香港欖球總會在全新的啟德主場

館成功舉辦2025年香港國際七人欖球賽，獲得世界欖球總會92%的

正面評價。是次賽事也為香港帶來了港幣7.68億的正面經濟效益。

S-1 Technology 科技/技術

S-2 Data platform 數據平台

S-3 Events 賽事/活動

S-4 Sponsorship and Partnerships 贊助及合作夥伴

S-5 Governance 治理

S-6 Environment and Social 環境及社會

S-7 Premiership support 支持本地超級聯賽

On track At risk Not met

Pillar 2: Sustainability
支柱2：可持續發展

Key 
achievements in 

2024-25  
2024-25年度傑

出成就

•	 Transitioned to Kai Tak Stadium and held the first HK7s at the new stadium at 95% capacity
香港國際七人欖球賽移師至全新的啟德主場館舉行，首次在啟德主場館舉辦的HK7s錄得95%入座率

•	 Set-up the e-commerce platform for kit and merchandise sales
設立網購平台，出售球衣及商品

•	 Established a 3-year kit supplier partnership with Castore and onboarded a new HKCR representative 
back of shirt partner with DHL
與Castore建立全新的球衣供應商合作夥伴關係，為期3年；另與DHL建立合作夥伴關係，成為球衣背面贊助商

•	 Launched the new HKCR website, set up the CRM platform and fan profiling capabilities 
推出全新的中國香港欖球總會網站，設立客戶關係管理(CRM)平台和球迷分析等功能

•	 Published the HKCR Sustainability Action Plan and implemented the Environmental and Social impact 
framework 

•	 發布中國香港欖球總會可持續發展行動計劃，以及針對環境保護及社會責任的實踐框架

•	 First Rugby Union and first HK based signatory of the UN Sports For Nature Framework, ran the Hong 
Kong Sport and Sustainability Summit and G20 representation 
成為首個欖球總會、亦是香港首個加入國際自然保護聯盟「體育促進自然」倡議的組織，另舉辦香港體育與可持續發展峰
會，以及參加G20代表會議

•	 Rugby for Good sustainability “research and development” partnership established with HKCR
中國香港欖球總會與橄欖成長基金，就可持續發展的「研究與發展」建立夥伴關係

Key priorities for 
2025-26 

2025-26年度主

要優先處理事項

•	 Plan and host a second annual event
籌劃及舉辦另一項年度盛事

•	 Develop a product strategy for the HK7s to fill the stadium and to generate additional surplus (e.g. 
commercialisation of the East Village space at Kai Tak) 
制定香港國際七人欖球賽的產品策略，提高主場館入座率及創造額外收益(例如，將啟德主場館東村空間商業化)

•	 Finalise commercial plan and agreement with World Rugby for 2026 HK7s and beyond
敲定2026年香港國際七人欖球賽及其後的商務計劃，並與世界欖球總會達成協議

•	 Enhance digital platform features and user experience, roll-out campaigns to attract fans and automate 
communications 
提升數碼平台功能與用家體驗，舉辦不同活動吸引球迷，並實現自動化溝通

•	 Launch a Sustainability Task Force, nature campaigns and a secondary benefit rugby programme
啟動欖總可持續發展工作小組、自然保育活動以及次生效益欖球項目

•	 Align with World Rugby’s “E” & “S” initiatives plan and publish the first HKCR Sustainability Report 
與世界欖球總會的「環保」和「可持續發展」倡議一致，並發布首份中國香港欖球總會可持續發展報告
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Pillar 3: Representative Rugby
支柱3：代表隊欖球

Objectives 
目標

Create recognised HKCR role models who inspire people to engage in Rugby
打 造 明 星 球 員 ，作 為 香 港 模 範 ，以 鼓 勵 大 眾 參 與 欖 球 運 動

Long term KPIs 
長期關鍵績效指標

（KPIs）

Refer to subsequent 
slides for short to 

medium term KPIs
請參關後頁了解中短

期KPls

•	 Achieve 4-year Tier A categorisation at HKSI 
獲體院評定為為期4年的「A級」精英體育項目

•	 Qualify for Men’s and Women’s 2028 and 2032 Olympics by 2027 and 2031 
男、女子隊獲得2028及2032年奧運資格

•	 Medal in the Men’s & Women’s Asian Games 2026, Win Men’s and Women’s Asian 
Games in 2030
男、女子隊在2026年亞洲運動會獲得獎牌，在2030年亞洲運動會奪冠

•	 Accelerated provision for Women’s Representative and Premiership to qualify for 
Women’s RWC 2025(not achieved), 2029 (aspirational) & 2033
投放更多資源發展女子代表隊賽事及本地女子超級聯賽，以加速於2025（未能實現）及2029年（目
標）取得女子欖球世界盃的參賽資格

•	 Continued development of the Men’s 15s programme to ensure competitiveness in 
relevant regional and global competitions
繼續發展男子15人欖球項目，確保在地區及國際比賽中，保持競爭力

Men’s 15s won the AREC 2025, qualified for the Rugby World Cup (RWC) 2027 and are now ranked 23rd in the world. Women’s 15s came 
2nd in the AREC 2025 and are now ranked 17th in the world. Since the Women’s did not qualify for the 2025 RWC, we have extended our 
goal to qualify for the RWC 2033 with RWC 2029 being an aspirational target. The Women’s programme review has been completed and 
a new Head Coach recruited. Men’s 7s won the Asian 7s series and Women’s 7s finished 3rd in the Asian 7s series; both teams qualified 
for the 2025 Challenger series.

男子15人欖球隊成功衛冕2025年亞錦賽冠軍，並獲得2027年欖球世界盃參賽資格。目前，中國香港男子隊世界排名第23位。女子15人欖球隊在2025年亞錦

賽獲得第二名，目前世界排名第17位。由於女子欖球隊未能獲得2025年欖球世界盃的參賽資格，我們將晉身世界盃的目標定於2033年，同時亦以2029年欖球

世界盃作為比較進取的目標。女子隊的項目審查已經完成，亦聘請了一位新的主教練。七人欖球方面，男子七人欖球隊在亞洲七人欖球系列賽贏得冠軍，女子

隊則獲得第三名；兩支球隊均獲得2025年挑戰者系列賽的參賽資格。

Strategy 
 and Tactics 
策略及措施

Ref. 參考編號 Initiatives 倡議 Good progress has been made on initiatives, notably the Men’s 
15s full time HK based programme is confirmed to commence 
in August 2025 and a new Head Coach has been appointed for 
the Women's 15s programme. Projects such as the Dragon’s 
programme, Women's Development Group and Talent ID days have 
been implemented to build pathways, support local talent in Rugby 
and showcase HKCR representative players. Referee development 
programme continues to be a leader in Asia Rugby.

各項計劃進展良好，男子15人欖球全職訓練項目已確定將於2025年

8月啟動，女子15人欖球項目亦已任命新主教練。「龍隊」計劃，

女子欖球發展小組和「人才招募日」等項目已相繼展開，為培育本

地欖球人才創建平台，並展現中國香港欖球代表隊的實力。此外，

球證發展項目持續在亞洲欖球界領導群雄。

RR-1 International recognition and HKCR community 
profile
獲取國際認可或提升欖總社區形象

RR-2 HKSI Sevens Olympic pathway
體院七人欖球項目競逐奧運資格路徑

RR-3 HKQ performance pathways
符合代表中國香港參賽資格路徑

RR-4 Premiership KPIs alignment
校準本地超級欖球聯賽「關鍵績效指標」

RR-5 Women’s 15s
女子15人欖球

RR-6 Men’s 15s
男子15人欖球

RR-7 Coach education and Referee pathway
教練培訓及球證晉升路徑

Pillar 3: Representative Rugby
支柱3：代表隊欖球

Key 
achievements in 

2024-25  
2024-25年度傑

出成就

•	 Men’s 15s full time HK based programme confirmed
確立男子15人欖球全職訓練項目

•	 Women’s CCOs deployed in the Women’s 15s representative programme
調派女子球會教練輔助女子15人欖球代表隊項目

•	 HKCR Referee, Morgan White, officiated at the World Rugby U20s competition
中國香港欖球總會球證Morgan White為世界欖球總會U20比賽執法

•	 Showcased HKCR representative players at local community events
中國香港欖球代表隊參加本地社區活動

•	 Held Talent ID Days engaging over 200 young local athletes 
舉辦「人才招募日」，吸引超過200位本地年輕運動員參與

•	 Hysan Academy supporting development of 42 U10 athletes
希慎—欖總青少年欖球學院支持42位10歲以下球員的發展

•	 Implemented Dragon’s & Women’s Development Group programmes to build pathways for local talent
實施龍隊和女欖球子發展小組項目，為本地人才開闢發展道路

•	 Men’s Pathway team travelled to New Zealand for a three game tour
男子發展隊前往新西蘭進行三場訓練賽

Key priorities for 
2025-26 

2025-26年度主

要優先處理事項

•	 Develop the Men’s 15s full-time programme including agreed performance goal at the RWC 2027, 
creation of competition programme, and enhancement of training facilities
制定男子15人欖球全職項目，包括商定2027年欖球世界盃的成績目標，制定比賽計劃，以及提升訓練設施

•	 Increase contact time with Women’s XVs players to accelerate performance progression
增加與女子15人欖球運動員的共處和交流時間，以加速提升她們的運動表現

•	 Create and implement a 7s performance plan targeting Olympic 2028 qualification.
制定並實踐七人欖球高水平表現計劃，力爭2028年奧運資格

•	 Our Men’s and Women’s 7s  teams to win/medal at the National Games
我們的男、女子七人欖球隊在全運會上奪冠/獲得獎牌

•	 Develop cross Border initiatives within Asia and Oceania including the GBA strategy
在亞洲和大洋洲地區開展跨境項目，包括大灣區策略

•	 Transition youth athletes from the talent ID programme into the pathway programme to increase local 
youth players within HKCR representative squads
透過人才選拔計劃，協助青少年運動員過渡至高水平發展計劃，以增加中國香港欖球總會代表隊中本地青少年球員的數目

•	 Enhance the provision of coaching & S&C support to our Pathway Programmes
提升針對發展路徑計劃中教練及肌力與體能訓練資源的支援

•	 Formation of a Player Representative Group
成立球員代表小組

On track At risk Not met
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CATHAY/ HSBC 
HONG KONG  
SEVENS
國泰/滙豐	
香港國際七人欖球賽
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Organising Committee

Chris Brooke (HKCR, Chair), Martin Murray (HKCR), Edward 
Bell (Cathay), Esther Guevara (Cathay), Angel Wong (Cathay), 
Sven Gloor (HSBC), Adam Webb (HSBC), James Farndon 
(HKCR) and Bryan Rennie (HKCR) 

Event Summary

“Where the World Comes to Play” was reinstated as the event 
tagline for this historic move from Hong Kong Stadium, which 
had been the home of the Hong Kong Sevens for the past three 
decades to the new world class venue, Kai Tak Sports Park. 

After a series of test events held at the new stadium, the Hong 
Kong Sevens was entrusted to be the first major sporing 
event held at the new facility and it did not disappoint with 
a record-breaking attendance for the Sevens. Over 45,200 
tickets were sold and an incredible 110,000+ fans poured 
into the stadium over the three-day event. 

The rugby was as impressive and competitive as ever with 
the world’s best 12 men’s and women’s teams competing in 
the HSBC SVNS series. New Zealand Women won the Final 
defeating Australia 26-19, and Argentina Men continued 
their fine form beating France 12-7 in the Final. 

The Melrose Claymores competition saw Hong Kong China 
Men winning 38-5 in the Final against China, and the Women 
lifting the trophy for the first time beating Kazakhstan 45-5 
in the Final.

With the new stadium came new opportunities and the team 
introduced dynamic digital signage which improved the fan 
experience along with a state-of-the-art laser show as part of 
Friday night’s Opening Ceremony. The precinct has a large 
area outside the stadium which was turned into a family-
friendly Fan Zone. This area had a stage for live performances 
(over 20 live acts throughout the weekend), a mini rugby 
pitch for community coaching sessions, the players dining 
area – where fans could meet some of the players, a bouncy 
castle, face painters, roaming entertainment, the Castore 
merchandise sales tent, food and beverage stalls and 
activation booths for Cathay, HSBC and the Hong Kong 
Jockey Club among others. 

Corporate hospitality was very well supported with 138 
Corporate Boxes sold (an increase from 98 at the Hong Kong 

CATHAY/HSBC HONG KONG SEVENS
國 泰 / 滙 豐 香 港 國 際 七 人 欖 球 賽

Stadium) as well as a number of new hospitality products 
including the Captain’s Lounge Hospitality Pass which was 
a 5* VIP experience, and the Carlsberg South Stand Super 
Pass which included free flow drinks for the thirsty fan. 

The event’s live entertainment went to new heights with 
headline act on the Sunday being none other than English 
indie Rockers, Kaiser Chiefs who performed all their fan 
favorite anthems. They appeared on a purpose build 
stage towering over the South Stand which has retained 
its reputation as being the best party stand in the world. 
Italian artist GALA perform her multi-platinum song Freed 
From Desire during the mini rugby match past which 
saw approximately 2,500 children and coaches have the 
opportunity to walk around the pitch. Legendary British DJ 
Pete Tong then had the fans on their feet during his Saturday 
evening set with his Ibiza classics. 

To celebrate the 100th anniversary of Kai Tak Airport, Cathay 
arranged a low altitude fly past over Victoria Harbour 
which was a truly memorable experience with hundreds of 
aviation enthusiasts lining up on the waterfront to witness 
the spectacle. 

An influx of rugby legends landed in Hong Kong to take up the 
prestigious role as #HK7s ambassadors and experience the 
first event at the new stadium. These included former Hong 
Kong China stars Christy Cheng and Salom Yiu Kam Shing, 
The King of Sevens, Waisale Serevi, Olympian Tyler Nathan-
Wong and a host of rugby royalty including Andy Goode, Jim 
Hamilton, Ryan Wilson, Celia Quansah and DJ Forbes. 

John Lee Ka-Chiu, Chief Executive of Hong Kong SAR, 
attended the event to present the trophies to the winning 
teams alongside World Rugby delegates including Chairman 
Brett Robinson and Chief Executive Officer Alan Gilpin. 

Insights

World Rugby’s wrap up report saw HKCR receive an 
impressive 92% rating for the successful delivery of the event, 
while Cimigo Market Researchers conducted on-event fan 
questionnaires and survey’s that showed 96% of fans would 
highly recommend the event to friends and family. 

The average time spent in stadium was 7.6 hours per day 
and 81% of visitors interviewed were impressed with Kai Tak 
Sports Park.

The event was well supported on social media channels 
and gained significant global media exposure. Content 
highlights were viewed over 2.6 million times on Instagram 
and Facebook and achieved over 10,000 media articles 
according to CARMA Media Tracking. 

Global broadcast statistics saw the total cumulative audience 
of approximately 11.8 million views across TV and streaming 
platforms for over 9 million viewership hours over the three-
day event. The Hong Kong audience grew 79% compared 
to 2024, primarily due to the addition of TVB Jade and 
TVB Pearl channels enhancing the region’s broadcast 
performance (Nielson Sports). 

HKCR engaged with Nielson Sports to conduct an Economic 
Impact Report and the event generated an incredible 
US$97.9 million into the Hong Kong economy. 

Sevens Week

Sevens Weeks got off to a flying start with The Sai Kung All 
Girls Tournament, The Hong Kong Club Dinner, Kowloon 
Rugby Fest, The Tradition HKFC 10s, The KPMG BritCham 
Dinner, The My Names Doddie Foundation Charity Dinner, 
The Valley Long Lunch, The Carbine Club Long Lunch, Rugby 
Matters Event, The Hong Kong Scottish Brunch – along with 
a host of other networking and social events scheduled 
during the week. 

Cathay Youth International Tournament 

The inaugural Cathay Youth Tournament took place at the 
Youth Sports Ground on Thursday 27 and Friday 28 March 
with school teams coming in from Singapore, China and 
Hong Kong to participate. This exciting new showcase gave 
the players the chance to compete at the spiritual home of 
rugby sevens, right alongside the main tournament. 

The tournament followed the same format as the Cathay/
HSBC Hong Kong Sevens with teams allocated to a pool, 
and each team played the pool games to determine the 
pool placings. The top two teams then progressed to the 
Cup/Plate Semi-Final and the 3rd and 4th placed teams 
progressing to the Bowl/Shield Semi-Final. 

Participating Teams: FOBISIA (Singapore), Weihai Youth 
(China), King George V School (Hong Kong), Renaissance 
College (Hong Kong, Tanglin Trust School (Singapore), 

Kellett School (Hong Kong), South Island School (Hong 
Kong), German Swiss International School (Hong Kong). 

And a huge congratulations to the 2025 winners:
•	 Shield: King George V School (Hong Kong)
•	 Bowl: German Swiss International School (Hong Kong) 
•	 Plate: FOBISIA (Singapore) 
•	 Cup Final: Kellett (Hong Kong) 

Sport and Sustainability Summit 

Hong Kong China Rugby (HKCR), in collaboration with Hongkong 
Land and Centricity, hosted second edition of the Hong Kong 
Sport and Sustainability Summit (HKSSS), which took place 
on Wednesday 26 March 2025 at Centricity in LANDMARK. 
Building on the success of the inaugural 2024 summit, this year’s 
event brought together a global community of leaders, decision-
makers and passionate individuals committed to driving positive 
change through the power of sport.

The 2025 summit, themed “From Insight to Impact,” focused 
on the critical intersection of sport and sustainability, 
exploring how the sports industry can contribute to societal 
and environmental well-being. The event featured thought-
provoking panel discussions, interactive sessions and 
networking opportunities designed to inspire actionable 
strategies for a more sustainable future in sports.

A huge thanks must go to our corporate 
partners, sponsors and supporters including: 

Cathay, HSBC, Culture, Sports and Tourism Bureau, Major 
Sports Events Committee, Hong Kong Jockey Club, Hong 
Kong Tourism Board, Carlsberg, Coca-Cola, Brand Hong 
Kong, Castore, MTR, Cimigo, Laureus Sports For Good, 
Sony, ActiveOps, G-Shock, Aperol and MHD. 

And a particular mention and heartfelt thanks 
to the core Hong Kong Sevens delivery team: 

Bryan Rennie, Aaron Stockdale, Lucy Clark, Mike Kerrisk, 
Andrew Brown, Iwan Phillips, Matthew Rosslee, Adrian Lam, 
Jimmy Cheung, Jordanne Grey, Jon Pallett, Ivy Kwok, Dylan 
White, Fraser Mander, Emily Spencer, Michael Sheperdson, 
Kelvin Lo, Double Cheng, Johnny Kai, Noel Cho, Bob Brown, 
Lorna Meads, Finn Cunningham, Hugh Everson and Candy Yiu.  
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統 籌 委 員 會
蒲敬思 (主席，中國香港欖球總會)、馬天偉 (中國香港欖球總會)、鍾橋軒 
(國泰)、Esther Guevara (國泰)、Angel Wong (國泰)、Sven Gloor 	
(滙豐)、韋日新 (滙豐)、華哲思 (中國香港欖球總會) 及榮拜仁 (中國香港
欖球總會)。

賽 事 總 結
「全世界達陣」重新成為本屆賽事的口號，標誌著香港國際七人欖球賽
由過去三十載的主場香港大球場，歷史性地遷往世界級的全新場地 — 啟
德體育園。

經過一連串在新場館舉行的測試賽後，香港國際七人欖球賽被委以重
任，成為首項於啟德體育園舉辦的大型體育盛事，表現不負眾望，創下
七欖賽事歷來最高入場人數紀錄。三天賽事期間，共售出超過45,200張
門票，吸引逾110,000名球迷進場。

賽事競爭激烈，一如既往地精彩，世界最頂尖的12支男、女子欖球隊伍
在「滙豐SVNS世界七人欖球系列賽」中同場較勁。新西蘭女子隊在決
賽以26:19擊敗澳洲奪冠，而阿根廷男子隊延續出色表現，在決賽中以
12:7戰勝法國。

Melrose銀劍賽方面，中國香港男子隊以38:5戰勝中國奪冠，而女子隊
則在決賽以45:5擊敗哈薩克，首次捧起獎盃。

新球場為賽事帶來全新機遇，團隊引進了動態數碼指示，並在開幕禮上
增設最先進的激光投影表演，提升觀眾體驗。場館外圍設有大型合家歡
球迷區，設有表演舞台，整個週末共進行逾20場現場表演；另設有用於
社區教學的小型欖球場、球員用餐區讓球迷有機會與球員近距離接觸、
充氣城堡、面部彩繪、巡遊表演、Castore產品銷售帳篷、餐飲攤位，
以及國泰、滙豐及香港賽馬會的推廣攤位。

企業款待廣受支持，總共售出138個企業包廂 (較香港大球場時期的98個
有所增加)，同時亦推出多項全新款待產品，包括提供五星級貴賓體驗的
隊長貴賓室通行證，以及嘉士伯南看台超級通行證，為熱愛暢飲的球迷
提供無限暢飲服務。

賽事的現場娛樂表演更上一層樓，週日首席表演嘉賓為英國搖滾樂團
Kaiser Chiefs。他們在專門搭建的舞台上，俯瞰擁有「世界最佳派對看
台」美譽的南看台，傾力演繹所有膾炙人口的歌曲。意大利歌手Gala在
小型欖球巡遊期間演唱她的白金歌曲《Freed From Desire》，當天超過
3,000名兒童參加巡遊，一同感受賽事氣氛。傳奇英國DJ Pete Tong則在
週六晚帶來他的經典伊比薩金曲，成功令球迷載歌載舞。

為紀念啟德機場成立100周年，國泰安排了一場飛機低空飛越維港的表
演，數百名航空愛好者聚集在海濱觀賞，場面壯觀，令人難忘。

眾多欖球名宿來港擔任七欖榮譽大使，體驗新場館首項賽事。其中包括
前中國香港球星鄭家慈和姚錦成、「七欖之王」撒力菲、奧運選手Tyler 
Nathan-Wong，以及Andy Goode、Jim Hamilton、Ryan Wilson、Celia 
Quansah 和 DJ Forbes 等一眾欖球王者。

香港特別行政區行政長官李家超親臨賽事，並與多位世界欖球總會代表包
括主席Brett Robinson 及行政總裁Alan Gilpin一起，頒獎予優勝隊伍。

洞 見
世界欖球總會的總結報告顯示，中國香港欖球總會憑藉成功舉辦賽事獲
得了出色的92%評分。而Cimigo市場研究人員在現場進行的球迷問卷
調查指出，賽事滿意度為96%，球迷表示會向親友強烈推薦香港七欖。

球迷平均每天在場館逗留7.6小時，其中81%的受訪球迷對啟德體育園
印象深刻。

賽事在社交媒體平台獲得廣泛支持，並獲得大量全球媒體曝光。根據
CARMA媒體追蹤統計，賽事精華在Instagram及Facebook上錄得逾
260萬觀看人次，獲得超過10,000篇媒體報導。

全球廣播統計顯示，三天賽事期間在電視和串流平台上的累計觀眾總
數約為1,180萬人，總收看時數逾900萬小時。香港觀眾較2024年增長
79%，主要受惠於新增無綫電視翡翠台及明珠台，大幅提升本地收視表
現 (尼爾森體育)。

欖總委託尼爾森體育進行了一份經濟影響報告，結果顯示是次七欖賽事
為香港帶來的經濟收益達驚人的9,790萬美元。

瘋 狂 七 欖 週
「瘋狂七欖週」拉開序幕，包括西貢全女子錦標賽、香港會晚宴、九龍
欖球嘉年華、傳統的香港足球會10人欖球賽、畢馬威英國商會欖球晚
宴、My Name'5 Doddie Foundation慈善晚宴、The Valley長桌午
宴、Carbine球會欖球午宴、Rugby Matters活動、香港蘇格蘭人早午
餐，以及週內其他聯誼及社交活動。

國 泰 青 少 年 七 人 欖 球 邀 請 賽
首屆國泰青少年七人欖球邀請賽於3月27及28日在啟德青年運動場舉
行，匯聚來自新加坡、中國及香港的學校隊伍。這項全新的賽事讓球員
有機會在七人欖球的聖地 — 香港，與國泰/滙豐香港國際七人欖球賽同
期競賽。

該賽事沿用國泰/滙豐香港國際七人欖球賽相同的賽制，所有隊伍被分配
到不同小組，進行小組賽後決定小組排名。小組前兩名隊伍晉級盃/碟賽
準決賽，第三及四名隊伍則進入碗/盾賽準決賽。

參賽隊伍包括FOBISIA (新加坡) 、威海青年 (中國)、英皇佐治五世學
校 (香港)、啓新書院 (香港)、新加坡東陵信託國際學校 (新加坡)、啟歷
學校 (香港)、南島中學 (香港)及德瑞國際學校 (香港)。

	• 銀盾：英皇佐治五世學校 (香港)

	• 銀碗：德瑞國際學校 (香港)

	• 銀碟：FOBISIA (新加坡)

	• 銀盃：啟歷學校 (香港)

體 育 與 可 持 續 發 展 高 峰 會
中國香港欖球總會 (欖總) 與香港置地及Centricity合作，於2025年3月26日 
(星期三)在置地的Centricity主辦第二屆香港體育與可持續發展高峰會。延續
2024年首屆的成功，今年峰會匯聚全球領袖、決策者和致力投身「以體育的
力量推動正面改變」的人士。

2025年峰會以「從洞見到影響」為主題，聚焦體育與可持續發展之間的關鍵
交匯點，探索體育產業如何為社會及環境福祉作出貢獻。活動設有具前瞻性
的小組討論、互動環節及網絡交流機會，旨在激發可行的策略，促進體育界
創造更可持續的未來。

在 此 ， 我 們 要 衷 心 感 謝 企 業 合 作 夥 伴 、 贊
助 商 及 支 持 者 ， 包 括 ：
國泰航空、滙豐銀行、文化體育及旅遊局、大型體育活動事務
委員會、香港賽馬會、香港旅遊發展局、嘉士伯、可口可樂、
香港品牌、Castore、港鐵、Cimigo、勞倫斯體育公益基金
會、Sony、ActiveOps、G-Shock、Aperol 及 MHD。

特 別 提 及 並 衷 心 感 謝 香 港 國 際 七 人 欖 球 賽
的 核 心 工 作 團 隊 ：
榮拜仁 (Bryan Rennie)、魏德朗 (Aaron Stockdale)、卡露絲 
(Lucy Clark)、Mike Kerrisk、白禮賢 (Andrew Brown)、翡儀贇 
(Iwan Phillips)、羅斯尼 (Matthew Rosslee)、林熙舜、張浩穎、
喬嘉莉 (Jordanne Grey)、Jon Pallett、郭淑怡、柏迪蘭 (Dylan 
White)、Fraser Mander、Emily Spencer、佘少瑋 (Michael 
Shepherdson)、盧子晉、鄭沅湘、奚誌康、曹思語、Bob 
Brown、Lorna Meads、卡寧芬 (Finn Cunningham)、Hugh 
Everson 及 Candy Yiu。
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DOMESTIC COMPETITION
本 地 比 賽

Senior Rugby 

Player Base and Community Leagues: 

This season, we experienced a loss of 9% in our player base, 
with a total registration of 2,707 players (1,889 men and 818 
women). This figure remains 10% more than the 2021/22 
season. A total of 68 teams (44 men's and 24 women's) 
participated in the senior community leagues. 

Men's Leagues 

On the men's side, three Championship Leagues and two 
community divisions were contested. Championship 1 
was exceptionally tight, with the league trophy clinched 
by Typhoons/University RFC on match points. Hong Kong 
Football Club had some strong performances throughout 
Championship 2, while SCAA CWB Marines performed well to 
top the league in Championship 3. 

Women's Leagues

On the women's side, the season started with an 11-team 
championship competing until Christmas before splitting into 
a five-team Championship 1 and a six-team Championship 2. 
Societe Generale Valley Reds performed well, sitting on top of the 
Championship before the split and holding that momentum to 
finish top of Championship 1 with only one loss over the season. 
Six teams competed in the Community 12s competition, with 
University finishing as League Champions. 

Nan Fung Group | AIRSIDE Hong Kong Premiership 

In the Women’s Premiership, Societe Generale Valley RFC 
demonstrated exceptional consistency and resilience, winning 
all 15 league matches before advancing to the Semi-Finals 
where they were joined by Kroll USRC Tigers Women. HKFC 
Natixis Ice and Gai Wu Falcons faced off in the other Semi-
Final in a repeat of one of the games of the season where 
Gai Wu Falcons had pulled off an impressive 24-20 win, but 
it was HKFC Natixis Ice who progressed to the Final after an 
impressive display. Societe Generale Valley RFC ultimately 
defeated HKFC Natixis Ice 19-17 in a highly physical contest at 
Kings Park, which was played amidst a heavy downpour of rain. 

Following an engaging launch event at AIRSIDE Mall, the 
Men’s Premiership commenced with HKFC Natixis Club 
narrowly beating HKU Sandy Bay RFC in what would also turn 
out to also become the season finale, with the opposite result 
occurring. The league was fiercely competitive, and it was only 
in the penultimate round that HKFC Natixis Club were crowned 
Champions. Four teams – HKU Sandy Bay RFC, Societe Generale 
Valley RFC, HKFC Natixis Club, and MND Hong Kong Scottish 
– progressed to the Semi-Finals. In a thrilling match featuring a 
strong defensive and kicking display, HKU Sandy Bay emerged 
victorious with a 40-19 win and lifted the Grand Final Trophy.

In Premiership A, Shenzhen Pirates, having secured both the 
League and Grand Championship titles in the Championship 
1 Division the year before, delivered impressive rugby 
throughout their debut in Premiership A. They maintained their 
form until the final whistle of the season, ultimately winning the 
Grand Final and further demonstrating the growing strength 
of 15s rugby across the border. Their success also signifies 
enhanced engagement within the Greater Bay Area.

Nan Fung Group | AIRSIDE Men’s Premiership	 HKU Sandy Bay RFC

Nan Fung Group | AIRSIDE Women's Premiership 	 Societe Generale Valley RFC

Men’s Premiership A	 Shenzhen Pirates RFC

南豐集團 | AIRSIDE男子超級聯賽	 香港足球會Natixis Club

南豐集團 | AIRSIDE 女子超級聯賽	 法興華利欖球會

男子超級聯賽A	 香港足球會Natixis Dragons

南豐集團 | AIRSIDE男子超級聯賽	 香港大學沙灣欖球會

南豐集團 | AIRSIDE 女子超級聯賽	 法興華利欖球會

男子超級聯賽A	 深圳海盜橄欖球俱樂部

League Winners 聯賽冠軍

季後總決賽冠軍Grand Final Winners

Nan Fung Group | AIRSIDE Men’s Premiership	 HKFC Natixis Club

Nan Fung Group | AIRSIDE Women's Premiership 	 Societe Generale Valley RFC

Men’s Premiership A	 HKFC Natixis Dragons

聯賽冠軍得主 季後總決賽冠軍得主

League Winners Grand Final Winners

Community Grand Championship

The Community Grand Championship served as a fitting end to the season. Teams from all eight men's and women's divisions gathered 
at the home of rugby – King's Park Sports Ground – for a full day of fun and competitive rugby engagement for the community.

HKCR Women's Championship League 1 
欖總女子冠軍聯賽1

HKCR Men's Championship League 1 
欖總男子冠軍聯賽1

HKCR Women's Championship League 2  
欖總女子冠軍聯賽2

HKCR Men's Championship League 2 
欖總男子冠軍聯賽2

HKCR Men's Championship League 3 
欖總男子冠軍聯賽3

HKCR Women’s Community League (12's) 
欖總社區聯賽(12人欖球)

HKCR Men’s Community League 1 
欖總男子社區聯賽1

HKCR Men’s Community League 2 
欖總男子社區聯賽2 

Societe Generale Valley Red 
法興華利欖球會Red

HKFC Natixis Scorpions 
香港足球會Natixis Scorpions

SCAA Causeway Bay Griffins 
南華會銅鑼灣欖球會Griffins

HKFC Natixis Bulls 
香港足球會Natixis Bulls

SCAA CWB Marines 
南華會銅鑼灣欖球會Marines

University RFC 
大學欖球會

HKU Sandy Bay Marauders 
香港大學沙灣欖球會Marauders

HKU Sandy Bay Marauders 
香港大學沙灣欖球會Marauders

HKCR Women's Championship League 1  
欖總女子冠軍聯賽1

HKCR Men's Championship League 1 
欖總男子冠軍聯賽1

HKCR Women's Championship League 2  
欖總女子冠軍聯賽2

HKCR Men's Championship League 2 
欖總男子冠軍聯賽2

HKCR Men's Championship League 3 
欖總男子冠軍聯賽3

HKCR Women’s Community League (12's)  
欖總社區聯賽(12人欖球)

HKCR Men’s Community League 1 
欖總男子社區聯賽1

HKCR Men’s Community League 2 
欖總男子社區聯賽2

Societe Generale Valley Red 
法興華利欖球會Red

HKFC Natixis Scorpions 
香港足球會Natixis Scorpions

SCAA Causeway Bay Griffins  
南華會銅鑼灣欖球會Griffins

HKFC Natixis Bulls 
香港足球會Natixis Bulls

Discovery Bay Pirates 
愉景灣海盜欖球會

Police Sirens  
警察欖球會Sirens

Natixis HKFC Expendables 
香港足球會Natixis Expendables

DLA  Piper Kowloon Brothers 
DLA Piper九龍欖球會Brothers
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Youth Leagues 

Player Base and Age Grades:

In the 2024-25 season, we experienced a steady increase in the 
overall player base, with 4% more active members, 327 girls 
and 832 boys. 

Boys' Age Grades:

During the first half of the season, our focus remained on XV 
games for the boys. To encourage better participation, the 
community agreed to combine the U13 and U14 age grades 
for one more season. However, there is a clear plan to resume a 
clear split of these age grades for the 2025-26 season. 

Girls' Age Grades:

In the girls' program, we witnessed remarkable collaboration 
within the community, with clubs partnering to form competitive 
teams. This collective effort provided players with valuable 
opportunities for competitive play as we continue to grow rugby 
for girls in Hong Kong. Moving on from previous seasons playing 
the 10s format, increased numbers allowed 15s to be played at 
every age grade this season. 

In the boys program, we saw a high level of rugby played 
throughout the season right until the very final play, with Valley 
Fort clinching victory at the final whistle with a nerve-jerking 
extra-time cross-field kick thrown in for good measure. 

We sincerely thank Hysan Development for their ongoing 
support of youth rugby in Hong Kong. Their backing has 
been instrumental not only in sustaining the Hysan Domestic 
Season, but also in expanding opportunities for girls and boys 
through their support of the year-end U14 Development Camp. 
Moreover, their partnership through the Hysan Youth Academy 
has established a vital performance linkage, further advancing 
our rugby development initiatives.

Development Camps

Prior to the Christmas break, we organised a training camp 
for the U14 age group. Thanks to the ongoing support from 
Hysan, we expanded the camp this year to include both boys 
and girls, offering a comprehensive training program centered 
on contact skills and game understanding. The primary goal 
was to prepare these athletes for U16 rugby in the following 
year. Selected coaches delivered valuable insights and contact 
drills to the U14 groups, which were highly appreciated by all 
participants.

Hysan Youth Rugby Competition Rugby 7s 

The second half of the season saw the return of our Youth 7s, 
culminating in the highly-anticipated Premiership Finals. The 
finalists had the privilege of playing in the new Kai Tak Stadium, 
with some competitive rugby played out before the SVNS 
Series took to the stage.

New Year’s Day Tournament 

The 57th New Year's Day Youth Rugby Tournament once again 
highlighted the top talent among players aged 15 to 18. A key 
highlight was the U16 boys match between the Hong Kong 
Dragons and Overseas Lions which came right down to the 
final whistle. Additionally, the U19 boys' match provided a 
valuable talent identification opportunity for Hong Kong China 
coaches. 

We are sincerely grateful to over 28 local coaches and senior 
players, including current and former representatives, who 
supported the four teams participating in this annual event. 
Special thanks are extended to Hysan Development and to 
Hong Kong Football Club for their ongoing support of this 
important tournament.

Mini Rugby

Player Base and Age Grades:

The World Challenge Cup kicked off the 2024-25 season, with 
over 350 U11 and U12 boys and girls taking the field at King’s 
Park, representing the 12 RWC nations. 

Mini Festivals, Richard Hawkes Trophy and 
Kim Lam Cup Competitions

All major festivals ran in full swing, with Tigers, Sandy Bay, 
Valley Fort, and HKFC hosting vibrant mini community events. 
Additionally, Flying Kukris, Tai Po, Sha Tin, and Aberdeen 
contributed to a varied and engaging festival season, offering 
a comprehensive program of activities for the mini rugby 
community. 

Both the Richard Hawkes Trophy and Kim Lam Cup 
competitions took place in January 2025. In what is for many 
their first taste of competitive rugby, it was inspiring to witness 
the level of skill, desire and determination on display.

Mini Rugby at the Cathay/HSBC Hong Kong 
Sevens

One of the standout moments for many Hong Kong Sevens 
attendees was welcoming 2,500 mini rugby players and their 
parents to the new stadium at Kai Tak. The atmosphere was electric, 
with the crowd energised by Gala’s “Freed From Desire” filling the 
stadium just before the home team took to the field. These young 
players had also participated in the Cathy/HSBC Hong Kong 
Sevens mini showcase, showcasing the next generation of talent 
on the new field – a truly unique and remarkable experience that 
is exclusive to the Hong Kong Sevens. 

We extend our heartfelt thanks to all the passionate parents 
and volunteers whose dedication and support are vital to the 
distinctive character of the Hong Kong tournament.

Hysan Youth Rugby Championship League Hysan Youth Rugby Championship Grand Finals
希慎青少年欖球錦標賽聯賽 希慎青少年欖球季後總決賽

元旦日青少年欖球錦標賽

New Year’s Day Youth Rugby Tournament

Girls U18 Premiership 
女子18歲以下超級聯賽

Boys U18 Premiership 
男子18歲以下超級聯賽

Boys U18 Championship 
男子18歲以下冠軍聯賽

Girls U16 Premiership 
女子16歲以下超級聯賽

Boys U16 Premiership 
男子16歲以下超級聯賽

Boys U16 Championship 
男子16歲以下冠軍聯賽

Girls U14 Premiership 
女子14歲以下超級聯賽

Boys U14 Premiership 
男子14歲以下超級聯賽

Boys U13 Premiership 
男子13歲以下超級聯賽

Boys U13 Championship 
男子13歲以下冠軍聯賽

Girls U18 Premiership 
女子18歲以下超級聯賽

Boys U18 Premiership 
男子18歲以下超級聯賽

Boys U18 Championship 
男子18歲以下冠軍聯賽

Girls U16 Premiership 
女子16歲以下超級聯賽

Boys U16 Premiership 
男子16歲以下超級聯賽

Boys U16 Championship 
男子16歲以下冠軍聯賽

Girls U14 Premiership 
女子14歲以下超級聯賽

Boys U14 Premiership 
男子14歲以下超級聯賽

Boys U13 Premiership 
男子13歲以下超級聯賽

Boys U13 Championship 
男子13歲以下冠軍聯賽

Winners  
優勝隊伍

Lassies Quaich – Hong Kong Dragons  
Lassies Quaich – 香港龍隊

Middlesex Cup – Overseas Lions 
Middlesex Cup – 海外獅隊

Naylor Cup – Hong Kong Dragons  
Naylor Cup – 香港龍隊

George White Trophy – Hong Kong Dragons 
George White Trophy – 香港龍隊

Best and Fairest  
最佳球員

U19 Girls – Holly Terrebrood 
19歲以下女子 – Holly Terrebrood

U19 Boys – Luke Bannon 
19歲以下男子 – Luke Bannon

U16 Girls – Lea El Asmar 
16歲以下女子 – Lea El Asmar

U16 Boys – Arthur Grislain 
16歲以下男子 – Arthur Grislain

Larry Abel Trophy  
Larry Abel盃得主

Lea El Amsar 
Lea El Amsar

Hong Kong Football Club 
香港足球會

Hong Kong Football Club 1 
香港足球會1隊

Hong Kong Football Club 2 
香港足球會2隊

Hong Kong Football Club 
香港足球會

Kowloon Barbarians 1 
九龍蠻夷1隊

Kowloon Barbarians 2 
九龍蠻夷2隊

Hong Kong Football Club 
香港足球會

Hong Kong Football Club 1 
香港足球會1隊

Hong Kong Football Club 1 
香港足球會1隊

N/A 
不適用

Hong Kong Football Club 
香港足球會

Valley Fort 
華利欖球會Fort

Hong Kong Football Club 2 
香港足球會2隊

Hong Kong Football Club 
香港足球會

Kowloon Barbarians 1 
九龍蠻夷1隊

Hong Kong Football Club 2 
香港足球會2隊

Hong Kong Football Club 
香港足球會

Hong Kong Football Club 1 
香港足球會1隊

Hong Kong Football Club 1 
香港足球會1隊

USRC Tigers Rugby Football Club 
三軍會猛虎欖球會

Kim Lam Cup
林鄺蘭香欖球盃

Cup
銀盃

Plate
銀碟

Discovery Bay Pirates
愉景灣海盜

Valley Fort
華利欖球會Fort

Richard Hawkes Trophy
Richard Hawkes欖球盃

Cup

Plate

Bowl

銀盃

銀碟

銀碗

Hong Kong Football Club 1 
香港足球會1隊

Macau Bats
澳門蝙蝠

Sai Kung Stingrays
西貢魔鬼魚
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成 人 欖 球
球 員 庫 及 社 區 聯 賽 ：

在本賽季，我們的球員總數下跌9%，註冊球員總數為2,707人 (1,889名
男子球員及818名女子球員)。此數字較2021/22賽季上升10%。共有68
支球隊 (44支男子隊及24支女子隊) 參與成人社區聯賽。

男 子 聯 賽
在男子聯賽方面，本賽季共設三個級別的冠軍聯賽及兩個級別的社區聯
賽。冠軍聯賽第一級別的競爭異常激烈，颱風欖球會/大學欖球會最終憑
決勝分奪得聯賽錦標。香港足球會在冠軍聯賽第二級別表現出色，而南
華會銅鑼灣欖球會Marines隊則在冠軍聯賽第三級別中表現優異，位列
榜首。

女 子 聯 賽
在女子聯賽方面，開季時共有11支球隊競逐冠軍聯賽，賽至聖誕節後再
劃分成有5支隊伍的第一級別及6支隊伍的第二級別作賽。法國興業銀行
華利欖球會Red隊在分級前表現出色，一直穩居榜首，其後保持強勢，
最終在冠軍聯賽第一級別奪冠，整個賽季僅嚐一敗。6支球隊參加了社區
12人欖球比賽，最終大學欖球會榮膺聯賽冠軍。

南 豐 集 團  |  A I R S I D E 本 地 超 級 聯 賽 
在女子超級聯賽中，法國興業銀行華利欖球會展現出卓越的穩定性和韌
力，以15場全勝的姿態晉級聯賽準決賽，會師Kroll三軍會猛虎女子隊。
另一場準決賽由香港足球會法盛Ice隊對決雞糊欖球會Falcons隊。兩隊
在本季曾上演一場經典對決，當時雞糊欖球會Falcons以24:20險勝。
但在這場準決賽中，最終由香港足球會法盛Ice脫穎而出。決賽在京士柏
運動場舉行，兩隊在滂沱大雨中展現激烈的身體對抗，最終法國興業銀
行華利欖球會以19:17擊敗香港足球會法盛Ice隊。

南豐集團｜AIRSIDE男子超級聯賽在AIRSIDE商場舉辦了一場精彩的
開幕活動。香港足球會法盛Club隊在開幕戰以些微優勢擊敗香港大學沙
灣欖球會後，兩隊在決賽重遇，最終由後者勝出。本季聯賽競爭激烈，
香港足球會法盛Club隊賽至倒數第二輪才篤定奪冠。四支球隊晉級準決
賽，包括香港大學沙灣欖球會、法興華利欖球會、香港足球會法盛Club
隊及MND香港蘇格蘭人。在一場著重防守和踢球的決賽中，香港大學沙
灣欖球會以40:19獲勝，最終高舉南豐集團｜AIRSIDE男子超級聯賽季
後總決賽獎盃。

去年囊括冠軍聯賽第一級別聯賽及季後總決賽雙料冠軍的深圳海盜隊首
次在本賽季的超級聯賽A中亮相，展現非凡實力。他們一直保持佳績直
至球季最後一刻，最終贏得季後總決賽。這進一步彰顯內地15人欖球隊
實力日益增強，亦標誌著大灣區的參與度有所提升。

社 區 季 後 總 決 賽 
社區季後總決賽為本賽季畫上完美句號。來自全部八個男、女子組別的
球隊齊聚欖球之家—京士柏運動場，為社區帶來了一整天既有趣又富競
技性的欖球活動。

青 少 年 聯 賽 
球 員 庫 及 分 齡 組 別 ： 

在2024-25賽季，球員總數穩步增長，活躍球員人數增加了4%，其中包括
327名女子和832名男子球員。

男 子 分 齡 組 別 ：
在前半個賽季，男子組別的重點仍然是15人制比賽。為鼓勵更多人參與，欖
球社區同意將U13及U14年齡組別合併多一個賽季。不過，我們已經制定明
確計劃，將在2025-26賽季重新明確劃分這兩個年齡組別。

女 子 及 男 子 分 齡 組 別 ：
在女子方面，社區內部有非常卓越的合作，球會之間聯手組建具競爭性的隊
伍，共同努力為球員提供了寶貴的比賽機會，有助持續發展本港的女子欖球
運動。隨著球員人數增加，我們得以從過去數季的10人賽制，進而於今季在
每個年齡組別推行15人欖球比賽。

在男子方面，整季的賽事都維持在高水平。華利欖球會Fort隊在終極一戰的
加時階段，於完場前憑藉一次驚心動魄的橫踢球，鎖定勝局並摘下冠軍。

我們衷心感謝希慎興業對香港青少年欖球的持續支持。他們的贊助不僅令
希慎本地賽季得以穩定開展，亦透過資助年終的U14欖球訓練營，為男女子
球員提供機會。此外，他們還通過希慎青少年欖球學院建立了重要的績效關
聯，進一步推動本會的欖球發展計劃。

發 展 營
在聖誕假期前，我們為U14分齡組別舉辦了一次訓練營。承蒙希慎的持續支
持，今年我們得以擴展訓練營以涵蓋男、女子球員，提供以接觸技巧及理
解比賽為核心的全面訓練計劃。訓練的主要目標是讓這些球員為來年的U16
欖球比賽做好準備。經挑選的教練為U14球員傳授寶貴的訓練心得及對抗演
練，獲得全體學員高度讚賞。

希 慎 青 少 年 欖 球 錦 標 賽 七 人 欖 球 賽
青少年七人欖球賽於球季下半段回歸，於萬眾期待的超級聯賽決賽畫下句
號。決賽隊伍有幸在全新落成的啟德主場館作賽，在世界七人欖球系列賽的
球隊登場前進行激烈的欖球對決。

元 旦 日 青 少 年 欖 球 錦 標 賽 
第57屆元旦日青少年欖球錦標賽再次展示15至18歲球員的卓越實
力。香港龍隊與海外獅隊在U16男子組別賽事的對決成為亮點，雙
方賽至最後一刻才能分出勝負。此外，U19男子組別賽事也正好讓
中國香港隊教練們發掘優秀的人才。

我們衷心感謝超過28位本地教練和資深球員，包括現任和前任代
表隊成員，在此項年度賽事中支持參賽的四支球隊。亦特別感謝希
慎興業及香港足球會一直以來支持這項重要賽事。

小 型 欖 球 
球 員 庫 及 年 齡 組 別 ： 
小型欖球世界挑戰盃為2024-25賽季拉開帷幕，超過350名U11及
U12的男、女子球員代表12支欖球世界盃參賽國家球隊，集結在京
士柏球場獻技。

小 型 欖 球 節 、 R i c h a r d  H a w k e s 欖 球
盃 及 林 鄺 蘭 香 欖 球 盃 比 賽 
所有主要欖球節都全面展開，猛虎欖球會、香港大學沙灣欖球會、
華利欖球會Fort和香港足球會舉辦了充滿活力的小型社區活動。此
外，Flying Kukris、大埔、沙田和香港仔也參與了欖球節，為小型
欖球社區提供多元化及引人入勝的賽季活動。

Richard Hawkes欖球盃和林鄺蘭香欖球盃均於2025年1月舉行。
對許多球員而言，這是他們首次體驗競技欖球，能夠見證球員展現
技巧、爭勝心及毅力，實在令人鼓舞。

香 港 國 際 七 人 欖 球 賽 中 的 小 型 欖 球 獻 技
對許多香港國際七人欖球賽的在場人士而言，最令人難忘的
時刻之一是在新落成的啟德體育園歡迎1 ,500名小型欖球球
員與家長們。現場氣氛熱烈，在主隊出場前，Ga l a的名曲
《Freed From Desire》響徹全場，激勵在場觀眾。這些小球員
也參加了國泰/滙豐香港國際七人欖球賽的小型欖球表演賽，在全
新的主場館展示他們的欖球才華，實屬香港七欖中的獨特體驗。

我們衷心感謝所有充滿熱情的家長和義工，他們的投入和支持為香
港七欖賦予獨特個性。
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Tertiary Rugby

Tertiary Rugby plays a vital role in the development of local 
rugby, offering opportunities for young and new players to 
engage with the sport. It provides an essential platform for 
continued participation and serves as an alternative pathway 
into the game. As Hong Kong is the home of Rugby Sevens, 
and with such a thriving product in the tertiary game, the 
interaction between tertiary institutions and local rugby clubs 
continues to be a strategic priority. 

During the 2024-25 season, we saw over 500 players – 
284 boys and 218 girls – from 13 institutions registered for 
the season. This marks a 20% increase in player numbers 
compared to the previous year, demonstrating a thriving and 
vibrant competition. 

HKCR organised a total of four rugby tournaments and 
competitions for tertiary teams during the season, involving 56 
teams:

1.	 	Tertiary Rugby Invitations Sevens Tournament 2024-25: 9 
men's teams

2.	 USFHK Rugby Sevens Competition 2024-25: 11 men's 
teams and 9 women's teams

3.	 	Tertiary Rugby Sevens Tournament (XRugby) 2025: 9 
men's teams and 7 women's teams

4.	 Tertiary Touch Championships 2025: 5 men's teams, 6 
women's teams, and 6 mixed teams

Among these events, a standout of the entire rugby calendar 
was the test event for Kai Tak Stadium, where USFHK ran a 
rugby sevens competition attended by 10,000 fans. It was 
a day enjoyed by all with rapturous feedback around the 
quality of rugby on display. The XRugby Sevens and the Touch 
Championships also provided valuable opportunities for 
new players from various institutions to gain experience and 
showcase their developing rugby skills.

PROMOTING THE GAME
推 廣 欖 球 運 動

Tertiary Rugby Invitations Sevens Tournament Boys 

USFHK Rugby Sevens Competition

Tertiary Touch Championships

大專七人欖球邀請賽 - 男子組

香港大專體育協會七人欖球賽

大專非撞式欖球錦標賽

Cup

Plate

Bowl

Harbin Engineering University

Southwest Petroleum University 

Lingnan University

銀盃

銀碟

銀碗

Cup

Plate

Bowl

第一名

第二名

第三名

Cup

Plate

Bowl

第一名

第二名

第三名

哈爾濱工程大學

西南石油大學

嶺南大學

Boys 

Hong Kong Baptist University

City University Hong Kong 

Hong Kong University

男子組

香港浸會大學

香港城市大學

香港大學

Boys 

The Education University of Hong Kong

City University Hong Kong

Hong Kong Baptist University

男子組

香港教育大學

香港城市大學

香港浸會大學

Girls 

City University Hong Kong

The Education University of Hong Kong

Hong Kong Baptist University

女子組

香港城市大學

香港教育大學

香港浸會大學

Girls 

The Education University of Hong Kong 

City University Hong Kong 

Vocational Training Council

女子組

香港教育大學

香港城市大學

職業訓練局

Mixed 

Hong Kong University 

South China Agricultural University

Vocational Training Council

混合組

香港大學

華南農業大學

職業訓練局

School Rugby

School rugby remains a fundamental element in the growth and foundation of rugby in Hong Kong. International schools continue to 
compete in the 7s and 10s formats, while local schools play 7s in their secondary school competitions.

Hong Kong School Rugby Union

Participation increased across all age groups, with significant efforts made to strengthen the Boys A, Girls B and Girls C grades in both 
7s and 10s formats. Congratulations to Kellett School, Singapore International School and West Island School for their victories at A, B, 
and C grades and in the 2024 Bill Williams 7s for boys and girls.

Game Format
賽制

A Grade Boys – 10s

A Grade Girls – 7s

男子甲組 – 10人賽制

女子甲組 – 七人賽制

BGrade Boys – 10s

B Grade Girls – 7/10s

男子乙組 – 10人賽制

女子乙組 – 七人或10人賽制

A Grade Boys – 10s

A Grade Girls – 7s

男子丙組– 10人賽制

女子丙組 – 七人賽制

Winners: Kellett School

Winners: Singapore International School

Winners: Kellett School

Winners: West Island School

Winners: Kellett School

Winners: West Island School

優勝：啟歷學校

優勝：新加坡國際學校

優勝：啟歷學校

優勝：西島中學

優勝：啟歷學校

優勝：西島中學
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Rugby at Local Schools

Through the support of LCSD and the Hong Kong Jockey 
Club, a total of 144 schools had rugby programmes during the 
2024/25 season. HKCR continues to focus on promoting rugby 
at local schools for better engagement with the sport. 

Secondary Schools

With the support of the Jockey Club All About Rugby – 
Rugby Spirit Project, HKCR maintained engagement with 
secondary schools. For the 2024-25 season, 49 schools and 
59 teams continued their rugby programmes, a drop in 
the number of schools participating but an increase in the 
number of teams. 

The Hong Kong Schools Sports Federation

HKSSF recognises Rugby Sevens as the sport for the Federation. 
A Grade and B Grade Boys played 7s with a full pitch, while C 
grades played Try Rugby (a non-contact format of the game). A 
total of 102 teams – up from 83 last season – with 73 boys and 
29 girls teams, signed up for HKSSF competitions. 

HKSSF 7s Competition (Teams) 

HKSSF Competition 

香港學界體育聯會七人欖球賽（隊伍）

香港學界體育聯會七人欖球賽

A Grade Winners: Buddhist Fat Ho Memorial College

男子甲組優勝隊伍：佛教筏可紀念中學

Senior Grade Girls Winners: YMCA of Hong Kong Christian College

女子高年級組優勝隊伍：港青基信書院

B Grade Winners: YMCA of Hong Kong Christian College

男子乙組優勝隊伍：港青基信書院

Junior Grade Girls Winners: Diocesan Girls' School

女子低年級組優勝隊伍：拔萃女書院

C Grade Winners: Diocesan Boys' School

男子丙組優勝隊伍：拔萃男書院

Primary School Touch

The Jockey Club All About Rugby – Rugby Spirit project 
garnered strong interest once again in 2024-25, with 50 
teams taking part. 

Touch Rugby, recognised as the official code by the Hong 
Kong School Sports Federation (HKSSF), saw enthusiastic 
participation from 114 primary schools across Hong Kong 
during the season, up by 15 from last season. Congratulations 
to PLK Siu Hon Sum Primary School for their triumphant 
performances as winners of the HKSSF competition in both 
girls and boys competitions.

HSBC Primary School Touch Tournament 

The annual HSBC tournament returned, with over 
440 students from 44 primary schools taking part. 
Congratulations to the following schools for their success in 
winning each category.

Hysan District Primary School Touch Rugby Series

In 2024/25, the Hysan District Primary School Touch Rugby 
Series provided a valuable platform for schools to build 
their teams in preparation for the HKSSF competition. In the 
2024-2025 season, participation slightly increased to 1,263 
students from 40 schools, including 21 new schools, with 34 
boys' teams and 28 girls' teams. 

Edrington Touch Rugby Academy

The Edrington Touch Rugby Academy is a district-based 
programme that ran from November 2024 to July 2025. 
The programme’s aim was to engage underprivileged 
communities, and in its inaugural year it successfully 
reached a total of 120 primary school students from six local 
schools. These schools collaborated with local mini clubs to 
complete a Touch Rugby competition during Hong Kong’s 
famous Mini Festivals. 

Cathay’s Po Leung Kuk Tackling Life Programme

The Po Leung Kuk programme has been supported by Cathay 
for over 10 years, providing rugby trials during P.E. lessons 
and school team training during extracurricular activities. It 
starts with a fun day and concludes with a tournament for 
all PLK primary schools. The programme has reached 3,342 
students across Primary 4 and Primary 5 – with a total of 23 
PLK primary schools participating. 

EACT Jockey Club Active School
For the 2024-2025 season, the this Jockey Club programme 
provided rugby trials to 17 schools, which is an increase of 
five schools compared to the 2023-2024 season. 

District Fun Days
In 2025, four District Fun Days were added to the calendar. 
In February, the Yuen Long District Rugby Fun Day took 
place; April saw the 68th Festival of Sport; in June we took 
part in the 2025 Prize Presentation Ceremony cum Carnival; 
and in July, we participated in a Fun Day in Celebration of 
the 28th Anniversary of the HKSAR.

HSBC Primary Touch Tournament
滙豐小學非撞式欖球錦標賽

Senior

高年級組

Junior

低年級組

Overall Winning School

總冠軍學校

Boys Winners: PLK Siu Hon Sum Primary School

男子組優勝隊伍：保良局蕭漢森小學

Boys Winners:  

Queen Elizabeth School Old Students' Association Primary School

男子組優勝隊伍：伊利沙伯中學舊生會小學

Boys Winners:  

Queen Elizabeth School Old Students' Association Primary School

男子組優勝隊伍：伊利沙伯中學舊生會小學

Girls Winners: PLK Siu Hon Sum Primary School

女子組優勝隊伍：保良局蕭漢森小學

Girls Winners:  

Queen Elizabeth School Old Students' Association Primary School

女子組優勝隊伍：伊利沙伯中學舊生會小學

Girls Winners:  

Queen Elizabeth School Old Students' Association Primary School

女子組優勝隊伍：伊利沙伯中學舊生會小學

With the support of the Hong Kong Jockey Club, the Jockey Club Bill Williams International School 7s returned during the Cathy/
HSBC Hong Kong Sevens in March 2025, where a total of twelve teams participated.

Aligning school and club rugby remains a key focus for future success, as collaboration benefits both organisations through a 
well-balanced youth playing schedule that helps build the sport’s base within the community.

We would like to take this opportunity to thank Gavin Boak for his ongoing dedication and leadership over the past few years and 
are delighted that we will remain in post. We would like to take the opportunity to welcome Laura Cowan who steps into the role 
of Vice-Chairperson. 

Division Winners
分區優勝者

Boys: Kellett school Girls: Singapore International School
男子：啟歷學校 女子：新加坡國際學校

Bill Williams 7s
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大 專 欖 球 

大專欖球對發展本地球會、以及為年輕和新球員提供參賽機會發揮著至
關重要的角色。這個平台讓參加者持續參與欖球運動，並提供另一條途
徑讓他們投身這項運動。香港作為七欖之家，加上大專欖球賽事發展蓬
勃，因此大專院校與本地球會之間的互動將繼續是本會的策略性重點。

在2024/25球季，共有來自13所院校、逾500名球員 (284名男子及218
名女子球員) 報名參加了本球季的比賽。球員人數較去年增加了20%，
標誌著賽事正處於蓬勃發展階段。

在本球季，中國香港欖球總會共為大專院校球隊舉辦了四項欖球錦標賽
及比賽，共有56支隊伍參加：

1.	 2024/25年度大專七人欖球邀請賽：共有9支男子隊

2.	 2024/25年度香港大專體育協會 ─ 七人欖球賽：共有11支男子隊
及9支女子隊

3.	 2025年度大專七人欖球賽 (XRugby)：共有9支男子隊及7支女子隊

4.	 2025年度大專非撞式欖球錦標賽：共有5支男子隊、6支女子隊及6
支混合隊

整個欖球賽季的一大亮點，莫過於在啟德體育園舉行的測試賽。香港大
專體育協會舉辦了一場七人欖球賽，吸引了10,000名球迷入場觀戰，所
有人都樂在其中，對比賽的質素讚不絕口。大專七人欖球賽 (XRugby) 及
大專非撞式欖球比賽則為院校的新晉球員提供了寶貴的上陣機會，讓他
們汲取比賽經驗，以及展示日益成熟的欖球技術。

校 際 欖 球 

校際欖球在推廣欖球發展及奠定基礎層面上，仍扮演著重要角色。國際
學校之間繼續以七人及10人賽制作賽，而本地學校則在中學比賽中採取
七人賽制。

港 校 橄 欖 球 聯 盟

所有年齡組別的參與人數均有所增加，我們尤其致力強化了男子甲組、
女子乙組及女子丙組的七人及10人欖球比賽。恭喜啟歷學校、新加坡國
際學校及西島中學分別在甲、乙、丙組別比賽以及2024年Bill Williams
學界七人賽中奪得男子組及女子組冠軍。

在香港賽馬會的支持下，賽馬會Bill Williams國際學校七人欖球賽於2025
年3月在國泰航空/滙豐香港國際七人欖球賽期間再次舉行，共有12支球隊
參賽。

協調校際賽事與球會賽事將繼續是未來成功的關鍵。為青少年球員訂立
平衡學校及球會的賽程，有利雙方幫助社區建立比賽基礎。

我們謹此感謝Gavin Boak在過去幾年間的持續投入和領導，很高興他將
留任。我們亦熱烈歡迎Laura Cowan出任副主席一職。
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在 本 地 學 校 推 廣 欖 球 運 動

在康樂及文化事務署及香港賽馬會的支持下，共有144所學校在
2024/25球季開展欖球項目。本會繼續致力在本地學校推廣欖球運動，
進一步提升參與度。

中 學

在『賽馬會欖球齊起動計劃 — 一「欖」雄心』的支持下，欖總繼續與中
學保持合作。在2024/25賽季，49所學校及59支學校球隊繼續開展欖球
項目。儘管參與學校的數目有所下降，但球隊數量仍有增加。

中 國 香 港 學 界 體 育 聯 會

香港學界體育聯會認可七人欖球為聯會的運動項目。甲組及乙組男子隊
伍採用使用全個場地的七人賽制，而丙組則進行Try Rugby — 一種非撞
式比賽形式。本季共有102支球隊參加香港學界體育聯會的比賽，比上
個球季的83支有所增加，其中包括73支男子隊及29支女子隊。

小 學 非 撞 式 欖 球 
『賽馬會欖球齊起動計劃 – 一「欖」雄心』在2024/25球季再次受到熱
烈歡迎，共有50支球隊參加。

「非撞式欖球」被香港學界體育聯會認可為官方比賽項目，本球季共有
114所小學踴躍參與，較上季增加15所。恭喜保良局蕭漢森小學在香港
學界體育聯會男、女子組比賽中均取得勝利。

滙 豐 小 學 非 撞 式 欖 球 錦 標 賽

一年一度的滙豐錦標賽再度舉行，來自44所小學逾440名學生參加。恭
喜以下學校勝出各組別。（請參閱第47頁）

希 慎 地 區 小 學 非 撞 式 欖 球 系 列 賽 

希慎地區小學非撞式欖球系列賽為本地小學提供一個寶貴平台，讓學
校組建隊伍，參加中國香港學界體育聯會舉辦的比賽。在2024-2025
賽季，參與比賽人數略有增加，來自40間學校、共1,263名學生參加比
賽，當中包括21間新學校，組成共34支男子隊和28支女子隊。

愛 丁 頓 非 撞 式 欖 球 學 院

愛丁頓非撞式欖球學院是一個於2024年11月至2025年7月期間推行的地
區性計劃。該計劃旨於讓弱勢社群參與其中，在計劃首年成功吸引來自
六間本地小學的120名小學生參與。這些學校與本地小型欖球會合作，
在本地著名的小型欖球節期間參加非撞式欖球賽。

國 泰 保 良 局 挑 戰 。 欖 。 求 計 劃

此計劃已獲國泰支持超過十年，在體育課期間提供欖球體驗活動，並在
課外活動中進行校隊訓練。計劃以一個趣味體驗日開始，以參與計劃的
保良局小學參賽的錦標賽作結。該計劃已覆蓋小四及小五共3,342名學
生，共有23間保良局小學參與。

精 英 運 動 員 慈 善 基 金 賽 馬 會 動 感 校 園 計 劃

在2024/2025賽季，精英運動員慈善基金賽馬會動感校園計劃為17間學
校提供欖球體驗活動，較2023/2024賽季增加5間學校。

地 區 同 樂 日

2025年新增四個地區同樂日。2月舉行了元朗區欖球同樂日；4月則參
加了第68屆體育節；在6月，我們參加了2025年頒獎典禮暨嘉年華；在
7月則參與慶祝香港特別行政區成立28周年同樂日。
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A New Era of Growth and Global Achievement

The 2024-25 season marked a milestone year for Hong Kong 
China Touch (HKCT), building on our rebranded identity to 
further solidify touch rugby’s role in Hong Kong’s sporting 
landscape. With a 15% increase in registered players 
(exceeding 2,100 athletes), our community continues 
to thrive through expanded domestic leagues, youth 
development, and historic international achievements.

Touch World Cup 2024: Hong Kong China’s Global 
Showcase

In July 2024, HKCT led its largest-ever delegation to the 
Touch World Cup in Nottingham, UK, fielding teams across 
six categories (Men's Open, Women's Open, Men's 30s, 
Men's 40s, Women's 27s and Mixed 30s). Over 100 players, 
coaches, referees, and staff represented Hong Kong China, 
delivering standout performances that highlighted our 
competitive growth on the world stage. This landmark 
event, our first full-capacity World Cup since the pandemic, 
showcased the resilience and talent of Hong Kong’s touch 
community. Special recognition goes to Alex Tsang for his 
pivotal role in coordinating the pre-tournament training 
camp in Singapore, which sharpened our squads for success.

Leadership Transition: Gratitude and New Vision

We extend profound thanks to the outgoing Executive 
Committee, led by Dr. Diana Li, whose visionary leadership 
steered HKCT through its rebranding and record growth. 
Alex Tsang and Eric Li were instrumental in expanding 
our club network and international pathways, leaving an 
indelible legacy.

We proudly welcome the 2024-26 Executive Committee:
•	 Chairman: Rocky Chow
•	 New Members: Gary Chow, Rod Lai, Laurent Villemeur, 

Joseph Szeto

This dynamic team brings diverse expertise to drive 
grassroots development, high-performance programmes, 
and Asia-Pacific partnerships.

Domestic Leagues: Expanding Reach and Competition

HKCT organised three premier leagues in 2024-25, featuring 
65+ teams across multiple divisions:
1.	 Summer Touch Leagues (May–August 2024):

	ο 70 teams competed in Premiership, Championship, 
and Community tiers

	ο 	Introduced a new "Elite Division" to bridge local 
and international standards

2.	 Youth Summer Leagues:
	ο 	300+ junior athletes (U16/U19 Boys, Girls) from 22 

schools/clubs
	ο 	Focused on skill development and school outreach

3.	 Winter Touch League (October 2024–February 2025):
	ο 	45 mixed-gender teams emphasised inclusivity and 

year-round engagement

International Success: ITC 2025 and Beyond
 
The Hong Kong International Touch Championship (March 
2025) attracted 40+ elite teams from Hong Kong, China, 
Singapore, Chinese Taipei, Malaysia and Japan, held at the 
start of the iconic Hong Kong Sevens Week. Building on this 
momentum, HKCT has initiated preparations for:
•	 2026 Asia Pacific Touch Championship (Australia and 

Japan)
•	 Seeking opportunity to host the 2027 Asia Cup in Hong 

Kong
•	 2030 Touch World Cup in New Zealand (Talent 

Identification Programmes have launched)

HONG KONG CHINA TOUCH
中 國 香 港 非 撞 式 欖 球 總 會

Results of the Summer Premiership and Championship Leagues (Season 2024-25)
夏季超級聯賽及冠軍聯賽賽果 (2024-25賽季)

Grand Championship League 

Winner: Buccaneer

1st Runner-up: Zion

2nd Runner-up: Neo Touch

3rd Runner-up: T8

Premiership League

Winner: Buccaneer

1st Runner-up: Zion

2nd Runner-up: Neo Touch 

3rd Runner-up: T8

5th: Pillar Sports Phoenix Touch

6th: Raven Touch Football

7th: Thunder

8th: Galaxy Touch Hong Kong

男子超級聯賽

冠軍：Buccaneer

亞軍：Zion

季軍：Neo Touch 

第四名：T8

第五名：Pillar Sports Phoenix Touch

第六名：Raven Touch Football

第七名：Thunder

第八名：Galaxy Touch Hong Kong

季後總決賽

冠軍：Buccaneer 

亞軍：Zion

季軍：Neo Touch 

第四名：T8

Grand Championship League 

Winner: Buccaneer 

1st Runner-up: Raven Touch Football

2nd Runner-up: Neo Touch

3rd Runner-up: T8

Premiership League

Winner: T8

1st Runner-up: Raven Touch Football

2nd Runner-up: Neo Touch

3rd Runner-up: Buccaneer

5th: Pillar Sports Phoenix Touch

6th: Zion

7th: Thunder

8th: Galaxy Touch Hong Kong

女子超級聯賽

冠軍：T8

亞軍：Raven Touch Football

季軍：Neo Touch

第四名：Buccaneer

第五名：Pillar Sports Phoenix Touch

第六名：Zion

第七名：Thunder

第八名：Galaxy Touch Hong Kong

季後總決賽

冠軍：Buccaneer 

亞軍：Raven Touch Football

季軍：Neo Touch 

第四名：T8

Grand Championship League
 
Winner: Rebels

1st Runner-up: HK Scottish Unfolds

2nd Runner-up: Yellow Bull

3rd Runner-up: Bomber

Men's Championship League 
 
Winner: Rebels

1st Runner-up: Bomber
 
2nd Runner-up: HK Scottish Unfolds

3rd Runner-up: Yellow Bull

5th: HuHa

6th: The Wolfpack

男子冠軍聯賽

冠軍：Rebels

亞軍：Bomber 

季軍：香港蘇格蘭人Unfolds

第四名：Yellow Bull

第五名：HuHa

第六名：The Wolfpack

季後總決賽

冠軍：Rebels

亞軍：香港蘇格蘭人Unfolds

季軍：Yellow Bull

第四名：Bomber
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Results of the Community Competitions (Season 2024-25)
社區賽賽果 (2024/25賽季)

Men's Community Competition 

Winner : Chimera

1st Runner-up: Zion Development

2nd Runner-up: Boombayah

3rd Runner-up: Anibull Sun of Grapes

5th: Sheeesh

6th: USRC TIGERS

7th: THT Lion

8th: Tipsy Titans

Mixed Community Competition (Div 1) 

Winner: FASA

1st Runner-up: Yellow Bull ASAHI

2nd Runner-up: Astro

3rd Runner-up: North District Sport Association

5th: Neo Touch Beta

6th: RAA Pacific

7th: Rebels.B.Logan

8th: Ares Mixed

Mixed Community Competition (Div 2)

Winner : Blue Dragons

1st Runner-up: Thunder

2nd Runner-up: Mongoose

3rd Runner-up: Hoisumguo

5th: Tai Hang Tung Touch

6th: Touch the Dolphins

7th: Jardine Sports Association

8th: First Love Infinity Touch

男子社區賽

冠軍：Chimera

亞軍：Zion Development

季軍：Boombayah

第四名：安利寶Sun of Grapes

第五名：Sheeesh

第六名：三軍會猛虎

第七名：大坑東獅子

第八名：Tipsy Titans

Women’s Community Competition

 Winner : Bomber 

1st Runner-up: Rebels   

2nd Runner-up: Karasu 

3rd Runner-up: HK Scottish Folds 

5th: Causeway Bay

6th: Yellow Bull Ladies

7th: Lababy

8th: Valley Ladies

9th: Blahblah247

10th: DS Morning Girls

11th: Zion Development 

12th: Ares Athena

女子社區賽

冠軍：Bomber 

亞軍：Rebels 

季軍：Karasu

第四名：香港蘇格蘭人Folds

第五名：銅鑼灣

第六名：黃牛Ladies

第七名：Lababy

第八名：華利Ladies

第九名：Blahblah247

第十名：DS Morning Girls

第十一名：Zion Development 

第十二名：Ares Athena

混合社區賽 (第一級別) 

冠軍：FASA

亞軍：Yellow Bull ASAHI

季軍：Astro

第四名：北區體育會

第五名：Neo Touch Beta

第六名：RAA Pacific

第七名：Rebels.B.Logan

第八名：Ares Mixed

男女混合社區聯賽 (第二級別)

 

冠軍：Blue Dragons

亞軍：Thunder

季軍：Mongoose

第四名：開心果

第五名：大坑東非撞式欖球隊

第六名：Touch the Dolphins

第七名：怡和體育會

第八名：First Love Infinity Touch

Results of Youth Summer Touch League (2024-25)
青少年非撞式欖球夏季聯賽賽果 (2024/25 賽季)

U16 Boy’s League 

Winner : Concordia Lutheran School

1st Runner-up: Man Kwan Pak Kau College

2nd Runner-up: Sunshine Touch

Grand Championship  

Winner : Concordia Lutheran School

1st Runner-up: Man Kwan Pak Kau College

2nd Runner-up: Sunshine Touch

U16男子聯賽

冠軍：路德會協同中學

亞軍：萬鈞伯裘書院

季軍：Sunshine Touch

季後總決賽

冠軍：路德會協同中學

亞軍：萬鈞伯裘書院

季軍：Sunshine Touch

U19 Boy’s League 

Winner : Raven Touch Football

1st Runner-up: Buccaneer

2nd Runner-up: Junior Ares Boys

3rd Runner-up: Blue Dragons

5th: HKUGA College

6th: CSWCSS

7th: Junior Ares Girls

8th: Yactive

Grand Championship  

Winner : Buccaneers

1st Runner-up: Raven Touch Football

2nd Runner-up: Junior Ares Boys

3rd Runner-up: Blue Dragons

U19男子聯賽

冠軍：Raven Touch Football

亞軍：Buccaneer

季軍：Junior Ares Boys

第四名：Blue Dragons

第五名：港大同學會書院

第六名：長沙灣天主教英文中學

第七名：Junior Ares Girls

第八名：蔥動全人教育基金會

季後總決賽

冠軍：Buccaneers

亞軍：Raven Touch Football

季軍：Junior Ares Boys

第四名：Blue Dragons
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Results of the Touch Winter League 2024-25 (Mixed Only)
非撞式欖球冬季聯賽 (2024-25 賽季賽果) (混合組)

Premiership League 

Winner: Buccaneer

1st Runner-up: Neo Touch

2nd Runner-up: Raven Touch Football

3rd Runner-up: Zion 

5th: Rebels

6th: HKT8 Orange

7th: Pillar Sports Phoenix Touch 

8th: Pillar Sports Phoenix Griffins 

超級聯賽

冠軍：Buccaneer

亞軍：Neo Touch

季軍：Raven Touch Football

第四名：Zion 

第五名：Rebels

第六名：HKT8 Orange

第七名：Pillar Sports Phoenix Touch 

第八名：Pillar Sports Phoenix Griffins 

Grand Championship 

Winner: Buccaneer 

1st Runner-up: Neo Touch

2nd Runner-up: Raven Touch Football

3rd Runner-up: Zion 

季後總決賽

冠軍：Buccaneer 

亞軍：Neo Touch

季軍：Raven Touch Football

第四名：Zion

Championship League

Winner: Neo Touch Beta 

1st Runner-up: Zion Development 

2nd Runner-up: Galaxy Touch Hong Kong Sirius

3rd Runner-up: HKT8 Black

5th: Thunder

Grand Championship Final 

Winner: Neo Touch Beta 

1st Runner-up: Zion Development 

2nd Runner-up: 

Galaxy Touch Hong Kong Sirius

3rd Runner-up: HKT8 Black

季後總決賽

冠軍：Neo Touch Beta

亞軍：Zion Development 

季軍：Galaxy Touch Hong Kong Sirius

第四名：HKT8 Black

Community Competition (Div 1) 

Winner: Chimera 

1st Runner-up: North District Sports Association

2nd Runner-up: Flamingo Touch

3rd Runner-up: CSD Rugby

5th: Padel+

6th: Neo Touch Alpha

7th: Ares

8th: RAA Pacific

社區聯賽 (第一級別)

冠軍：Chimera 

亞軍：North District Sports Association

季軍：Flamingo Touch

第四名：CSD Rugby

第五名：Padel+

第六名：Neo Touch Alpha

第七名：Ares

第八名：RAA Pacific

Community Competition (Div 2)  

Winner: HuHa

1st Runner-up: HK Scottish Cat Army

2nd Runner-up: Tai Hang Tung Touch

3rd Runner-up: RAA Asia

5th: Astro

6th: Blue Dragons

7th: Touch the Dolphins

8th: Bamboo Warriors

社區聯賽 (第二級別)

冠軍：HuHa

亞軍：香港蘇格蘭人Cat Army

季軍：大坑東非撞式欖球隊

第四名：RAA Asia

第五名：Astro

第六名：Blue Dragons

第七名：Touch the Dolphins

第八名：Bamboo Warriors

Community Competition (Div 3)  

Winner: Rebels.B.Logan

1st Runner-up: Galaxy Touch HK Betelgeuse

2nd Runner-up: Anibull Sun of Grapes

3rd Runner-up: ICHK Egrets

5th: HK Scottish Kitten

6th: Jardine Sports Association 

7th: HS8  

8th: RFG Deaf Rugby Team 

社區聯賽 (第三級別)

冠軍：Rebels.B.Logan

亞軍：Galaxy Touch HK Betelgeuse

季軍：安利寶Sun of Grapes

第四名：沙頭角國際學校Egrets

第五名：香港蘇格蘭人Kitten

第六名：怡和體育會 

第七名：HS8  

第八名：欖球成長基金聾人欖球隊

Tough Referee Development: Building Asia’s Officiating Hub

To support the leagues and competitions, Hong Kong China 
Touch has continued to conduct FIT Introductory Referee 
courses throughout the year. This helps to grow the number 
of qualified touch referees in the community with 25 new 
referees certified in the past year. 

Additionally, during the Hong Kong International Touch 
Championship 2024, we invited a FIT referee coach to 
conduct the FIT Introductory Referee Course. Fourteen/
Eighteen referees successfully completed the course and 
upgraded to become Intermediate Referees.

Furthermore, we plan to regularly run the FIT Intermediate 
Referee Course every year during the Hong Kong 
International Touch Championship/Summer Touch League 
(Premiership League). This provides an opportunity for local 
referees to continue their growth and become Intermediate 
Referees, as well as welcoming overseas referees to upgrade 
their referee level and contribute to making Hong Kong a 
touch referee development hub in Asia.

Looking Ahead

The 2024-25 season exemplified HKCT’s commitment to 
excellence – from Nottingham’s global stage to thriving local 
leagues. With a new Executive Committee and strategic 
focus on Asia-Pacific events, we invite all stakeholders to join 
our journey toward the 2026-28 international cycle.

冠軍聯賽

冠軍：Neo Touch Beta

亞軍：Zion Development 

季軍：Galaxy Touch Hong Kong Sirius

第四名：HKT8 Black

第五名：Thunder
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成 長 與 國 際 佳 績 的 新 時 代
2024-25賽季標誌著中國香港非撞式欖球總會的一個里程碑，自
重塑品牌以來，我們進一步鞏固了非撞式欖球在香港運動界的地
位。註冊球員增長15%，運動員人數超過2,100名。透過擴大本地
聯賽、青訓項目，並締造歷史性的國際佳績，我們的社群日益壯
大。

非 撞 式 欖 球 世 界 盃 2 0 2 4 ： 向 全 球 展 示 香 港
欖 球 實 力
2024年7月，中國香港非撞式欖球總會率領有史以來最龐大的代
表團前往英國諾丁漢參加非撞式欖球世界盃，在六個組別 (男子公
開組、女子公開組、男子30歲以上組別、男子40歲或以上組別、
女子27歲或以上組別及混合30歲以上組別) 派出隊伍參賽。超過
100名球員、教練、球證及工作人員代表中國香港展現出色的表
現，在國際舞台上彰顯我們的競爭力。這項具標誌性意義的賽事
是我們自疫情以來首次全員參與的世界盃，展示出香港非撞式欖
球社群的韌性和實力。特別鳴謝Alex Tsang 統籌新加坡的賽前訓
練營，為我們隊伍的成功奠定基礎。

領 導 層 交 接 ： 致 謝 與 新 願 景
我們向即將卸任、由李怡苑博士領導的執行委員會致以深摯謝
意，她的遠見及領導帶領中國香港非撞式欖球總會完成了品牌重
塑，並創下增長紀錄。Alex Tsang和Eric Li在開拓球會網絡及國
際發展路徑方面作出了重大貢獻，為組織締造深遠的影響。

我們熱烈歡迎2024-26年度執行委員會：

	• 主席：周思豪

	• 新委員：周志清、黎志豪、Laurent Villemeur、司徒穎聰

這支充滿活力的團隊具備多元化的專業知識，將致力推動基層發
展、高水平項目以及亞太地區的合作夥伴關係。

本 地 聯 賽 ： 擴 大 覆 蓋 範 圍 及 提 升 競 爭
中國香港非撞式欖球總會於2024-25賽季主辦了三個超級聯賽，超過
65支隊伍參與多個組別賽事：

1. 夏季非撞式欖球聯賽 (2024年5月至8月)： 

	ο 70支隊伍在超級聯賽、冠軍聯賽及社區賽中競逐

	ο 新增「精英級別」，以銜接本地與國際標準

2. 青少年夏季聯賽：

	ο 來自22所學校/球會，超過300名青年運動員 (U16/U19男子組、
女子組) 。

	ο 著重技巧發展及學校推廣

3. 冬季非撞式欖球聯賽 (2024年10月至2025年2月) ：

	ο 45支男女混合隊伍，強調共融及全年參與

國 際 成 就 ： I T C  2 0 2 5  及 未 來 
香港國際非撞式欖球錦標賽 (2025年3月) 於香港國際七人欖球賽的初
段舉行，吸引了來自本港、中國內地、新加坡、中華台北、馬來西亞
及日本的40多支精英球隊參與。憑藉這股勢頭，中國香港非撞式欖球
總會正積極籌備以下工作：

	• 2026年亞太區非撞式欖球錦標賽 (澳洲和日本)

	• 爭取在港舉辦 2027年亞洲盃

	• 2030年非撞式欖球世界盃 (新西蘭)：已啟動人才甄選計劃

球 證 發 展 ： 建 立 亞 洲 裁 判 中 心
為支持聯賽及比賽，中國香港非撞式欖球總會繼續於全年舉辦國
際非撞式欖球聯盟(FIT)球證基礎課程，有助增加欖球社區中合
資格非撞式欖球球證的數目。過去一年，共有25名新球證獲得	
認證。

此外，在香港國際非撞式欖球錦標賽2024期間，我們邀請了一
位FIT球證教練教授FIT球證基礎課程。14/18名球證順利完成課
程，晉升為中級球證。

此外，我們計劃每年在香港國際非撞式欖球錦標賽或非撞式欖球
夏季聯賽(超級聯賽)期間定期舉辦FIT中級球證課程。此安排為本
地球證提供了一個持續成長，並成為中級球證的機會，同時亦歡
迎海外球證到來提升他們的裁判水平，為香港成為亞洲非撞式欖
球裁判發展中心，作出貢獻。

展 望 未 來
從諾丁漢的國際舞台到蓬勃發展的本地聯賽，2024/25賽季充分
展現了中國香港非撞式欖球總會對追求卓越的決心。憑藉新一屆
執行委員會的成立，以及聚焦亞太區賽事的策略重點，我們誠邀
所有持份者一同攜手邁進2026-28年度的國際週期。



COMMUNITY & PARTICIPATION - 社區及參與 COMMUNITY & PARTICIPATION - 社區及參與

6160 中國香港欖球總會二零二四至二零二五年年度報告HKCR ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

RUGBY FOR GOOD SUMMARY
橄 欖 成 長 基 金 報 告

Transforming Lives Through the Power of 
Rugby

As Rugby For Good (RFG) enters its second decade, we 
reaffirm our commitment to leveraging rugby as a catalyst for 
social change. This year marked a milestone in our evolution 
– refining our programmes to deepen impact across Hong 
Kong’s diverse communities. Our mission remains steadfast: 
to level the playing field through rugby’s unique values of 
teamwork, respect, and resilience.

A Decade of Impact, A Future of Possibility

Celebrating 10 years since our founding as the Hong Kong 
Rugby Union Community Foundation, RFG has:
•	 Expanded Reach: Delivered 16 active programmes 

across all 18 districts, partnering with 200+ schools and 
reaching 32,000+ beneficiaries annually

•	 Brand Evolution: Launched our refreshed identity as 
Rugby For Good, symbolised by a new logo where 
two rugby balls form a heart – embodying our ethos of 
connection and inclusion

•	 Strategic Focus: Consolidated initiatives under two 
pillars:

	ο 	Wellbeing: Using rugby to destigmatise mental 
health and build support networks

	ο Social Inclusion: Empowering marginalised youth 
through play-based learning and community 
integration

Highlights of the Year:
•	 Memorandum of Understanding with HKCR

	ο 	Strengthened collaboration to scale grassroots 
impact, combining RFG’s community expertise with 
HKCR’s leadership. Key initiatives include:
1.	 	Expanding coach development pipelines
2.	 	Ensuring major rugby events (e.g., Cathay/

HSBC Hong Kong Sevens) are accessible to 
underserved groups

•	 Programmatic Innovations
	ο Tackling Language: Partnered with Kadoorie 

Foundation to integrate rugby with language 
learning for 3,500+ non-Chinese-speaking students

	ο ADHD Support: Collaborated with Education 
University to enhance social-emotional skills for 
neurodiverse youth and families

	ο Domestic Helpers League: Promoted mental health 
awareness among migrant workers through rugby

•	 	Community Engagement
	ο Jockey Club Sevens Community Initiative: 

Distributed 4,500 free tickets to underrepresented 
groups, fostering elite sports participation

	ο Move For Good Challenge: Mobilised corporate 
teams to raise HK$100,000 for inclusive sports 
programmes

Looking Ahead

As we build on our first decade, RFG remains dedicated to:
•	 Deepening Inclusivity: Expanding programmes for 

ethnic minorities, SEN youth, and women
•	 Measuring Impact: Enhancing data-driven frameworks 

to track wellbeing and social outcomes
•	 Strengthening Partnerships: Aligning with HKCR and 

corporate allies to amplify rugby’s role in social progress

32,000+ 150

200+ 38%

By the Numbers
數據一覽

Beneficiaries Reached Coaches Trained

Schools Engaged Female Participation

受惠人數 個受訓教練

間參與學校 女性參與率

Gratitude

Our achievements are made possible by the unwavering 
support of donors, volunteers, and partners like HKCR. 
Together, we prove rugby’s greatest legacy lies not in 
trophies, but in transformed futures.

“Rugby For Good will continue championing sport as a 
force for unity – one pass, one try, one life at a time.”
– Rocky Chow, Executive Director
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以 欖 球 力 量 改 變 生 命
隨著橄欖成長基金踏入第二個十年，我們再次堅定承諾，致力以欖
球作為推動社會轉變的催化劑。本年度標誌著我們發展歷程中的重
要里程碑—透過優化項目，進一步加深對香港多元社區的影響。我
們的使命始終如一：藉由欖球運動所體現的團隊合作、尊重和堅毅
不屈精神，為社會提供公平的競爭環境。

十 年 成 果 ， 未 來 無 限 可 能
自我們以「香港欖球總會社區基金」名義成立至今十年，橄欖成長
基金已達成以下目標：

	• 擴大服務範圍：於全港18區推行16個活躍項目，與200多所學
校合作，每年惠及32,000多名服務受眾

	• 品牌轉型：推出全新品牌「橄欖成長基金」，新標誌由兩個欖
球重疊組成心形，象徵連結與共融的核心理念

	• 策略重點：整合服務為兩大支柱

	• 身心健康：透過欖球去除精神健康的污名，建立支援網絡

	• 社會共融：透過遊戲式學習及社區融合，賦權邊緣青年

年 度 重 點 成 果
	• 與中國香港欖球總會簽署合作備忘錄

	ο 鞏固協作，結合橄欖成長基金的社區專業知識及欖總的領導
能力，擴大基層影響力。主要計劃包括：

1.	 拓展教練培訓的發展渠道

2.	 確保弱勢社群能夠參與主要欖球賽事 (例如國泰/滙豐香
港國際七人欖球賽)

	• 項目創新

	ο 「Tackling Language」計劃：與嘉道理基金會合作，
結合欖球運動和語言學習，惠及超過3,500名非華語學生

	ο 專注力不足及過度活躍症支援：與香港教育大學合作，為有
神經多樣性需要的青少年及其家庭提升社交情緒技能

	ο 外籍家庭傭工聯賽：透過欖球運動，提升外籍家庭傭工的精
神健康意識

	• 社區參與

	ο 賽馬會社區七人欖球計劃：向社會上備受忽視的群體派發
4,500張免費門票，鼓勵參與高水平體育活動

	ο Move For Good挑戰：動員企業團隊籌得港幣10萬元，
以支持共融體育計劃

展 望 未 來
在首個十年的基礎上，橄欖成長基金將持續致力於：

	• 深化共融：擴展針對少數族裔、特殊教育需要 (SEN) 青少年及女性
的項目

	• 成效評估：強化以數據為本的評估框架，追蹤受惠者的身心健康及
社會成果

	• 加強夥伴協作：與中國香港欖球總會及企業夥伴深化協作，加強欖
球在社會發展中的角色

鳴 謝
我們的成果有賴各界捐助者、義工以及中國香港欖球總會等合作夥伴的
不懈支持。我們一起證明，欖球最偉大的價值不在於獎盃，而是其改變
未來的能力。

「橄欖成長基金將繼續推動體育成為凝聚社會的力量——每一次傳球，
每一次達陣，改寫一個又一個生命。」

行政總裁

周思豪
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Men’s XVs

Led by Head of Technical Rugby, Andrew Douglas, and 
supported by our CCOs, the season goal for our Men’s 
XVs team was to win the 2025 Asia Rugby Emirates Men’s 
Championship and consequently earn direct qualification for 
the 2027 Men’s Rugby World Cup in Australia. 

To help with the team’s preparation and cohesion, ten full-time 
player contracts were awarded running for the 2025 calendar 
year. Through the 2024/25 season fixtures were played against 
Brazil in November, where a 10-23 loss was followed in the 
second test by a 38-17 win, and then in April and May against 
an ACT Brumbies development team and a Japan XV team. 
Across all fixtures valuable learnings were taken leading the 
squad into the Asia Rugby Championship.

This preparation resulted in resounding wins over the United 
Arab Emirates in Dubai (10-43), Sri Lanka at home at the Kai 
Tak Youth Sports Ground (78-7) and Korea in Incheon (22-70). 
The team achieved a historic first Men’s Rugby World Cup 
qualification, which undoubtedly creates a great opportunity to 
achieve the department’s main strategic objective of creating 
HKCR role models who inspire people to engage in rugby. 

Planning is well under way in player, coaching and staff 
recruitment, as well as the daily training model that is 
appropriate for the uniqueness of Hong Kong, to enable the 
team – currently ranked 23rd in the world – to continue upward 
on its performance trajectory and make an impact at the RWC 
2027 in Australia. 

Women’s XVs

Our Women’s XVs season started with World Rugby’s WXV3 
competition, held in Dubai in September and October 2024. 
The team lost 38-3 to Fiji, beat Madagascar 38-7 and then lost 
to a powerful Netherlands team 33-5, resulting in narrowly 
missing out on qualification for the Women’s Rugby World Cup 
2025 in England. For the Asia Rugby Women’s Championship 
2025, acting Head Coach Lewis Wilson led the team to victory 
against Kazakhstan 29-12 before losing to winners Japan 63-5. 
The team is currently ranked 17th in the world, and with the 
introduction of a new Head Coach to focus on the programme 
and long-term development of players, the excitement is high 
for the team’s future aspirations.

PERFORMANCE AND REPRESENTATIVE RUGBY 
高 水 平 及 代 表 隊 欖 球

7s

Our Men’s 7s team won the Asia Rugby Sevens series held in 
Korea, Hangzhou and Thailand in September to November 
2024, winning all three tournaments and all 15 games. Our 
Women’s 7s team finished 3rd overall, resulting in both teams 
qualifying for HSBC Challenger Series – with the first two legs 
played in Stellenbosch, South Africa, in March 2025. 

Disappointingly, our men finished 11th overall and never 
reached the performance levels of previous years, while our 
women performed well, were competitive throughout, and 
finished 10th overall. 

For our last senior competition this season, both our men’s and 
women’s teams won their Melrose Claymores competitions 
held at Kai Tak Stadium during the Hong Kong leg of the HSBC 
SVNS Series in March 2025. The timings of the games on the 
back of the Challenger Series was excellent, and for our players 
to play a part in this iconic tournament in front of friends and 
family was not only a brilliant experience for them but also an 
opportunity to be seen as role models and inspire the local 
population to engage in rugby. 

Match Officials

HKCR Match Officials have seen a number of successes in 
the 2024/25 season. Notably, Craig Chan (referee) and Matt 
Rodden (TMO) officiated at the Paris Olympic Games in July 
and August 2024. Craig was appointed through the women’s 
tournament, including the bronze medal match, while Matt was 
TMO for all men’s and women’s matches.

Sunny Lee was selected to the Women’s HSBC SVNS Series for 
the first time, and is the first female from Hong Kong to referee 
on the series since 2016. Sunny refereed two series finals out of 
seven tournaments through the 2024/25 season. 

Morgan White refereed the U20 Six Nations from January to 
March 2025, and was subsequently selected for the World 
Rugby U20 World Championships in July 2025. This is a first for 
a referee from Hong Kong. Other international appointments 
include Craig and Morgan (one final) in the HSBC Challenger 
Series and Matt as TMO for the Men’s HSBC SVNS Series, as 
well as five match officials involved in the Asia Rugby Sevens 
Series and seven match officials involved in the Asia Rugby 
Championships.

During the 2024/25 season, we were able to introduce 11 new 
officials to refereeing, mostly through shadowing/mentoring 
from senior referees and management from Patrick Kwok. This 
represents an addition of around 10% to our active referee 
group.

Performance Pathway

Academy Program Overview – Hysan HKCR Academy
The Hysan HKCR Academy currently supports the development 
of 42 U19 athletes, comprising 20 boys and 22 girls. The 
program engaged and utilised the expertise of CCOs and 
WCCOs to deliver a curriculum focused on technical skill 
acquisition. Lane Procter led the physical athletic development 
of all players, catering programmes to their ability and current 
capacity. In parallel, classroom-based sessions were held that 
included leadership, communication styles and mental skills. 

Talent ID Academies
Through our Talent Identification Academies, 53 U19 players 
from the HKSSF (Hong Kong Schools Sports Federation) 
competitions were engaged. Sessions were delivered 
bilingually, enabling broader accessibility and inclusivity. These 
academies not only served as platforms for player identification 
and development but also provided significant upskilling 
opportunities for our coaching workforce – particularly those 
active within the domestic game.

 
Rosslyn Park & UK Engagement – March 2024
As part of our international engagement strategy, top UK 
academic institutions were visited, continuing to build 
relationships with schools that have a history of producing 
high-calibre Hong Kong-eligible talent. This initiative resulted 
in the registration of over 50 new players into the HKQ (Hong 
Kong-Qualified) player database, strengthening our talent 
pipeline and reinforcing our global outreach.

Dragons
In May 2025, the HKCR Dragons Programme was relaunched 
– having originally started in 1990. A 23-player men’s squad 
headed to Singapore for a development match that the team 
lost 37-0. 

The programme focuses on enhancing player development 
and creating pathways from community rugby to high-
performance levels. All participants in the programme are 
18-28 years old and Hong Kong passport holders – ensuring 
a focus on local talent and Hong Kong-qualified players for 
future Asian Games and Olympic Games. 

The relaunch of the programme has been led by Salom Yiu 
Kam Shing (Hong Kong China Men’s 7s record cap holder and 
a double Asian Games Gold Medallist), with Brendan Ireland as 
Head Coach. On the back of the first tour, two players earned 
selection for the Boys Senior Age Grade tour to New Zealand 
that took place in July 2025.
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男 子 1 5 人 欖 球 代 表 隊 
在欖球技術總監Andrew Douglas的帶領及球會教練的支援下，男子十五
人欖球代表隊本季以奪取2025年亞洲男子阿聯酋航空欖球錦標賽冠軍，
並藉此直接晉身2027年澳洲欖球世界盃為目標。

為協助球隊備戰及增強凝聚力，我們與10名球員簽署了全職合約，於整個
2025日曆年有效；並在2024/25賽季中、在11月與巴西隊進行了兩場熱
身賽。港隊首場以10:23落敗，但在第二場以38:17獲勝。於4月至5月期
間，球隊亦與ACT Brumbies發展隊及日本十五人代表隊進行賽事，取得
寶貴經驗，以應付亞洲欖球錦標賽。

上述備戰有助港隊在對陣阿聯酋(10:43)、斯里蘭卡(78:7)及韓國 
(22:70)的比賽中取得壓倒性勝利，歷史性地晉級世界盃。此佳績帶來難
能可貴的機會，讓欖總實現發展策略目標，藉此打造星級球員及球隊，
作為香港模範，以鼓勵大眾參與欖球運動。

我們目前正積極規劃球員、教練和職員的招募工作，以及制定適合香港
獨有環境的日常訓練模式，使球隊表現能夠穩步上升，並在2027年澳洲
欖球世界盃中再創佳績。

女 子 1 5 人 欖 球 代 表 隊
女子十五人欖球代表隊以在杜拜舉行的「女子WXV錦標賽第三級別」
展開賽季，球隊以38:3不敵斐濟，以38:7擊敗馬達加斯加，隨後以33:5
負於實力強勁的荷蘭隊，結果僅以些微差距未能取得2025年英格蘭欖球
世界盃的入場券。在2025年亞洲女子欖球錦標賽中，代理主教練Lewis 
Wilson帶領球隊以29:12戰勝哈薩克，隨後以63:5不敵冠軍日本隊。球
隊目前世界排名第17位，新任主教練將專注於項目和球員的長遠發展，
我們對未來的發展充滿期待。

七 人 欖 球 代 表 隊
男子七人欖球隊在2024年9月至11月期間，以15戰全勝姿態贏得在韓
國、杭州及泰國舉行的亞洲七人欖球系列賽全部3站冠軍，女子隊成績
則排名第3，兩隊均獲得在南非斯泰倫布殊舉行的滙豐挑戰者系列賽資
格。可惜男子隊總成績排名第11，未能達到往年水平。女子隊則表現出
色，在整個賽季中都保持競爭力，總成績排名第10。

在本賽季的最後一項成人組別比賽中，我們的男、女子隊都贏得
Melrose銀劍賽冠軍。該賽事是滙豐SVNS世界七人欖球系列賽（香港
站）賽事的一部分，於2025年3月在全新的啟德主場館舉行。這項比賽
緊接挑戰者系列賽，時機恰到好處。對於我們的球員而言，能夠在親友
面前參與這項標誌性的賽事，不僅是一次難忘經歷，更是一次展現成為
榜樣的力量、以激勵本地民眾參與欖球運動的寶貴機會。

賽 事 球 證
中國香港欖球總會的賽事球證在2024/25賽季取得多項成果。值得一提
的是，陳頌豪 (球證) 和麥菲諾 (視像球證) 在巴黎奧運會中執法。陳頌
豪獲派擔任女子銅牌賽的球證，而麥菲諾則擔任所有男、女子賽事的視
像球證。

李翠恩首次獲選參與滙豐世界SVNS女子七人欖球系列賽，是自2016年
以來首位獲任命的香港女球證。李翠恩在7場錦標賽中負責兩場決賽的執
法。Morgan White在U20六國賽中執法，隨後獲選參與本週開始的U20
世界欖球錦標賽，屬首位入選的香港球證。其他國際任命包括：陳頌豪
和Morgan White在一場挑戰者系列賽決賽中執法，麥菲諾在SVNS世界
男子七人欖球系列賽中擔任視像球證。此外，有5名賽事球證參與亞洲七
人欖球系列賽，7名賽事球證參與亞洲欖球錦標賽。

在2025/25年賽季，透過資深球證的影子/師友計劃，以及郭子健的統
籌，本季成功新增11名球證，令現役球證人數增加了約10%。

高水平欖球發展路徑
學院計劃概覽 — 希慎—欖總青少年欖球學院

希慎—欖總青少年欖球學院目前支持42名U19運動員的發展，其中包括20名
男生和22名女生。計劃運用球會教練及女子球會教練的專業知識，提供以培
訓專業技術為重點的課程。Lane Proter負責運動員的體能發展，根據他們的
能力和現有水平制定訓練內容。同時亦設有課堂教學，內容涵蓋領導能力、
溝通風格及心理技能。

選材學院
53名來自香港學界體育聯會比賽的U19球員參與了我們的選材學院。課程以
雙語形式授課，以擴大參與度和包容性。這些學院不僅有助識別和培訓有潛
質的球員，也為我們的教練團隊 (尤其是活躍於本地比賽的教練) 提供提升技
能的寶貴機會。

2024年3月 — Rosslyn Park及英國交流
作為國際交流策略的一環，我們到訪了英國頂尖學術機構，與歷年來孕育不
少香港傑出人才的學府建立持續的關係。是次交流吸引了超過50名新球員註
冊到香港合資格球員資料庫中，加強了我們的人才儲備，並強化了我們的全
球拓展工作。

「龍隊」計劃
始於1990年的「龍隊」計劃於2025年5月重新啟動，由23名球員
組成的隊伍前往新加坡進行了一場訓練賽，惜以37:0落敗。

該計劃旨在培訓本地欖球人才，並為球員構建從社區欖球到高水平
國際賽事的發展路徑。參加者年齡介乎18至28歲，均是香港護照
持有人，以確保計劃專注培訓本地人才及香港合資格球員，迎戰日
後的亞運會及奧運會。

重啟計劃由姚錦成 (中國香港男子七人欖球隊上陣次數紀錄保持者
及兩屆亞運會金牌得主) 領導，魏溥德擔任主教練。有2名球員獲
選參加欖總男子成人分齡組別代表隊在2025年7月的新西蘭之旅。
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DISCOVERY BAY PIRATES RUGBY FOOTBALL CLUB
愉 景 灣 海 盜 欖 球 會

TEAMS 球 隊 SPONSORS 贊 助

Discovery Bay Pirates RFC 愉景灣海盜欖球會 Figo’s Seaside Cafe
Three Sheets
Cathay Cargo
Coopers

GAI WU RUGBY FOOTBALL CLUB
雞 糊 欖 球 會

TEAMS 球 隊 SPONSORS 贊 助

Gai Wu Blaze
Gai Wu Blossoms
Gai Wu Falcons
Gai Wu Fawkes
Gai Wu Hawks

雞糊欖球會 Blaze 隊

雞糊欖球會 Blossoms 隊

雞糊欖球會 Falcons 隊

雞糊欖球會 Fawkes 隊

雞糊欖球會Hawks 隊

Clement Shield 
Honji 本陣
Sushi Nakamuraya
自然屋 
½ Story Cafe
Asphodel Fitness and Performance 

HKU SANDY BAY RUGBY FOOTBALL CLUB
香 港 大 學 沙 灣 欖 球 會 

TEAMS 球 隊 SPONSORS 贊 助

HKU Sandy Bay 
HKU Sandy Bay Vikings 
HKU Sandy Bay Marauders 
Causeway Sandy Bay

香港大學沙灣欖球隊 

香港大學沙灣欖球會 Vikings 隊 

香港大學沙灣欖球會Marauders 隊 

銅鑼灣沙灣隊

FTI Consulting 
Links moving 
Moore HK 
Wychwood 
School 
Asphodel 

Tsunami  
Blue Girl 
SAN Pellegrino 
Pillar Sports 
Devil's 
Advocate
Hong Kong 
Sports Clinic

CHARITIES 慈 善

Impact HK 
Blue Tie Ball
Phenominally Pink 
Mehkong Club 

HONG KONG CITY RUGBY FOOTBALL CLUB
香 港 城 市 欖 球 會

TEAMS 球 隊 SPONSORS 贊 助

City RC Quakes
City RC Sparkles

城市欖球會Quakes 隊

城市欖球會 Sparkles 隊
Origin Fitness & Martial Arts

HONG KONG DISCIPLINED SERVICES RUGBY CLUB
香 港 紀 律 部 隊 欖 球 會

TEAMS 球 隊 SPONSORS 贊 助

Discipline Services Women’s 香港紀律部隊欖球會 (女子 ) Celsius 
Bengal Brothers
Kelme
Metro Sports physiotherapy

HONG KONG FOOTBALL CLUB
香 港 足 球 會

TEAMS 球 隊 SPONSORS 贊 助

HKFC Natixis Club
HKFC Natixis Dragons
HKFC Natixis Scorpions
HKFC Natixis Select
HKFC Natixis Sequins
HKFC Natixis Bulls
HKFC Natixis Expendables 
HKFC Natixis Ice
HKFC Natixis Fire

香港足球會Natixis隊

香港足球會Natixis Dragons 隊

香港足球會Natixis Scorpions 隊

香港足球會Natixis Select 隊

香港足球會Natixis Bulls 隊

香港足球會Natixis Sequins 隊

香港足球會Natixis Expendables 隊

香港足球會NatixisIce 隊

香港足球會Natixis Fire 隊

Natixis Corporate & Investment 
Banking
AIA
Latham & Watkins
Mourant
Orion
Streamline Sports
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HONG KONG POLICE RUGBY FOOTBALL CLUB
香 港 警 察 欖 球 會

TEAMS 球 隊 SPONSORS 贊 助

Police RFC
Police Sirens 

香港警察欖球隊

香港警察欖球會 Sirens 隊

HONG KONG MINI RUGBY FOOTBALL UNION
香 港 小 型 欖 球 總 會

HONG KONG RUGBY CLUBS YOUTH ASSOCIATION
香 港 青 少 年 欖 球 聯 會

HONG KONG SCHOOLS' RUGBY UNION
港 校 橄 欖 球 聯 盟

HONG KONG SCOTTISH RUGBY FOOTBALL CLUB
香 港 蘇 格 蘭 人 欖 球 會

HONG KONG RUGBY REFEREES SOCIETY
香 港 欖 球 球 證 協 會

TEAMS 球 隊 SPONSORS 贊 助

Tanner De Witt
Clement Shield
St. James's Place
Delaney's the Irish Pub
Healthy Little Foodies
Monet Floral Gallery

HONG KONG WOMEN'S RUGBY
香 港 女 子 欖 球

TEAMS 球 隊 SPONSORS 贊 助

MND HK Scottish
MND HK Scottish Nomads
MND HK Scottish Brave Hearts
MND HK Scottish Claymores
MND HK Scottish Kelpies

MND香港蘇格蘭人欖球會

MND香港蘇格蘭人欖球會Nomads 隊

MND香港蘇格蘭人欖球會 Brave Hearts 隊

MND香港蘇格蘭人欖球會Claymores 隊

MND香港蘇格蘭人欖球會Kelpies 隊

Scan Global 
Logistics 
Apprentice 
Holdings
ScotHong
Examinator 
Online
Milwaukee

Bevvy
Whisky Cask 
Club
Murray and 
Currie Property
RugbyTots
Tsunami

CHARITIES 慈 善

My Name'5 Doddie Foundation
Hong Kong Scottish Foundation
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KOWLOON RUGBY FOOTBALL CLUB
九 龍 欖 球 總 會

TEAMS 球 隊 SPONSORS 贊 助

DLA Piper Kowloon (Prem Men)
DLA Piper Kowloon 2nd
DLA Piper Kowloon Beavers
DLA Piper Kowloon Brothers
DLA Piper Kowloon (Prem Women)
DLA Piper Kowloon 2nd (Women)

DLA Piper 九龍欖球會 (男子超聯 )

DLA Piper 九龍欖球會第二隊

DLA Piper 九龍欖球會 Beavers 隊

DLA Piper 九龍欖球會 Brothers 隊

DLA Piper 九龍欖球會 (女子超聯 )

DLA Piper 九龍欖球會第二隊 (女子 )

DLA Piper
DAC Management LLC
Cardinal Partnership 
DHL
LABB
Rentokil-Initial

REVOLUTION SPORTS RECREATION CLUB
革 命 之 旅 體 育 遊 樂 會 

TEAMS 球 隊 SPONSORS 贊 助

Revolution Men
Revolution Azure

革命男子欖球隊 

革命女子欖球  Azure 隊
Only Mine - Wedding & Event
Football Caddy

SCAA CAUSEWAY BAY RUGBY FOOTBALL CLUB
南 華 會 銅 鑼 灣 欖 球 會

TEAMS 球 隊 SPONSORS 贊 助

Causeway Sandy Bay 
SCAA Causeway Bay Marines
SCAA Causeway Bay Griffins

銅鑼灣沙灣隊

南華會銅鑼灣欖球會Marines 隊

南華會銅鑼灣欖球會Griffins 隊

Atelier Pacific
Watak Contract Limited
Pedestrian Coffee
Carnegies
Streamline Sport
Pillar Sports
Body Solution

RUGBY UNION CLUB
欖 球 會 俱 樂 部

TIN SHUI WAI RUGBY FOOTBALL CLUB
天 水 圍 欖 球 會

TEAMS 球 隊 SPONSORS 贊 助

RB-SRKA Tin Shui Wai Pandas (Men)
RB-SRKA Tin Shui Wai Pandas 2
RB-SRKA Tin Shui Wai RFC 3
RB-SRKA Tin Shui Wai Pandas (Women)

RB-SRK 天水圍熊貓欖球會 (男子 )

RB-SRK 天水圍熊貓欖球會第二隊

RB-SRK 天水圍欖球會第三隊

RB-SRK 天水圍熊貓欖球會 (女子 )

Richards Basmajiam
Simon Reid Kay and Associates
申子居酒屋 Shinko
Zillion

TAIPO DRAGON RUGBY FOOTBALL CLUB
大 埔 龍 欖 球 會

TEAMS 球 隊 SPONSORS 贊 助

FF Fitness Studio Taipo Dragon (Men)
FF Fitness Studio Taipo Dragon 2 (Men) 

Taipo Dragon (Women)

FF Fitness Studio 大埔龍欖球會 (男子 )

FF Fitness Studio 大埔龍欖球會第二隊 
(男子）

大埔龍欖球會 (女子 )

Century Logistics Company 
Limited
Lungo Coffee Roaster
FF Fitness Studio
Locobike
Teamwego
3721 Nutrition
Blue Girl
Novelty Sportswear

TYPHOONS RUGBY FOOTBALL CLUB
颱 風 欖 球 會

TEAMS 球 隊 SPONSORS 贊 助

Typhoons Plan A
Typhoons T3
Typhoons Thunder (Women)

颱風欖球會A計劃隊

颱風欖球會 T3 隊

颱風皰球會 Thunder 隊 (女子 )

Hong Kong Food and Beverage 
Limited (Pier 3)
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TEAMS 球 隊 SPONSORS 贊 助

Societe Generale Valley RFC 
(Premiership Mens)
Societe Generale Valley Knights
Societe Generale Valley Mavericks
Societe Generale Valley Griffins
Societe Generale Valley RFC 
(Premiership Womens)
Societe Generale Valley Red
Societe Generale Valley Gold

法興華利欖球會

 
法興華利欖球會Knights 隊

法興華利欖球會Mavericks 隊

法興華利欖球會Griffins 隊

法興華利欖球隊 (女子 )

 
法興華利欖球會 Red 隊

法興華利欖球會Gold 隊

Societe Generale 
Swire Properties | Taikoo Shing 
Swire Beverages | Bonaqua 
Links Moving 
Happy Valley Bar and Grill
ONLY Beverages
Typhoon Consulting
Charter Junks
T8 First Response
Chatt
Biltong Chief
Nav Limited
Form Athletic
BFT

VALLEY RUGBY FOOTBALL CLUB
華 利 欖 球 會

TEAMS 球 隊 SPONSORS 贊 助

Kroll USRC Tigers (Men)
Kroll USRC Tigers Titans (Men)
Kroll USRC Tigers Vandals (Men)
Kroll USRC Tigers Development (Men)
Kroll USRC Tigers Goutonians (Men)
Kroll USRC Tigers (Women)
Kroll USRC Tigers 2 (Women)

Kroll 三軍會猛虎隊 (男子 )

Kroll 三軍會猛虎欖球會 Titans 隊 (男子 )

Kroll 三軍會猛虎欖球會 Vandals 隊 (男子 )

Kroll 三軍會猛虎發展隊 (男子）

Kroll 三軍會猛虎Goutonians 隊 (男子 )

Kroll 三軍會猛虎隊 (女子 )

Kroll 三軍會猛虎欖球會第二隊 (女子 )

Kroll
Quality Healthcare
Rentokil Initial
Streamline Sports
Tsunami Sport
BFT

USRC TIGERS RUGBY FOOTBALL CLUB
三 軍 會 猛 虎 欖 球 會

UNIVERSITY RUGBY FOOTBALL CLUB 
大 學 欖 球 會

TEAMS 球 隊 SPONSORS 贊 助

University Wizards
University RFC 2
University RFC (Women)

大學欖球會Wizards 隊

大學欖球會第二隊

大學欖球會 (女子 )

RPC
Talking Mental
Third Dimension Diving S.E.A.
Prep Time Architecture
WinJoy Garment
Hong Kong Beer Company
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HONG KONG CHINA MEN’S XVS
中 國 香 港 男 子 1 5 人 代 表 隊

Men XVs South America Tour
男子15人隊南美集訓之旅

6 July 2024, Estadio Fiscal de Talca
2025年7月6日, 智利塔爾卡菲斯卡體育場

Squad 陣容名單: Rory CINNAMOND, Calum SCOTT, Zacceus CINNAMOND, Callum McCULLOUGH (麥古洛), Patrick JENKINSON (柏迪贊

堅臣), Joshua HRSTICH (夏斯迪) (Captain隊長), James SAWYER (占士梳亞), Luke VAN DER SMIT (雲達史密), Pat Joe LAIDLER (Harry) (黎卓

仁), Matteo AVITABILE, Harry SAYERS (薩耶斯), Thomas HILL (曉湯姆), Nathan DE THIERRY (迪堤亞尼), Sebastien BRIEN (拜恩塞巴), Matt 
AVITABILE, Alexander POST (普斯), Ben HIGGINS (希堅斯), Faizal SOLOMONA PENESA (帕洛森), Kyle SULLIVAN (蘇禮文), Tyler McNUTT, Pierce 
MACKINLAY-WEST (麥堅尼韋斯), Jack COMBES (甘子奇), Paul ALTIER (艾迪亞)

6/7/2024 Chile 智利 (22)    v    (17) Hong Kong China 中國香港 LOST 負

Men XVs South America Tour
男子15人隊南美集訓之旅

13 July 2024, Estadio Heroes de Curupayty
2025年7月13日, 巴拉圭Estadio Heroes de Curupayty

Squad 陣容名單: James HOLMES, Alexander POST (普斯), Faizal SOLOMONA PENESA (帕洛森), Jamie PINCOTT (扁確特), Patrick JENKINSON 
(柏迪贊堅臣), Tyler McNUTT, Pierce MACKINLAY-WEST (麥堅尼韋斯), Joshua HRSTICH (夏斯迪) (Captain隊長), Jack COMBES (甘子奇), Gregor 
McNEISH (麥尼殊), Paul ALTIER (艾迪亞), Ben AXTEN-BURRETT, Nathan DE THIERRY (迪堤亞尼), Charles HIGSON-SMITH (希臣史密夫), Matt 
AVITABILE, Calum SCOTT, Ben HIGGINS (希堅斯), Zacceus CINNAMOND, Luke VAN DER SMIT (雲達史密), Callum McCULLOUGH (麥古洛), Bryn 
PHILLIPS (拜恩菲立斯), Harry SAYERS (薩耶斯), Murray BRECHIN

13/7/2024 Paraguay 巴拉圭 (12)    v     (80) Hong Kong China 中國香港 WON 勝

Men XVs South America Tour
男子15人隊南美集訓之旅

20 July 2024, Nicolau Alayon Stadium
2025年7月20日, 巴西Nicolau Alayon Stadium

Squad 陣容名單: Rory CINNAMOND, Alexander POST (普斯), Zacceus CINNAMOND, Kyle SULLIVAN (蘇禮文), Callum McCULLOUGH (麥古洛), 
Joshua HRSTICH (夏斯迪) (Captain 隊長), James SAWYER (占士梳亞), Luke VAN DER SMIT (雲達史密), Jack COMBES (甘子奇), Matteo AVITABILE, 
Paul ALTIER (艾迪亞), Ben AXTEN-BURRETT, Nathan DE THIERRY (迪堤亞尼), Sebastain BRIEN (拜恩塞巴), Matt AVITABILE, Calum SCOTT, James 
HOLMES, Faizal SOLOMONA PENESA (帕洛森), Jamie PINCOTT (扁確特), Tyler McNUTT, Pierce MACKINLAY-WEST (麥堅尼韋斯), Bryn PHILLIPS (
拜恩菲立斯), Harry SAYERS (薩耶斯)

20/7/2024 Brazil 巴西 (25)    v    (26) Hong Kong China 中國香港 WON 勝

Men XVs Brazil November Test Series (1 of 2)
男子15人隊11月國際測驗賽（第一場）

9 November 2024, Hong Kong Football Club
2024年11月9日, 香港足球會

Squad 陣容名單: Rory CINNAMOND, Calum SCOTT, Faizal SOLOMONA PENESA (帕洛森), Mark PRIOR, Patrick JENKINSON (柏迪贊堅臣), 
Joshua HRSTICH (夏斯迪) (Captain 隊長), Pierce MACKINLAY-WEST (麥堅尼韋斯), Luke VAN DER SMIT (雲達史密), Jamie LAUDER (朗達), Nathan 
DE THIERRY (迪堤亞尼), Matt WORLEY, Ben AXTEN-BURRETT, Maxwell THRELKELD*, Charles HIGSON-SMITH (希臣史密夫), Matteo AVITABILE, 
Jude HARDING, Sunia FAMEITAU*, Zacceus CINNAMOND, Kyle SULLIVAN (蘇禮文), Hugh McCORMICK-HOUSTON, Tyler McNUTT, Jack 
COMBES (甘子奇), Guy SPANTON

9/11/2024 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (10)    v    (23) Brazil 巴西 LOST 負

Men XVs Brazil November Test Series (2 of 2)
男子15人隊11月國際測驗賽（第二場）

16 November 2024, Kai Tak Youth Sports Ground
2024年11月16日, 啟德青年運動場

Squad 陣容名單: Sunia FAMEITAU, LAM Jak Shing (林澤誠), Keelan CHAPMAN, Mark PRIOR, Kyle SULLIVAN (蘇禮文), Tyler McNUTT, Pierce 
MACKINLAY-WEST (麥堅尼韋斯), Joshua HRSTICH (夏斯迪) （Captain, 隊長）, Jamie LAUDER (朗達), Nathan DE THIERRY (迪堤亞尼), Guy 
SPANTON, Thomas HILL (曉湯姆), Ben AXTEN-BURRETT, Charles HIGSON-SMITH (希臣史密夫), Matt WORLEY, John McCORMICK-HOUSTON, 
James HOLMES, Zacceus CINNAMOND, Jamie PINCOTT (扁確特), Luke VAN DER SMIT (雲達史密), Jack COMBES (甘子奇), Matteo AVITABILE, 
Maxwell THRELKELD

16/11/2024 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (38)    v    (17) Brazil 巴西 WON 勝

Asia Rugby Emirates Men's Championship (Match 1)
亞洲男子阿聯酋航空欖球錦標賽（第一站）

14 June 2025, The Sevens Stadium
2025年6月14日, 杜拜七人欖球體育場

Squad 陣容名單: Sunia FAMEITAU, Alexander POST (普斯), Keelan CHAPMAN, Mark PRIOR, Patrick JENKINSON (柏迪贊堅臣), Tyler McNUTT, 
Pierce MACKINLAY-WEST (麥堅尼韋斯), Joshua HRSTICH (夏斯迪) (Captain 隊長), Jack COMBES (甘子奇), Nathan DE THIERRY (迪堤亞尼), Harry 
SAYERS (薩耶斯), Thomas HILL (曉湯姆), Ben AXTEN-BURRETT, Max DENMARK (丹馬克), Matt AVITABILE, Calum SCOTT, Rory CINNAMOND, 
Zacceus CINNAMOND, Callum McCULLOUGH (麥古洛), James SAWYER (占士梳亞), James CHRISTIE (蔡紀駿), Paul ALTIER (艾迪亞), Joseph 
BARKER

14/6/2025 UAE 阿聯酋 (10)    v    (43) Hong Kong China 中國香港 WON 勝

Asia Rugby Emirates Men's Championship (Match 2)
亞洲男子阿聯酋航空欖球錦標賽（第二站）

22 June 2025, Kai Tak Youth Sports Ground
2025年6月22日, 啟德青年運動場

Squad 陣容名單: Sunia FAMEITAU, Calum SCOTT, Zacceus CINNAMOND, Mark PRIOR, Callum McCULLOUGH (麥古洛), Joshua HRSTICH (
夏斯迪) (Captain 隊長), James SAWYER (占士梳亞), Luke VAN DER SMIT (雲達史密), Jack COMBES (甘子奇), Nathan DE THIERRY (迪堤亞

尼), Harry SAYERS (薩耶斯), Thomas HILL (曉湯姆), Ben AXTEN-BURRETT, Paul ALTIER (艾迪亞), Matt AVITABILE, Alexander POST (普斯), Rory 
CINNAMOND, Faizal SOLOMONA PENESA (帕洛森), Patrick JENKINSON (柏迪贊堅臣), Pierce MACKINLAY-WEST (麥堅尼韋斯), James CHRISTIE 
(蔡紀駿), Joseph BARKER, Alessandro NARDONI (虎拿當尼)

22/6/2025 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (78)    v    (7) Sri Lanka 斯里蘭卡 WON 勝

Asia Rugby Emirates Men's Championship (Match 3)
亞洲男子阿聯酋航空欖球錦標賽（第三站）

5 July 2025, Namdong Asiad Stadium, Incheon
2025年7月5日, 仁川南洞亞運會橄欖球場

Squad 陣容名單: Sunia FAMEITAU, Alexander POST (普斯), Keelan CHAPMAN, Mark PRIOR, Patrick JENKINSON (柏迪贊堅臣), Callum 
McCULLOUGH (麥古洛), James SAWYER (占士梳亞), Joshua HRSTICH (夏斯迪) (Captain 隊長), Jack COMBES (甘子奇), Nathan DE THIERRY (
迪堤亞尼), Harry SAYERS (薩耶斯), Thomas HILL (曉湯姆), Ben AXTEN-BURRETT, Paul ALTIER (艾迪亞), Matt AVITABILE, Calum SCOTT, Rory 
CINNAMOND, Faizal SOLOMONA PENESA (帕洛森), Luke VAN DER SMIT (雲達史密), Pierce MACKINLAY-WEST (麥堅尼韋斯), James CHRISTIE (
蔡紀駿), Max DENMARK (丹馬克), Joseph BARKER

5/7/2025 Korea 南韓 (22)    v    (70) Hong Kong China 中國香港 

1st/4 (第1名/4隊)

WON 勝
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Asia Sevens Series Leg 1 – Korea
亞洲七人欖球系列賽 第一站 — 南韓

26-27 August 2024, Namdong Asiad Stadium, Incheon      
2024年8月26-27日, 仁川南洞亞運會橄欖球場

Squad 陣容名單: James CHRISTIE (蔡紀駿) (Captain 隊長), Michael COVERDALE (高凡迪爾) Alessandro NARDONI (虎拿當尼), Matteo AVITABILE, 
Callum McCullough(麥古洛), LEE Ka To Cado (李卡度), Hugo STILES (史戴爾斯), Max DENMARK (丹馬克), Bryn PHILLIPS (拜恩菲立斯), Liam DOHERTY 
 (賀頤盛), Liam HERBERT (靴貝特), FONG Kit Fung (房傑鋒), Harry SAYERS (薩耶斯)

7/9/2024 Pool Games 分組賽 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (46) v (0) Singapore 新加坡 WON 勝

Pool Games 分組賽 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (26) v (0) Korea 南韓 WON 勝

Pool Games 分組賽 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (36) v (7) UAE阿聯酋 WON 勝

8/9/2024 Cup Semi-Final 盃賽準決賽 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (24) v (14) Japan 日本 WON 勝

Cup Final 盃賽決賽 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (40) v (7) China 中國 WON 勝

1st/8 (第1名/8隊)

Asia Sevens Series Leg 2 – China
亞洲七人欖球系列賽 第二站 — 中國

21-22 September 2024, Hangzhou Normal University, Hangzhou   
2024年9月21-22日, 杭州師範大學      

Squad 陣容名單: James CHRISTIE (蔡紀駿) (Captain 隊長), Callum McCULLOUGH (麥古洛), Pierce MACKINLAY-WEST (麥堅尼韋斯), James SAWYER  
(占士梳亞), Harry SAYERS (薩耶斯), Jack COMBES (甘子奇), Hugo STILES (史戴爾斯), Max DENMARK (丹馬克), Bryn PHILLIPS (拜恩菲立斯),  
Liam DOHERTY (賀頤盛), Liam HERBERT (靴貝特), FONG Kit Fung (房傑鋒), Matteo AVITABILE

21/9/2024 Pool Games 分組賽 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (38) v (0) Singapore 新加坡 WON 勝

Pool Games 分組賽 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (45) v (0) Thailand 泰國 WON 勝

Pool Games 分組賽 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (27) v (0) Korea 南韓 WON 勝

22/9/2024 Cup Semi Final  盃賽準決賽 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (29) v (7) China 中國 WON 勝

Cup Final
盃賽決賽

Hong Kong China 中國香港 (24) v (19) Japan 日本 WON 勝

1st/8 (第1名/8隊)

HONG KONG CHINA MEN’S 7S
中 國 香 港 男 子 七 人 欖 球 代 表 隊

Asia Sevens Series Leg 3 – Thailand 
亞洲七人欖球系列賽 第三站 — 泰國

9-10 November 2024, Boonyachinda Stadium, Bangkok
2024年11月9-10日,  曼谷Boonyachinda Stadium 

Squad 陣容名單: Michael COVERDALE (高凡迪爾), Juan Esono MBA OYANA (胡安埃索諾), Alessandro NARDONI (虎拿當尼), James CHRISTIE (蔡紀駿) 
(Captain 隊長), Harry SAYERS (薩耶斯), LEE Ka To Cado (李卡度), Shiven DUKHANDE*(杜舒雲), Max DENMARK (丹馬克), Bryn PHILLIPS (拜恩菲立斯), 
Liam DOHERTY (賀頤盛), NG Yuk Shing Wesley*(吳育丞), Julien BOURRON*(于力仁), Blake ELLIOT*

9/11/2024 Pool Games 分組賽 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (22) v (7) Singapore 新加坡 WON 勝

Pool Games 分組賽 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (49) v (0) Malaysia 馬來西亞 WON 勝

Pool Games 分組賽 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (50) v (0) Korea 南韓 WON 勝

10/11/2024 Cup Semi-Final 盃賽準決賽 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (26) v (5) China 中國 WON 勝

Cup Final 盃賽決賽 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (26) v (15) Japan 日本 WON 勝

1st/8 (第1名/8隊)

HSBC Sevens Challenger Series 2025 Round 1 – South Africa
滙豐七人欖球挑戰者系列賽第一站 — 南非

1-2 March 2025, Athlone Stadium, Cape Town
2025年3月1-2日, 開普敦阿斯隆體育場

Squad 陣容名單: Alessandro NARDONI (虎拿當尼), Michael COVERDALE (高凡迪爾), Matteo AVITABILE, Harry SAYERS (薩耶斯), LEE Ka To Cado (李
卡度), Jack COMBES (甘子奇), Max DENMARK (丹馬克), Bryn PHILLIPS (拜恩菲立斯), Liam HERBERT (靴貝特), FONG Kit Fung (房傑鋒), Blake ELLIOT, 
Liam DOHERTY (賀頤盛)

1/3/2025 Pool Games 分組賽 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (19) v Madagascar 馬達加斯加 (21) LOST 負

Pool Games 分組賽 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (12) v Canada 加拿大 (21) LOST 負

2/3/2025 9th Place Semi-Final 第九名準決賽 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (29) v Georgia喬治亞 (0) WON 勝

9th Place Final 第九名決賽 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (21) v Tonga 東加 (19) WON 勝

9th/12 (第9名/12隊)
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HSBC Sevens Challenger Series 2025 Round 2 – South Africa
滙豐七人欖球挑戰者系列賽第二站 — 南非

7-8 March 2025, Athlone Stadium, Cape Town
2025年3月7-8日, 開普敦阿斯隆體育場

Squad 陣容名單: Alessandro NARDONI (虎拿當尼), Matteo AVITABILE, Harry SAYERS (薩耶斯), LEE Ka To Cado (李卡度), Jack COMBES (甘子奇),  
Max DENMARK (丹馬克), James CHRISTIE (蔡紀駿) (Captain 隊長), Bryn PHILLIPS (拜恩菲立斯), Liam HERBERT (靴貝特), FONG Kit Fung (房傑鋒), 
Blake ELLIOT, Liam DOHERTY (賀頤盛)

7/3/2025 Pool Games 分組賽 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (17) v (19) Japan日本  LOST 負

Pool Games 分組賽 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (7) v (24) Chile 智利  LOST 負

8/3/2025 9th Place Semi-Final 第九名準決賽 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (24) v (19) Brazil 巴西 WON 勝

9th Place Final 第九名決賽 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (10) v (24) Madagascar 馬達加斯加 LOST 負

10th/12 (第10名/12隊)

Hong Kong Sevens – Melrose Claymores Competition 2025
香港國際七人欖球賽 — 2025年Melrose銀劍賽

28-30 March 2025, Kai Tak Stadium
20225年3月28-30日, 啟德主場館

Squad 陣容名單: Rory STEWART-COX*, Michael COVERDALE (高凡迪爾), Alessandro NARDONI (虎拿當尼), Matteo AVITABILE, Harry SAYERS (薩耶斯), 
LEE Ka To Cado (李卡度), Jack COMBES (甘子奇), Max DENMARK (丹馬克), James CHRISTIE (蔡紀駿) (Captain 隊長), Bryn PHILLIPS (拜恩菲立斯),  
Liam HERBERT (靴貝特), Shiven DUKHANDE(杜舒雲), James KEE* (紀遠恆)

28/3/2025 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (31) v (7) China 中國  WON 勝

29/3/2025 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (43) v (21) Japan日本  WON 勝

30/3/2025 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (38) v (5) China 中國 WON 勝

1st/3 (第1名/3隊)

HONG KONG CHINA WOMEN’S XVS
中 國 香 港 女 子 十 五 人 欖 球 代 表 隊

World Rugby Women's WXV3 Tournament (Match 1)
世界欖球女子WXV錦標賽第三級別賽(第一場)

28 September-12 October 2024, The Sevens Stadium, Dubai
2024年9月28至10月12日, 杜拜七人欖球體育場

Squad 陣容名單: LAU Nga Wun (劉雅媛), DHAR Tanya (戴健雅), HEREWINI Kea, TURNER Roshini, BALTAZAR Micayla (畢凱桓), PUN Wai Yan  
(潘慧欣) (Captain 隊長), CHAN Tsz Ching (陳芷晴), FORREST Shanna (霍山文), HO Jessica Wai On (何維銨), FUNG Hoi Ching (馮凱晴),  
BOLTON Lucia*, RIVERS Gabriella (河春花), OLSON-THORNE Natasha (高香慧), CHONG Ka Yan (莊嘉欣), LYNAM Sabay, GOT Fion (葛蕊霆), 
TSANG Hoi Laam (曾凱嵐), LEE Ka Shun (李嘉萱), BALTAZAR Chloe (畢皓而), SO Karen Hoi Ting (蘇愷婷), WAN Tsz Yau (溫芷攸), SMITH Zoe, 
UEMATSU Haruka (植松明香)*

28/9/2024 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (3)     v     (38) Fiji 斐濟 LOST 負

World Rugby Women's WXV3 Tournament (Match 2)
世界欖球女子WXV錦標賽第三級別賽(第二場)

4 October 2024, The Sevens Stadium, Dubai
2024年10月4日, 杜拜七人欖球體育場

Squad 陣容名單: LAU Nga Wun (劉雅媛), DHAR Tanya (戴健雅), HEREWINI Kea, TURNER Roshini, BALTAZAR Micayla (畢凱桓), PUN Wai Yan  
(潘慧欣) (Captain 隊長) , CHAN Tsz Ching (陳芷晴), FORREST Shanna (霍山文), HO Jessica Wai On (何維銨), RIVERS Georgia (河東陽), SMITH Zoe, 
RIVERS Gabriella (河春花), OLSON-THORNE Natasha (高香慧), CHONG Ka Yan (莊嘉欣), LYNAM Sabay, GOT Fion (葛蕊霆), CHAN Hiu Tung  
(陳曉彤), LEE Ka Shun (李嘉萱), BALTAZAR Chloe (畢皓而), CHOW Mei Nam (鄒美楠), WAN Tsz Yau (溫芷攸),  FUNG Hoi Ching (馮凱晴), 
UEMATSU Haruka (植松明香)

4/10/2024 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (38)     v     (7) Madagascar 馬達加斯加 WON 勝

World Rugby Women's WXV3 Tournament (Match 3)
世界欖球女子WXV錦標賽第三級別賽(第三場)

12 October 2024, The Sevens Stadium, Dubai
2024年10月12日, 杜拜七人欖球體育場

Squad 陣容名單: LAU Nga Wun (劉雅媛), GOT Fion (葛蕊霆), HEREWINI Kea, TURNER Roshini, BALTAZAR Chloe (畢皓而), PUN Wai Yan (潘慧欣) 
(Captain 隊長), CHAN Tsz Ching (陳芷晴), FORREST Shanna (霍山文), HO Jessica Wai On (何維銨), RIVERS Georgia (河東陽), SMITH Zoe,  
RIVERS Gabriella (河春花), OLSON-THORNE Natasha (高香慧), CHONG Ka Yan (莊嘉欣), LYNAM Sabay, SO Karen Hoi Ting (蘇愷婷),  
CHAN Hiu Tung (陳曉彤), LEE Ka Shun (李嘉萱), GRIERSON Morena*, CHOW Mei Nam (鄒美楠), AU King To (歐景桃), FUNG Hoi Ching (馮凱晴), 
UEMATSU Haruka (植松明香)

12/10/2024 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (3)     v     (33) Netherlands 荷蘭 LOST 負

5th/6 (第5名/6隊)
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Asia Rugby Emirates Women's Championship (Match 1)
亞洲女子阿聯酋航空欖球錦標賽（第一場）

20 May 2025, Japan Camp, Fukuoka, Japan
2025年5月20日, 日本福岡集訓營

Squad 陣容名單: LAU Nga Wun (劉雅媛), DHAR Tanya (戴健雅) HEREWINI Kea, CHOW Mei Nam (鄒美楠), TURNER Roshini, BALTAZAR Chloe  
(畢皓而), PUN Wai Yan (Captain, 隊長) (潘慧欣), FORREST Shanna (霍山文), AU King To (歐景桃), LO Wing Yin (羅詠賢), EDEN Jessica (伊洁茜), 
QIAN Jiayu (錢家裕), CHAN Abigail(陳柏鈴), CHONG Ka Yan (莊嘉欣), POON Hoi Yan (潘凱恩), LAM Tim Yeung Iris (林恬暘), NG Ki Sum (吳其芯), 
LEUNG Wing Yi Vincci (梁穎懿), PEETERS Naomi *, AU YEUNG Sin Yi (歐陽倩怡), WAN Tsz Yau (溫芷攸), LEE Tsz Ting (李紫婷), HOOD Grace

20/5/2025 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (29)     v     (12) Kazakhstan 哈薩克 WON 勝

Asia Rugby Emirates Women's Championship (Match 2)
亞洲女子阿聯酋航空欖球錦標賽（第二場）

25 May 2025, Japan Camp, Fukuoka, Japan
2025年5月25日, 日本福岡集訓營

Squad 陣容名單: LAU Nga Wun (劉雅媛), LAM Tim Yeung Iris (林恬暘), LEE Ka Shun (李嘉萱), CHOW Mei Nam (鄒美楠), TURNER Roshini,  
PUN Wai Yan(Captain 隊長) (潘慧欣), SIU Wing Ni Winnie (蕭詠妮), FORREST Shanna (霍山文), AU King To (歐景桃), LO Wing Yin (羅詠賢), 
CHONG Ka Yan (莊嘉欣), EDEN Jessica (伊洁茜) HOOD Grace, SMITH Zoe, POON Hoi Yan (潘凱恩), GOT Fion (葛蕊霆), NG Ki Sum (吳其芯), 
HEREWINI Kea, PEETERS Naomi, AU YEUNG Sin Yi (歐陽倩怡), WAN Tsz Yau (溫芷攸), LEE Tsz Ting (李紫婷), UEMATSU Haruka (植松明香)

25/5/2025 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (5)     v     (63) Japan 日本 LOST 負

2rd/3 (第2名/3隊)

Asia Sevens Series Leg 1 - Korea 
亞洲七人欖球系列賽 - 第一站南韓

7-8 September 2024, Namdong Asias Stadium, Incheon 
2024年9月7-8日, 仁川南洞亞運會橄欖球場

Squad 球員陣容: Chloe BALTAZAR (畢皓而), Chloe CHAN (陳穎), Maggie AU YEUNG Sin Yi (歐陽倩怡), Micayla BALTAZAR (畢凱桓), Grace HOOD *, 
Natasha OLSON-THORNE (高香慧) (Captain 隊長), Agnes CHAN Tsz Ching (陳芷晴), Sabay LYNAM, Jessica HO Wai On (何維銨),  
Vivian POON Hoi Yan (潘凱恩), CHONG Ka Yan (莊嘉欣), Stephanie CHAN Chor Ki (陳楚琪), Sunday HO Tsz Wun (何芷媛)

7/9/2024 Pool Games 小組賽 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (21) v (5) Singapore 新加坡 WON 勝

Pool Games 小組賽 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (17) v (15) Malaysia 馬來西亞 WON 勝

Pool Games 小組賽 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (7) v (14) China 中國 LOST 負

8/9/2024 Cup Semi-Final 盃賽半準決賽 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (12) v (7) Japan 日本 WON 勝

Cup Final 盃賽決賽 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (0) v (26) China 中國 LOST 負

2nd/8 (第2名/8隊)

Asia Seven Series Leg 2 - China
亞洲七人欖球系列賽 - 第二站中國

21-22 September 2024, Hangzhou Normal University, Hangzhou
2024年9月21-22日,杭州師範大學      

Squad 球員陣容: Jamie BOURK, Chloe CHAN (陳穎) (Captain 隊長), Maggie AU YEUNG Sin Yi (歐陽倩怡), Winnie SIU Wing Ni (蕭詠妮), Nam Ka Man  
(藍嘉敏), Grace HOOD, CHIAN Hoi Ning (錢愷寧), WONG Sze Ying (黃思縈), Etta KWONG Tin Tung (鄺天瞳)*, Vivian POON Hoi Yan (潘凱恩),  
Abigail CHAN (陳柏鈴), Stephanie CHAN Chor Ki (陳楚琪), Sunday HO Tsz Wun (何芷媛)

21/9/2024 Pool Games 小組賽 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (29) v (5) Malaysia 馬來西亞 WON 勝

Pool Games 小組賽 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (29) v (5) UAE 阿聯酋 WON 勝

Pool Games 小組賽 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (0) v (48) Japan 日本 LOST 負

22/9/2024 Cup Semi-Final 盃賽半準決賽 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (0) v (50) China 中國 LOST 負

3rd/4th Place 第3/4名次賽 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (7) v (32) Thailand 泰國 LOST 負

4th/8 (第4名/8隊)

HONG KONG CHINA WOMEN’S 7S
中 國 香 港 女 子 七 人 欖 球 代 表 隊
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Asia Seven Series Leg 3 – Thailand
亞洲七人欖球系列賽 第三站 — 泰國

9-10 November 2024, Boonyachinda Stadium, Bangkok
2024年11月9-10日,  曼谷Boonyachinda Stadium

Squad 球員陣容: Gabriella RIVERS (河春花), Chloe CHAN (陳穎) (Co-Captain 雙隊長), Maggie AU YEUNG Sin Yi (歐陽倩怡), Chloe BALTAZAR (畢皓而), 
NAM Ka Man (藍嘉敏), Natasha OLSON-THORNE (高香慧) (Co-Captain 雙隊長), Agnes CHAN Tsz Ching (陳芷晴), Sabay LYNAM, Jessica HO Wai On  
(何維銨), Vivian POON Hoi Yan (潘凱恩), CHONG Ka Yan (莊嘉欣), Stephanie CHAN Chor Ki (陳楚琪), Grace HOOD

9/11/2024 Pool Games 小組賽 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (45) v (0) Kazakhstan 哈薩克 WON 勝

Pool Games 小組賽 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (43) v (0) UAE 阿聯酋 WON 勝

Pool Games 小組賽 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (19) v (29) China 中國 LOST 負

10/11/2024 Cup Semi-Final 盃賽半準決賽 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (10) v (19) Japan 日本 LOST 負

3rd/4th Place 第3/4名次賽 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (5) v (24) Thailand 泰國 LOST 負

4th/8 (第4名/8隊)

HSBC Sevens Challenger Series 2025 Round 1 – South Africa
滙豐七人欖球挑戰者系列賽第一站 — 南非

1-2 March 2025, Athlone Stadium, Cape Town
2025年3月1-2日, 開普敦阿斯隆體育場

Squad 陣容名單: Shanna FORREST (霍山文), AU YEUNG Sin Yi (歐陽倩怡), Chloe CHAN (陳穎) (Co-Captain 雙隊長), PUN Wai Yan (潘慧欣),  
NAM Ka Man (藍嘉敏), OLSON-THORNE Natasha (高香慧) (Co-Captain 雙隊長), Sabay LYNAM, HO Jessica Wai On (何維銨), CHAN Stephanie Chor Ki 
(陳楚琪), CHONG Ka Yan (莊嘉欣),  Jess EDEN, Rosanna WRIGHT (韋諾蒔)

1/3/2025 Pool Games 分組賽 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (19) v (26) Czechia捷克 LOST 負

Pool Games 分組賽 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (0) v (36) South Africa 南非 LOST 負

2/3/2025 9th Place Semi-Final  第9名準決賽 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (29) v (17) Samoa 薩摩亞 WON 勝

9th Place Final  第9名決賽 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (12) v (19) Belgium 比利時 LOST 負

10th/12(第10名/12隊)

HSBC Sevens Challenger Series 2025 Round 2 – South Africa
滙豐七人欖球挑戰者系列賽第二站 — 南非

7-8 March 2025, Athlone Stadium, Cape Town
2025年3月7-8日, 開普敦阿斯隆體育場

Squad 陣容名單: Shanna FORREST (霍山文), AU YEUNG Sin Yi (歐陽倩怡), Chloe CHAN (陳穎) (Co-Captain 雙隊長), PUN Wai Yan (潘慧欣),  
OLSON-THORNE Natasha (高香慧) (Co-Captain 雙隊長), POON Hoi Yan (潘凱恩), Sabay LYNAM, HO Jessica Wai On (何維銨),  
CHAN Stephanie Chor Ki (陳楚琪), CHONG Ka Yan (莊嘉欣), Jess EDEN,  Rosanna WRIGHT (韋諾蒔)

7/3/2025 Pool Games 分組賽 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (24) v (19) Czechia 捷克 WON 勝

Pool Games 分組賽 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (7) v (34) Argentina 阿根廷 LOST 負

8/3/2025 9th Place Semi-Final 第9名賽準決賽 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (26) v (21) Samoa 薩摩亞 WON 勝

9th Place Final  第9名決賽 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (5) v (29) Belgium 比利時 LOST 負

10th/12(第10名/12隊)

Hong Kong Sevens – Melrose Claymores Competition 2025
香港國際七人欖球賽 — 2025年Melrose銀劍賽

28-30 March 2025, Kai Tak Stadium  
2025年3月28-30日, 啟德主場館

Squad 陣容名單: Shanna FORREST (霍山文), Chloe CHAN (陳穎) (Co-Captain 雙隊長), AU YEUNG Sin Yi (歐陽倩怡), PUN Wai Yan (潘慧欣),  
NAM Ka Man (藍嘉敏), OLSON-THORNE Natasha (高香慧) (Co-Captain 雙隊長), Jamie BOURK, Sabay LYNAM, HO Jessica Wai On (何維銨),  
Rosanna WRIGHT (韋諾蒔), CHONG Ka Yan (莊嘉欣), Jess EDEN, CHAN Stephanie Chor Ki (陳楚琪)

28/3/2025 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (29)     v      (14) Kazakhstan 哈薩克 WON 勝

29/3/2025 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (47)     v      (0) Thailand 泰國 WON 勝

30/3/2025 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (45)     v      (5) Kazakhstan 哈薩克  WON 勝

1st/3 (第1名/3隊)
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HONG KONG CHINA U20 MEN’S XVS
中 國 香 港 男 子 2 0 歲 以 下 欖 球 代 表 隊 

World Rugby U20 Trophy 2024 (Match 1)
2024年世界青年欖球盃（第一場）

2-17 July 2024, The Hive Edinburgh
2024年7月2-17日, 蘇格蘭愛丁堡的Hive體育場

Squad 陣容名單: Samuel MARTIN, Dewi SIMONS, Dave BENNETT, Callum FITZHENRY, Theodore MAG, Fritz-Gonzales MAHN, Oliver CLARKE, 
Dominic HEDLEY, Stephen WEBB, Blake ELLIOT, Marcus D'ARCE, Isaac CAMPBELL-WU, Barnaby HORBERRY, Matthew RICKARD, James KEE  
(紀遠恆), Benedict SHELDON, Minjun KOO, Mitchell CRAWFORD, Toby HUGHES, Marco CONTI, Camill CHEUNG (張迦沔), Justin EDEN, Kyran LACY

2/7/2024 Pool Match 分組賽 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (20) v (105) Japan 日本 LOST 負

World Rugby U20 Trophy 2024  (Match 2)
2024年世界青年欖球盃 （第二場）

7 July 2024, The Hive Edinburgh
2024年7月7日, 蘇格蘭愛丁堡的Hive體育場

Squad 陣容名單: Minjun KOO, Benedict SHELDON, Mitchell CRAWFORD, Toby HUGHES, Theodore MAG, Marco CONTI, Oliver CLARKE, Dominic 
HEDLEY, Camill CHEUNG(張迦沔), Blake ELLIOT, Justin EDEN, Barnaby HORBERRY, Marcus D'ARCE, Matthew RICKARD, Kyran LACY,  
Dewi SIMONS, Lukas MOLYNEUX, David BENNETT, Callum FITZHENRY, Fritz-Gonzales MAHN, Luke BANNON, Maxwell BLAIR, James KEE(紀遠恆)

7/7/2024 Pool Match 分組賽 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (0) v (101) Scotland 蘇格蘭 LOST 負

World Rugby U20 Trophy 2024  (Match 4)
2024年世界青年欖球盃 （第四場）

17 July 2024, The Hive Edinburgh
2024年7月17日, 蘇格蘭愛丁堡的Hive體育場

Squad 陣容名單: Samuel MARTIN, Benedict SHELDON, David BENNETT, Callum FITZHENRY, Theodore MAG, Luke BANNON, Oliver CLARKE, 
Dominic HEDLEY, Stephen WEBB, Barnaby HORBERRY, Matthew RICKARD, Marcus D'ARCE, James KEE (紀遠恆), LIN Chan Mun Hassan Raza,  
Blake ELLIOT, Lukas MOLYNEUX, Mitchell CRAWFORD, Minjun KOO, Fritz-Gonzales MAHN, Marco CONTI, Camill CHEUNG (張迦沔), Maxwell BLAIR, 
Kyran LACY

17/7/2024 7th/8th Place Final 第7/8名名次賽 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (34) v (14) Kenya肯雅 WON 勝

7th/8 (第7名/8隊)

World Rugby U20 Trophy 2024  (Match 3)
2024年世界青年欖球盃 （第三場）

12 July 2024, The Hive Edinburgh
2024年7月12日, 蘇格蘭愛丁堡的Hive體育場

Squad 陣容名單: Samuel MARTIN, Benedict SHELDON, David BENNETT, Callum FITZHENRY, Theodore MAG, Fritz-Gonzales MAHN, Oliver CLARKE, 
Dominic HEDLEY, Camill CHEUNG (張迦沔), Blake ELLIOT, Matthew RICKARD, Barnaby HORBERRY, Marcus D'ARCE, Maxwell BLAIR, James KEE  
(紀遠恆), Dewi SIMONS, Minjun KOO, William MEADS, Toby HUGHES, Marco CONTI, Stephen WEBB, Luke BANNON, LIN Chan Mun Hassan Raza

12/7/2024 Pool Match 分組賽 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (19) v (39) Samoa 薩摩亞 LOST 負

HONG KONG CHINA U19S MEN’S XVS 
中國香港19歲以下男子15人欖球隊

U19 Asia Rugby Championship 2024 (Semi Final)
2024年亞洲U19男子欖球錦標賽 (準決賽)

18 December 2024, Taipei Municipal Stadium 
2024年12月18日, 臺北田徑場

Squad 陣容名單:  Ian WONG (黃日勤), Will GRAY, Mitchell CRAWFORD, Dominic HEDLEY, Augustine MULCAHY, Andrew STRATTON, Oliver CLARKE, 
Hugo HEALY, Gabriel HORBERRY, Cooper WNEK, Ka Yiu Kyle WONG(黃家耀), Oliver SINCLAIR, James KEE (紀遠恆), Sam NICOLLE,  
Matthew RICKARD, Lukas MOLYNEUX, Yat Fu Davy CHIU (趙一夫), Kin Yin Leo CHAK (翟啓然), Man Hin Thomas CHUNG (鍾文軒), Andrew DURANT, 
Jonathan ADAMS, John WARREN, Matthew HENDERSON

18/12/2024 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (39)     v     (14) Korea 南韓 WON 勝

Asia Rugby U19 Men's Championship 2024 (Final)
2024年亞洲U19男子欖球錦標賽 (決賽)

22 December 2024, Taipei Municipal Stadium  
2024年12月22日, 臺北田徑場

Squad 陣容名單: Ian WONG (黃日勤), Will GRAY, Mitchell CRAWFORD, Dominic HEDLEY, Augustine MULCAHY, Andrew STRATTON, Oliver CLARKE, 
Hugo HEALY, Gabriel HORBERRY, Cooper WNEK, Ka Yiu Kyle WONG(黃家耀), Oliver SINCLAIR, James KEE (紀遠恆), Sam NICOLLE,  
Matthew RICKARD, Lukas MOLYNEUX, Yat Fu Davy CHIU(趙一夫), Kin Yin Leo CHAK(翟啓然), Man Hin Thomas CHUNG(鍾文軒), Andrew DURANT,  
Jonathan ADAMS, John WARREN, Matthew HENDERSON

22/12/2024 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (3)     v     (64) Japan 日本 LOST 負

2nd/4 (第2名/4隊)
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HONG KONG CHINA U18S BOYS 7S
中國香港18歲以下男子七人欖球隊

Asia Rugby Emirates U18 Boys Sevens 2024 – Malaysia 
2024年亞洲U18男子欖球阿聯酋航空七人欖球賽－馬來西亞

28-29 September 2024, Johor Bahru
2024年9月28-29日, 新山

Squad 陣容名單: Jonathan BRYANT, Luca Laios CAVANAGH, Liam GORDON, Floris KENNES, Maurits KENNES, Matthew HENDERSON,  
Hugo Pier MAHE, Benjamin MARKS, Ryan SCHROEDER, Theodore Sun SEIGRIST, Oliver SINCLAIR, Jack SYLVESTER-EVANS

28/9/2024 Pool Match 分組賽 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (20) v (0) Brunei汶萊 WON 勝

Pool Match 分組賽 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (17) v (17) Sri Lanka 斯里蘭卡 DRAW 和

29/9/2024 Pool Match 分組賽 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (29) v (10) Thailand 泰國 WON 勝

Cup Semi-Final 盃賽半準決賽 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (32) v (0) Chinese Taipei 中華台北 WON 勝

Cup Final 盃賽決賽 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (0) v (43) UAE 阿聯酋 LOST 負

2nd/10 (第2名/10隊)

HONG KONG CHINA U18S GIRLS 7S 
中 國 香 港 1 8 歲 以 下 女 子 七 人 欖 球 代 表 隊

Asia Rugby Emirates U18 Girls Sevens 2024 – Malaysia
2024年亞洲U18女子欖球阿聯酋航空七人欖球賽－馬來西亞

28-29 September 2024, Johor Bahru
2024年9月28-29日, 新山

Squad 陣容名單: Sophie ARANHA, Lela EL-ASMAR, Sara HARRIES, CHAN Sze Hang, Sheryn(陳思行), CHAN Wing Kei Yami (陳詠琦), Emily FISHER, 
Jasmine Lea FITZHENRY, Elsie HULME, Beca JOHN, Saidhb MARTIN, Charlotte SLEIGH, Lizzie STANTON

28/9/2024 Pool Match 分組賽 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (46) v (0) Singapore 新加坡 WON 勝

Pool Match 分組賽 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (10) v (27) India 印度 LOST 負

Pool Match 分組賽 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (32) v (0) Malaysia 馬來西亞 WON 勝

29/9/2024 Pool Match 分組賽 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (24) v (7) UAE 阿聯酋 WON 勝

Semi-Final 準決賽 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (27) v (0) Thailand 泰國 WON 勝

Final 決賽 Hong Kong China 中國香港 (31) v (5) Thailand 泰國 WON 勝

1st/6 (第1名/6隊)



2024/2025 Nan Fung Group | AIRSIDE Men's Premiership 南豐集團 | AIRSIDE 男子超級聯賽

Position 排名 Team 隊伍 P W D L For Agst GD BP PTS

1 HKFC Natixis Club 香港足球會法盛Club隊 15 14 0 1 638 183 455 13 69

2 HKU Sandy Bay RFC 香港大學沙灣欖球會 15 10 0 5 598 291 307 13 53

3 Societe Generale Valley RFC 法國興業銀行華利欖球會 15 10 0 5 428 358 70 9 49

4 MND Hong Kong Scottish MND香港蘇格蘭人 15 6 1 8 368 467 -99 8 34

5 DLA Piper Kowloon Rugby Club DLA Piper九龍欖球會 15 3 0 12 208 668 -460 5 17

6 Kroll USRC Tigers RFC Kroll三軍會猛虎欖球會 15 1 1 13 326 599 -273 9 15

2024/2025 HKCR Premiership A 欖總男子超級聯賽A

Position 排名 Team 隊伍 P W D L For Agst GD BP PTS

1 HKFC Natixis Dragons 香港足球會法盛Dragons隊 12 9 0 3 344 197 147 9 46

2 Shenzhen Pirates RFC 深圳海盜橄欖球俱樂部 12 8 2 2 437 240 197 7 44

3 Societe Generale Valley Knights 法國興業銀行華利欖球會Knights 12 7 0 5 303 288 15 9 37

4 HKU Sandy Bay Vikings 香港大學沙灣欖球會Vikings 11 6 0 5 279 249 30 9 31

5 MND Hong Kong Scottish Nomads MND香港蘇格蘭人Nomads 12 4 1 7 258 259 -1 4 18

6 DLA Piper Kowloon Rugby Club 2XV DLA Piper九龍欖球會15人欖球2隊 12 3 1 8 241 303 -62 8 17

7 Kroll USRC Tigers Titans Kroll三軍會猛虎欖球會Titans 11 2 0 9 157 363 -206 3 11

2024/2025 HKCR Men's Championship League 1 欖總男子冠軍聯賽1

Position 排名 Team 隊伍 P W D L For Agst GD BP PTS

1 HKFC Natixis Scorpions 香港足球會法盛Scorpions隊 15 13 0 2 531 186 345 12 64

2 Typhoons/ University RFC 1 颱風欖球會/大學欖球會1隊 15 12 0 3 598 178 420 11 60

3 Societe Generale Valley Mavericks 法國興業銀行華利欖球會Mavericks 15 9 0 6 303 358 -55 6 43

4 Shenzhen Pirates RFC 2 深圳海盜橄欖球俱樂部2隊 15 7 0 8 400 321 79 7 28

5 Kroll USRC Tigers Vandals Kroll三軍會猛虎欖球會Vandals 15 4 0 11 220 456 -236 4 20

6 HKFC Natixis Select 香港足球會法盛Select隊 15 0 0 15 134 607 -473 5 5

2024/2025 HKCR Men's Championship League 2 欖總男子冠軍聯賽2

Position 排名 Team 隊伍 P W D L For Agst GD BP PTS

1 HKFC Natixis Bulls 香港足球會法盛Bulls隊 12 12 0 0 444 135 309 7 56

2 SRK & Ageas Tin Shui Wai RFC SRK & Ageas天水圍欖球會 12 7 0 5 302 178 124 7 36

3 FF Fitness Studio TAIPO DRAGON 1 FF Fitness Studio 大埔龍欖球會1隊 12 7 0 5 326 175 151 7 35

4 HKFC Natixis Sequins 香港足球會法盛Sequins隊 12 3 0 9 208 237 -29 5 12

5 MND Hong Kong Scottish Bravehearts MND香港蘇格蘭人Bravehearts 12 1 0 11 75 550 -475 2 4
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2024/2025 HKCR Men's Championship League 3 欖總男子冠軍聯賽3

Position 排名 Team 隊伍 P W D L For Agst GD BP PTS

1 SCAA CWB Marines 南華會銅鑼灣欖球會Marines 15 10 0 5 291 201 90 9 49

2 Typhoons/ University RFC 2 颱風欖球會/大學欖球會2隊 15 7 0 8 310 262 48 10 38

3 Discovery Bay Pirates 愉景灣海盜 14 9 0 5 287 204 83 5 36

4 SRK & Ageas Tin Shui Wai RFC 2 SRK & Ageas 天水圍欖球會2隊 15 7 1 7 277 250 27 5 36

5 Gai Wu Blaze 雞糊Blaze隊 15 6 0 9 291 304 -13 10 34

6 Kroll USRC Tigers Twisters Kroll三軍會猛虎欖球會Twisters 14 4 1 9 161 316 -155 1 15

2024/2025 HKCR Community League 1 欖總社區聯賽1

Position 排名 Team 隊伍 P W D L For Agst GD BP PTS

1 HKU Sandy Bay Marauders 香港大學沙灣欖球會Marauders 15 11 0 4 595 189 406 16 60

2 Natixis HKFC Expendables 香港足球會法盛Expendables隊 15 11 0 4 619 255 364 10 54

3 DLA Piper Kowloon Beavers DLA Piper九龍欖球會Beavers 15 9 0 6 511 350 161 8 46

4 Societe Generale Valley Griffin Mai Jai's 法國興業銀行華利欖球會Griffin Mai Jai's 15 7 0 8 443 357 86 10 33

5 Police RFC 警察欖球會 15 7 0 8 450 316 134 8 32

6 Kroll USRC Tigers Old Goutonians Kroll三軍會猛虎欖球會Old Goutonians 15 0 0 15 63 1094 -1031 0 0

2024/2025 HKCR Community League 2 欖總社區聯賽2

Position 排名 Team 隊伍 P W D L For Agst GD BP PTS

1 City RC Quakes 城市欖球會Quakes 14 12 2 0 417 131 286 7 61

2 DLA Piper Kowloon Brothers DLA Piper九龍欖球會Brothers 14 9 0 5 442 186 256 14 50

3 Gai Wu Blossoms 雞糊欖球會Blossoms 14 8 2 4 433 236 197 12 48

4 MND Hong Kong Scottish Claymores MND香港蘇格蘭人Claymores 14 9 1 4 337 189 148 8 46

5 SRK & Ageas Tin Shui Wai RFC 3 SRK & Ageas天水圍欖球會3隊 14 6 1 7 347 252 95 9 36

6 FF Fitness Studio TAIPO DRAGON 2 FF Fitness Studio 大埔龍欖球會2隊 14 5 1 8 366 271 95 8 30

7 Typhoons/ University RFC 3 颱風欖球會/大學欖球會3隊 14 3 1 10 173 341 -168 4 14

8 Revolution Men 革命之旅體育遊樂會男子隊 14 0 0 14 47 796 -749 0 -4

2024/2025 Nan Fung Group | AIRSIDE  Women's Premiership 南豐集團 | AIRSIDE 女子超級聯賽

Position 排名 Team 隊伍 P W D L For Agst GD BP PTS

1 Societe Generale Valley RFC 法國興業銀行華利欖球會 15 15 0 0 790 79 711 12 73

2 HKFC Natixis Ice 香港足球會法盛 Ice隊 15 11 0 4 651 138 513 14 58

3 Gai Wu Falcons 雞糊鷹隊 15 8 0 7 362 339 23 7 39

4 Kroll USRC Tigers Women Kroll三軍會猛虎欖球會女子隊 15 7 0 8 375 315 60 8 36

5 DLA Piper Kowloon Women DLA Piper九龍欖球會女子隊 15 3 0 12 151 667 -516 3 15

6 Causeway Sandy Bay 銅鑼灣沙灣欖球會 15 1 0 14 78 829 -751 0 -1
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2024/2025  HKCR Women's Championship League 1 欖總女子冠軍聯賽1

Position 排名 Team 隊伍 P W D L For Agst GD BP PTS

1 Societe Generale Valley Red 法國興業銀行華利欖球會Red 14 13 0 1 419 59 360 3 63

2 Gai Wu Fawkes 雞糊Fawkes隊 14 11 1 2 371 131 240 2 55

3 Kroll USRC Tigers Women 2 Kroll三軍會猛虎欖球會女子2隊 14 10 0 4 333 147 186 0 46

4 HKFC Natixis Fire 香港足球會法盛Fire隊 14 8 0 6 282 175 107 3 42

5 DLA Piper Kowloon Typhoons DLA Piper九龍欖球會Typhoons 14 7 0 7 244 180 64 2 36

2024/2025 HKCR Women's Championship League 2 欖總女子冠軍聯賽2

Position 排名 Team 隊伍 P W D L For Agst GD BP PTS

1 SCAA Causeway Bay Griffins 南華會銅鑼灣欖球會Griffins 15 7 1 7 176 240 -64 2 35

2 SRK & Ageas Tin Shui Wai Pandas SRK & Ageas 天水圍熊貓欖球會 15 6 1 8 238 299 -61 2 29

3 Taipo Dragon RFC 大埔龍欖球會 15 5 2 8 173 214 -41 1 28

4 HKU Sandy Bay Thunder 香港大學沙灣欖球會Thunder 15 6 0 9 320 338 -18 3 20

5 Revolution Azure 革命之旅體育遊樂會Azure 15 2 1 12 124 355 -231 1 13

6 Hong Kong Disciplined Services RFC  
Womens

香港紀律部隊欖球會女子隊 15 2 0 13 102 444 -342 3 11

2024/2025 HKCR Women's Championship 欖總女子冠軍聯賽

Position 排名 Team 隊伍 P W D L For Agst GD BP PTS

1 Societe Generale Valley Red 法國興業銀行華利欖球會Red 10 10 0 0 333 29 304 8 48

2 Gai Wu Fawkes 雞糊Fawkes隊 10 8 1 1 301 77 224 7 41

3 Kroll USRC Tigers Women 2 Kroll三軍會猛虎欖球會女子2隊 10 8 0 2 286 82 204 5 38

4 DLA Piper Kowloon Typhoons DLA Piper九龍欖球會Typhoons 10 7 0 3 184 109 75 5 34

5 HKFC Natixis Fire 香港足球會法盛Fire隊 10 6 0 4 209 99 110 7 31

6 HKU Sandy Bay Thunder 香港大學沙灣欖球會Thunder 10 5 0 5 247 165 82 3 18

7 SCAA Causeway Bay Griffins 南華會銅鑼灣欖球會Griffins 10 3 1 6 86 179 -93 3 17

8 Taipo Dragon RFC 大埔龍欖球會 10 2 1 7 82 190 -108 2 12

9 Revolution Azure 革命之旅體育遊樂會Azure 10 1 1 8 78 272 -194 2 8

10 RB-SRK & Ageas Tin Shui Wai Pandas SRK & Ageas 天水圍熊貓欖球會 10 2 0 8 129 196 -67 3 6

11 Hong Kong Disciplined Services RFC  
Womens

香港紀律部隊欖球會女子隊 10 1 0 9 52 309 -257 2 4
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2024/2025 HKCR Community League (12's) 欖總社區聯賽(12人欖球)

Position 排名 Team 隊伍 P W D L For Agst GD BP PTS

1 University RFC 大學欖球會 15 14 0 1 386 122 264 5 63

2 Police Sirens 警察欖球會Sirens 15 10 0 5 405 112 293 9 52

3 City RC Sparkles 城市欖球會Sparkles 15 9 0 6 282 144 138 4 40

4 Societe Generale Valley RFC 3 法國興業銀行華利欖球會3隊 15 7 0 8 267 215 52 7 37

5 Gai Wu Hawks 雞糊Hawks隊 15 2 0 13 189 471 -282 2 11

6 MND Hong Kong Scottish SZ Kelpies MND香港蘇格蘭人深圳Kelpies 15 3 0 12 73 98 -25 2 -28
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GRAND FINAL WINNERS
季後總決賽冠軍得主

Nan Fung Group | AIRSIDE Men's Premiership
南豐集團 | AIRSIDE 男子超級聯賽

HKCR Premiership A
欖總男子超級聯賽A

HKCR Men's Championship League 1
欖總男子冠軍聯賽1

HKCR Men's Championship League 2
欖總男子冠軍聯賽2

HKCR Men's Championship League 3
欖總男子冠軍聯賽3

HKCR Community League 1
欖總社區聯賽1

HKCR Community League 2
欖總社區聯賽2

HKU Sandy Bay RFC
香港大學沙灣欖球會

Shenzhen Pirates RFC
深圳海盜橄欖球俱樂部

HKFC Natixis Scorpions
香港足球會法盛Scorpions隊

HKFC Natixis Bulls
香港足球會法盛Bulls隊

Discovery Bay Pirates
愉景灣海盜

Natixis HKFC Expendables
香港足球會法盛Expendables隊

DLA Piper Kowloon Brothers
DLA Piper 九龍欖球會Brothers隊

Societe Generale Valley RFC
法國興業銀行華利欖球會

Societe Generale Valley Red
法國興業銀行華利欖球會Red

SCAA CWB Griffins 
南華會銅鑼灣欖球會Griffins

Police Sirens 
警察欖球會Sirens

Nan Fung Group | AIRSIDE Women's Premiership
南豐集團 | AIRSIDE 女子超級聯賽

HKCR Women's Championship League 1 
欖總女子冠軍聯賽1

HKCR Women's Championship League 2 
欖總女子冠軍聯賽2

HKCR Community League (12's) 
欖總社區聯賽(12人欖球)
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The directors submit their report together with the audited 
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30th 
April 2025.

Principal activity

The Group’s principal activity is the support, promotion and 
development of rugby in Hong Kong.

Results and appropriations

The results of the Group for the year ended 30th April 2025 are 
set out in the consolidated statement of total comprehensive 
income on page 111.

Funds

Movements in the funds of the Group during the year are set 
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on 
page 112.

Donations

Charitable donations made by the Group during the year 
amounted to HK$ Nil (2024: HK$ Nil).

Directors

(a)	 Directors of the Company

	 The directors of the Company during the year and up to 
the date of this report were:

Mr C Brooke 
Mr A Karton 
Mr R Lai
Mr R Esser (Resigned on 29th August 2024)
Mr M Murray
Mr D Scott 
Mr O Stratton (Resigned on 29th August 2024)
Mr B Free 
Ms G Meller 
Mr O Lewsey 
Ms K Boreham 
Mr R Cheuk (Appointed on 29th August 2024)
Mr R Cooke (Appointed on 29th August 2024)

	 In accordance with Article 12.5(b)(v) of the Articles of 
Association, all directors retire and any eligible person 
can hold office and may stand for re-election.

(b) 	 Directors of the Company’s subsidiaries

During the year and up to the date of this report, Mr C 
Brooke was also director of the Company’s subsidiaries. 

Directors’ material interests in transactions, 
arrangements and contracts that are 
significant in relation to the Group’s business

No transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance 
in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company 
or its subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of 
the Company had a material interest, whether directly or 
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time 
during the year.

HONG KONG, CHINA RUGBY
(Incorporated in Hong Kong and limited by guarantee)

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Directors’ interests in the shares and 
debentures of the Company or any specified 
undertaking of the Company

At no time during the year was the Company or its subsidiaries 
a party to any arrangements to enable the directors of the 
Company to hold any interests in the shares or debentures 
of the Company or its specified undertakings.

Business review

The Group has recorded a loss before fair value movements 
on financial assets and taxation of HK$4.8 million (2024: 
HK$21.9 million profit). Total comprehensive loss for the 
year was HK$2.3 million (2024: HK$27.2 million profit). The 
biggest risk facing the Group remains its reliance on the 
annual Hong Kong Sevens event to fund its principal activity 
which is the promotion and development of rugby in Hong 
Kong. The loss was the result of the Hong Kong Sevens 
tournaments less operating expenses of the group.

There are no subsequent events which materially affect the 
financial result of the Group. 

The Group expects to operate on a sustainable basis in the 
next financial year as it expects to continue to host the Hong 
Kong Sevens and reinvest back into the promotion and 
support of rugby in Hong Kong.

The Group has complied with all applicable laws and 
regulations during the year.

The Group’s success depends on some key relationships 
for a significant proportion of its income, particularly those 
relating to the Hong Kong Sevens and the governing body 
for rugby, World Rugby. 

Management contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration 
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the 
Company were entered into or existed during the year.

Permitted indemnity provisions

At no time during the financial year and up to the date of 
this Directors’ Report, was there any permitted indemnity 
provision in force for the benefit of any of the directors of 
the Company (whether made by the Company or otherwise) 
or an associated company (if made by the Company).

Auditors

The consolidated financial statements have been audited 
by PricewaterhouseCoopers who retire and, being eligible, 
offer themselves for re-appointment.

On behalf of the Board

Christopher John Brooke
Chairman

Hong Kong, 5th August 2025
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Opinion

What we have audited
The consolidated financial statements of Hong Kong, China 
Rugby (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), 
which are set out on pages 110 to 141, comprise:

•	 the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 
April 2025;

•	 the consolidated statement of total comprehensive 
income for the year then ended;

•	 the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the 
year then ended;

•	 the consolidated statement of cash flow for the year then 
ended; and

•	 the notes to the consolidated financial statements, 
comprising material accounting policy information and 
other explanatory information.

Our opinion 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give 
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position 
of the Group as at 30 April 2025, and of its consolidated 
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for 
the year then ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting 
Standards as issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly 
prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies 
Ordinance. 

Basis for Opinion  

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong 
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) as issued by the HKICPA. 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the 
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the 
Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with the Code.

Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other 
information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the report of the Directors, but does not include 
the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon.
 
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does 
not cover the other information and we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information 
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that 
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we 
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in 
this regard.  

Responsibilities of Directors for the 
Consolidated Financial Statements 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the 
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give 
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting 
Standards as issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the 
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the 
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend 
to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no 
realistic alternative but to do so. 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Members of Hong Kong, China Rugby (incorporated in Hong Kong and limited by guarantee)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in 
accordance with Section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies 
Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume 
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person 
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a 
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can 
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken 
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also: 

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement 
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control. 

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant 
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the Group’s internal control. 

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by the directors. 

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of 
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the 
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue 
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention 
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures 
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions 
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the 
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as 
a going concern. 

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content 
of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial 
statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

•	 Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient 
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial 
information of the entities or business units within 
the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the 
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible 
for the direction, supervision and review of the audit 
work performed for purposes of the group audit. We 
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies 
in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this 
independent auditor’s report is CROCKFORD, James Noel 
(practising certificate number: P05722).

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 5th August 2025  
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HONG KONG, CHINA RUGBY
(Incorporated in Hong Kong and limited by guarantee)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 30TH APRIL 2025

Note 2025
HK$’000

2024
HK$’000

(Restated)
Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 5 15,928 13,966
Intangible assets 6 728 874
Right-of-use assets 8 6,944 3,766
Deferred tax asset 9 3,861 3,861
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 10 100,636 98,116
Prepayments 11 3,208 4,345

131,305 124,928

Current assets
Trade receivables, other receivables and prepayments 11 69,501 36,632
Amounts due from related parties 22 1,274 472
Cash and cash equivalents 12 72,261 60,360
Restricted cash 13 - 5,000

143,036 102,464

Current liabilities
Trade payables, other payables, accruals and contract liabilities 14 90,105 43,984
Lease liabilities 8 3,240 2,515

93,345 46,499

Net current assets 49,691 55,965

Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities 8 3,720 1,263

3,720 1,263

Net assets 177,276 179,630

Financed by:
General fund 91,003 95,877
Investment revaluation reserve fund 86,273 83,753

177,276 179,630

..............................................	 ........................................
Christopher John Brooke       	 Martin James Murray            
Chairman	 Director

As approved on 5th August 2025
The notes on pages 114 to 141 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

HONG KONG, CHINA RUGBY
(Incorporated in Hong Kong and limited by guarantee)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30TH APRIL 2025

Note 2025
HK$’000

2024
HK$’000

(Restated)
Income

Sponsorship, Hospitality and Subscriptions 15 135,460 133,696
Ticket Sales 15 60,677 56,543
Investment Income 15 8,549 6,918
Other Income 15 14,860 10,458

219,546 207,615

Expenses
Sevens Costs 16 (95,548) (78,985)
Staff Costs 17 (48,621) (38,515)
Club & Community 16 (26,565) (24,343)
Representative Squads Costs 16 (28,282) (20,692)
Operational, Administrative Expenses and Donations 16 (13,403) (12,595)
Depreciation & Amortisation 16 (2,225) (2,150)
Other Event Costs 16 (6,047) (5,145)
Facilities Management 16 (3,729) (3,237)

16 (224,420) (185,662)

Fair value gains on financial assets 10 2,520 5,300

(Loss)/ Profit before taxation (2,354) 27,253

Taxation 19 - -

Total comprehensive (loss) /income for the year (2,354) 27,253

Attributable to:
General fund (4,874) 21,953
Investment revaluation reserve fund 2,520 5,300

(2,354) 27,253

The notes on pages 114  to 141 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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The notes on pages 114  to 141 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

HONG KONG, CHINA RUGBY
(Incorporated in Hong Kong and limited by guarantee)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30TH APRIL 2025

General
fund

Investment
revaluation

reserve
fund Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1st May 2023 73,924 78,453 152,377

Total comprehensive income for the year (Restated) 21,953 5,300 27,253

At 30th April 2024 (Restated) 95,877 83,753 179,630

At 1st May 2024 95,877 83,753 179,630

Total comprehensive (loss) / income for the year (4,874) 2,520 (2,354)

At 30th April 2025 91,003 86,273 177,276

The notes on pages 114  to 141 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

HONG KONG, CHINA RUGBY
(Incorporated in Hong Kong and limited by guarantee)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30TH APRIL 2025

Note 2025
HK$’000

2024
HK$’000

(Restated)

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash generated from operating activities 20 (a) 10,300 20,398

Net cash generated from operating activities 10,300 20,398

Cash flows from investing activities

Interest received 750 577

Dividends received from financial assets at fair value 
 through profit or loss

8,549 6,918

Purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (4,040) (2,717)

Net cash generated from investing activities 5,259 4,778

Cash flows from financing activities

Principal element of lease payments 20 (b) (3,622) (2,938)

Interest element of lease payments 20 (b) (36) (30)

Net cash used in financing activities (3,658) (2,968)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 11,901 22,208

Cash and cash equivalents at 1st May 60,360 38,152

Cash and cash equivalents at 30th April 72,261 60,360

Analysis of cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents 72,261 60,360
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1	 General information
Hong Kong, China Rugby (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) are engaged in the support, 
promotion and development of rugby in Hong Kong.

The Company was incorporated in Hong Kong on 30th April 1990 and is limited by guarantee. Permission has been granted 
by the Companies Registrar for the Company to exclude the word “Limited” from its name.

The address of the Company’s registered office is Room 2001, Olympic House, 1 Stadium Path, So Kon Po, Causeway Bay, 
Hong Kong.

On 1st May 1990, the Company took over the assets, liabilities and reserve funds of its predecessor entity, Hong Kong Rugby 
Football Union which was registered as a society.

The consolidated financial statements have been approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 5th August 2025.

2	 Summary of material accounting policies
The material accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out below. 
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

(a)	 Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with HKFRS  Accounting Standards as issued 
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). They have been prepared under the historical cost 
convention, as modified by the revaluation of certain financial assets and financial liabilities (including financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss).  The consolidated financial statements are therefore prepared on a going concern basis.

The Group has made losses of HK$2,354,000 in the year (2024: HK$27,253,000 profits). The Hong Kong Seven’s is the 
Group’s core revenue generating event. The Directors expect to host the tournament again the financial year 2025/26 but 
remain prudent in their financial outlook. The Directors consider it appropriate to prepare the financial statements on a going 
concern basis.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with HKFRS Accounting Standards requires the use of 
certain critical accounting estimates and judgment in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas 
involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are material to the 
consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in Note 4.

Management has represented certain immaterial 2024 balances within the consolidated statement of cash flow, taxation note, 
accruals note, consolidated statement of changes in equity, statement of financial position and reserve movement of the 
Company to conform with the 2025 presentation.

HONG KONG, CHINA RUGBY
(Incorporated in Hong Kong and limited by guarantee)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 	 Summary of material accounting policies (Continued) 
(a)	 Basis of preparation (Continued)
	 (i)	 Amendments and improvements adopted in 2025

In 2025, the Company adopted the following new interpretation and amendments which are relevant to its operations:

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or 
Non-current

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

HK-Interpretation 5 (2020) Presentation of Financial Statements - 
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan 
that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause

Amendments to HKAS 7 and  
HKFRS 7

Supplier Finance Arrangements

The above new interpretation and amendments does not have any significant impact on the amounts recognised in prior 
periods and are not expected to significantly affect the current or future periods.  

	 (ii)	 New standards, new interpretation and amendments that are not yet effective for the year ended 30th April 2025 and 
have not been early adopted by the Company

Amendments to HKAS 21 and 
HKFRS 1

Lack of Exchangeability (1)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and 
HKFRS 7

Classification and Measurement of Financial 
Instruments (2)

HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9, 
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting 
Standards — Volume 11 (2)

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial 
Statements (3)

HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: 
Disclosures (3)

Amendments to HK-Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements – 
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that 
Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause (4)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and 
HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor 
and its Associate or Joint Venture (4)

(1)  Effective for the company for annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2025
(2)  Effective for the company for annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2026
(3)  Effective for the company for annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2027
(4)  Effective date to be determined			

	
The adoption of the above new standards, new interpretation and amendments are not expected to have a material effect 
on the financial statements of the Company.

HONG KONG, CHINA RUGBY
(Incorporated in Hong Kong and limited by guarantee)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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HONG KONG, CHINA RUGBY
(Incorporated in Hong Kong and limited by guarantee)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 	 Summary of material accounting policies (Continued)
(b)	 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to the 
statement of financial position date on the basis set out in Note 2(c) below. 

(c)	 Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all entities over which the group has control. The Company controls an entity when the group is exposed 
to, or has rights, to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through 
its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the group. They are 
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. The consideration transferred for the 
acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the 
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or 
liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent 
liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. 

Investments in subsidiary companies in the Company’s financial statements are stated at cost less provision for any impairment 
losses. Income from subsidiary companies is accounted for on the basis of dividends received and receivable. Long term 
loans to subsidiary companies are considered to be quasi-equity in nature where there are no defined repayment terms and 
no expectation of repayment.

(d)	 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 
losses. Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only 
when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item 
can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are expensed in the consolidated income statement during the 
financial period in which they are incurred.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives set out below: 
Leasehold buildings		  25 years
Leasehold improvements	 5 years
Office equipment		  3 years	
Furniture and fittings		  3 years
Coaching equipment		  3 years
Artificial Pitches		  5 years
Motor vehicles		  3 years

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the 
carrying amount of the relevant asset and is recognised in the consolidated income statement.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date. An asset’s 
carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its 
estimated recoverable amount.

HONG KONG, CHINA RUGBY
(Incorporated in Hong Kong and limited by guarantee)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 	 Summary of material accounting policies (Continued)
(e)	 Intangible assets

Computer software

Costs associated with maintaining computer software programmes are recognised as an expense as incurred. Development 
costs that are directly attributable to the design and testing of identifiable and unique software products controlled by the 
Group are recognised as intangible assets when the following criteria are met:

•	 it is technically feasible to complete the software product so that it will be available for use;
•	 management intends to complete the software product so that it will be available for use;
•	 there is an ability to use or sell the software product;
•	 it can be demonstrated how the software product will generate probable future economic benefits;
•	 adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the software product  
	 are available; and
•	 the expenditure attributable to the software product during its development can be reliably measured.

Computer software development costs recognised as assets are amortised over their estimated useful lives, which does not 
exceed three years.

(f)	 Impairment of assets
The Group reviews the carrying amounts of assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
the carrying amount of those assets may not be recoverable. If such assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment 
to be recognised is measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the recoverable amount. 
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. Such impairment losses are 
recognised in the consolidated income statement.

(g)	 Financial assets
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:
	
•	 those to be measured at fair value through other comprehensive income;
•	 those to be measured at fair value through profit or loss, and
•	 those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the Group’s determination of the classification of a financial asset between ‘debt’ and ‘equity’ 
inline with HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation.

For investments in equity instruments (as defined by HKAS 32) that are not held for trading, they will be treated as fair value 
through profit or loss unless the Group has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to account for the 
equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive income.
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HONG KONG, CHINA RUGBY
(Incorporated in Hong Kong and limited by guarantee)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 	 Summary of material accounting policies (Continued)
(g)	 Financial assets (Continued)

For investments in debt instruments (as defined by HKAS 32) these will be treated as fair value through profit or loss unless 
they meet both of the following conditions:
•	 the asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and 
	 selling financial assets; and 
•	 the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal 
	 and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

If the above two conditions are met, movements in the carrying amount are taken through OCI, except for the recognition of 
impairment losses, interest income and foreign exchange gains and losses which are recognised in the income statement. 
When the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from equity 
to the income statement and recognised in other gains or losses. 

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value. The Group subsequently measures all equity 
investments at fair value. Where the Group’s management has elected to present fair value gains and losses on equity 
investments in OCI, there is no subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and losses to the income statement following 
the derecognition of the investment. Dividends from such investments continue to be recognised in the income statement 
when the Group’s right to receive payments is established.

(h)	 Trade receivables, other receivables and prepayments
Trade receivables, other receivables and prepayments are recognised at fair value less provision for impairment. The Group 
applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance 
for all trade receivables. Trade receivables are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that 
there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the group. 
The amount of the provision is recognised in the consolidated income statement.

(i)	 Cash and cash equivalents
In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks 
and other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less.  

(j)	 Restricted Cash
Bank deposits which are restricted to use are classified as “restricted cash”. Restricted cash is excluded from cash and cash 
equivalents in the consolidated statement of cash flows.

(k)	 Leases
Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset is available 
for use by the Group.

Lease liabilities are initially measured at the present value of lease payments to be paid in the future, discounted using the 
incremental borrowing rate. Lease payments include payments for non-lease components. Subsequently, lease liabilities are 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Remeasurements of the lease liabilities are required in case 
of changes in the lease term, in future lease payments or when options are reassessed. 

HONG KONG, CHINA RUGBY
(Incorporated in Hong Kong and limited by guarantee)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 	 Summary of material accounting policies (Continued)
(k)	 Leases  (Continued)

Right-of-use asset are initially measured at the present value of the corresponding lease liability adjusted by payments made 
before lease commencement and any lease incentives received. Subsequently the assets are depreciated on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term and are adjusted by remeasurements of the corresponding lease liability. An impairment test is 
performed whenever impairment indicators are identified.

The incremental borrowing rate is based on publicly available market data in Hong Kong.

(l)	 Deferred taxation
Deferred taxation is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of 
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. Deferred taxation is determined 
using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply 
when the related deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable income will be available against which 
the temporary differences can be utilised.

	
(m)	Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is 
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount can be 
made.

(n)	 Trade payables, other payables, accruals and contract liabilites
Trade payables, other payables and accruals are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method.

Contract liabilities is recognised when cash is recovered from customers before satisfying any of the associated performance 
obligations.

(o)	 Revenue recognition
Revenue from the sale of tickets, member subscriptions and sponsorship is recognised when the performance obligation 
(the taking place of the event to which the revenue is associated and if required costs have been incurred) has been satisfied.

Coaching course income, and other income is recognised when the performance obligation has taken place and the service 
has been delivered.

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis, using the effective interest method.

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

Capital grants are recognised over the life of the asset to which the grant was awarded.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 財務報告2024 / 2 0 2 5 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 財務報告2024 / 2 0 2 5

119118 中國香港欖球總會二零二四至二零二五年年度報告HKCR ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25



HONG KONG, CHINA RUGBY
(Incorporated in Hong Kong and limited by guarantee)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 	 Summary of material accounting policies (Continued)
(p)	 Subventions and Grants
	 (1)	 Subventions

Subventions from the government and sporting governing bodies are recognised at their fair value where there is a 
reasonable assurance that the subventions will be received and the Group will comply with all attached conditions.

These subventions are recognised in the consolidated income statement over the period necessary to match them with 
the costs that they are intended to compensate. Subventions are presented in the consolidated income statement as 
deductions against the related expenses. General subventions where there are no specific expenditure requirements are 
presented separately within “other income”.

	 (2)	 Grants
Grants provided by organisations that are not associated with the government on sporting governing bodies are 
recognised at their fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that the subventions will be received and the Group 
will comply with all attached conditions.

These grants are recognised in the consolidated income statement and are presented in the consolidated income 
statement as income, with the associated expenses presented within expenses.

(q)	 Foreign currency translation
	 (1)	 Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements are 
presented in HK$, which is the Company’s functional and the Group’s presentation currency.

	 (2)	 Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates 
of the transactions or valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the 
settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the consolidated income statement. 

	 (3)	 Group companies
The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has the currency of a hyper-inflationary economy) 
that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as 
follows:

(i)	 assets and liabilities for each statements of financial position presented are translated at the closing rate at the date 
of that statements of financial position;

(ii)	 income and expenses for each income statements are translated at average exchange rates (unless this average is 
not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case 
income and expenses are translated at the rate on the dates of the transactions); and

(iii)	 all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income.

HONG KONG, CHINA RUGBY
(Incorporated in Hong Kong and limited by guarantee)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 	 Summary of material accounting policies (Continued)
(r)	 Operating leases

Leases where substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as 
operating leases. Payments made under operating leases net of any incentives received from the lessor are charged to the 
consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

(s)	 Employee benefits
Retirement benefits
The Group operates and participates in a defined contribution retirement scheme, the BCT Strategic Mandatory Provident 
Fund scheme. The assets of this scheme are held in a separate trustee administered fund. The pension plan is funded by 
payments from employees and by the Group and provides benefits linked to the contribution and investment returns made 
on the plan. The Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient 
assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior periods.

Contributions to this defined contribution plan are recognised as an expense in the consolidated income statement in the 
year in which they are incurred and are reduced by contributions forfeited by those employees who leave the scheme prior 
to full vesting of their contributions.

(t)	 Related parties
Related parties are individuals and companies, where the individual or company has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control 
the other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions. Parties are 
also considered to be related if they are subject to common control.

(u)	 Reserves
The Group holds two categories of reserves in order to make it clear to the users of the financial statements the difference 
in the value of cumulative gains/ losses associated with normal trading activities, and the value of cumulative gains/ losses 
generated as a result of investments in financial assets. The two categories are as follows:

General fund - contains the cumulative gains/ losses of the Group, including taxation, but excluding fair value gains/ losses 
on financial assets.

Investment revaluation reserve fund – contains the cumulative gains/ losses associated with current and previously held 
investments in financial assets. The fund is unrestricted. The gains/ losses on these investments are not transferred to the 
general fund when they are sold.
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HONG KONG, CHINA RUGBY
(Incorporated in Hong Kong and limited by guarantee)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3	 Financial risk management
(a)	 Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk and price risks), 
credit risk, and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on 
the Group’s financial performance as a result of these risk

	 (1)	 Market risk
		  (i)	 Foreign exchange risk

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk as a result of its holding of investments denominated in US 
dollars. Since the Hong Kong dollar is pegged to the US dollar within a range of HK$7.75-7.85: US$1, the Group 
does not consider the foreign exchange risk to be significant and therefore no further measures are taken to 
reduce this risk.

		  (ii)	 Price risk
The Group is exposed to equity securities price risk because investments held by the Group are disclosed on the 
consolidated statement of financial position as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. The funds are 
managed by an Investment Committee who have a mandate to maintain and if possible enhance the principal 
investment value of the portfolios whilst keeping risks to an acceptable minimum. The Committee reports to the 
Board of Directors and meets with its Fund managers on a quarterly basis.

The table below summarises the impact of increases/decreases of the investment unit prices on the Group’s 
portfolios and on profit and loss account. The analysis is based on the assumption that the unit price increases/
decreases by the respective percentages indicated below with all other variables held constant.

2025 2024

Investments

Change
in market
value
of units
% (+/-)

Impact
on
profit or loss
HK$ (+/-)

Change
in market
value
of units
% (+/-)

Impact
on
profit or loss
HK$ (+/-)

Global Equity High Income Fund 10% 10,064 10% 9,812

The Group has used its view of what would be a reasonable shift in each key investment unit price to estimate the 
change for use in the market sensitivity analysis above. The disclosures are shown in absolute terms, changes and 
impacts could be positive or negative. Changes in % movement in unit values are revised annually depending 
on the Group’s current view of market volatility and other relevant factors.

The Group has interest-bearing assets in the form of cash and cash equivalents and short-term deposits.

As the Group has no long-term borrowings or loans, the Group’s operating cash flows are substantially 
independent of changes in market interest rates. The risks in relation to cash flow and fair value interest rate risk 
are therefore not deemed to be significant.

HONG KONG, CHINA RUGBY
(Incorporated in Hong Kong and limited by guarantee)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3	 Financial risk management (Continued) 
(a)	 Financial risk factors (Continued) 
	 (2)	 Credit risk

Credit risks arise from cash and cash equivalents, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and outstanding 
receivable balances at the year end.

The Group minimises its credit risk in relation to receivables through the sale of tickets and merchandise to a widely 
dispersed customer base. Any exposure to individual organisations will be through significant sponsorship deals with 
reputable organisations.

For banks and financial institutions, only independently rated parties with a minimum rating of ‘A’ are accepted. For 
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, the risk is managed through the use of reputable fund managers and 
by the Investment Committee.

	 (3)	 Liquidity risk
Prudent liquidity risk management includes maintaining sufficient cash to meet the commitments and obligations of the 
Group.  

The Group had net current assets of HK$49,691,000 (2024: HK$55,965,000) as at 30 April 2025. The Group’s material 
cash requirements include:
•	 Trade payables, other payables and accruals
•	 Lease liabilities
•	 Other financial commitments disclosed in Note 21

Liabilities are trade, other payables and accruals as well as contract liabilities. Current liabilities are all due within 12 
months of the balance sheet date. Lease liabilities fall due in line with the length of the lease. The fair values of the 
balances due are equal to their carrying amounts as the impact of discounting is not material.

The table below analyses the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the 
remaining period at the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date.

Less than 
1 year

HK$‘000

Between 
1 and 2 years

HK$‘000

Between 
2 and 5 years

HK$‘000

At 30th April 2025

Trade payables, other payables 
and accruals 

90,105 - -

Lease liabilities 3,280 2,114 1,641

At 30th April 2024
Trade payables, other payables 
and accruals 

43,984 - -

Lease liabilities 2,515 1,263 -
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3	 Financial risk management (Continued) 
(a)	 Financial risk factors (Continued) 
	 (4)	 Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to be commercially and financially sound, able to provide the financial 
resources necessary to achieve the Strategic Plan and to safeguard the Group’s activities into the future. Capital of the 
Group is considered to be the General fund and Investment revaluation reserve fund.

The group has taken measures to manage the capital risk for the foreseeable future. The financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss provide sufficient capital for the Group to meet its future liabilities for the foreseeable future even 
in the event of a financial loss in the next financial year. 

	 (5)	 Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities
There is no material offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangement and similar agreements during the year.

(b)	 Fair value estimation
•	 Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
•	 Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 

directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices);
•	 Level 3 - Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs).

	 The following table presents the Group’s assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value at 30th April 2025.

Level 1
HK$‘000

Level 2
HK$‘000

Level 3
HK$‘000

Total
HK$‘000

Assets
	 - Liquid Equity Funds 100,636 - - 100,636

Total assets 100,636 - - 100,636

The following table presents the Group’s assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value at 30th April 2024.

Level 1
HK$‘000

Level 2
HK$‘000

Level 3
HK$‘000

Total
HK$‘000

Assets
	 - Liquid Equity Funds 98,116 - - 98,116

Total assets 98,116 - - 98,116

HONG KONG, CHINA RUGBY
(Incorporated in Hong Kong and limited by guarantee)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HONG KONG, CHINA RUGBY
(Incorporated in Hong Kong and limited by guarantee)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4	 Critical accounting estimates and judgements
The Group makes estimates and judgements concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will by definition 
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

(a)	 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
The Group depreciates property, plant and equipment on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life. The estimated 
useful life reflects management’s best estimate of the period that the Group intends to derive future economic benefits from 
the use of the property, plant and equipment. To the extent the useful economic useful life changes the resultant depreciation 
in the consolidated income statement will be increased or decreased.

(b)	 Recognition of deferred tax asset for carried-forward tax losses
The deferred tax assets include an amount of HK$3,861,000 which relates to carried-forward tax losses of the Group. The 
Group incurred the losses during the Covid-19 Pandemic. The Group has further unrecognised tax losses generated during 
the Covid-19 period, but considers the portion of deferred tax asset recognised is the appropriate level that is recoverable 
using the estimated future taxable income based on the approved business plans and budgets for the Group. The Group has 
generated taxable income in 2024/2025. The losses can be carried forward indefinitely and have no expiry date.
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5 	 Property, plant and equipment

HONG KONG, CHINA RUGBY
(Incorporated in Hong Kong and limited by guarantee)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HONG KONG, CHINA RUGBY
(Incorporated in Hong Kong and limited by guarantee)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Leasehold
buildings

Leasehold
improvements

Office
equipment

Furniture
and fittings

Coaching
equipment

Artificial 
pitches

Motor
vehicles Total

HK$‘000 HK$‘000 HK$‘000 HK$‘000 HK$‘000 HK$‘000 HK$‘000 HK$‘000

Year ended 30th April 2024

Opening net book amount 11,787 270 1,334 65 129 621 - 14,206

Additions - - 1,267 51 - 58 309 1,685

Depreciation (719) (83) (809) (40) (50) (138) (86) (1,925)

Closing net book amount 11,068 187 1,792 76 79 541 223 13,966

At 30th April 2024

Cost 17,459 33,169 22,897 3,040 5,009 75,604 309 157,487

Accumulated depreciation (6,391) (32,982) (21,105) (2,964) (4,930) (75,063) (86) (143,521)

Net book amount 11,068 187 1,792 76 79 541 223 13,966

Year ended 30th April 2025

Opening net book amount 11,068 187 1,792 76 79 541 223 13,966

Additions - 1,884 512 1,224 19 149 - 3,788

Depreciation (719) (142) (620) (134) (49) (59) (103) (1,826)

Closing net book amount 10,349 1,929 1,684 1,166 49 631 120 15,928

At 30th April 2025

Cost 17,459 35,053 23,409 4,264 5,028 75,753 309 161,275

Accumulated depreciation (7,110) (33,124) (21,725) (3,098) (4,979) (75,122) (189) (145,347)

Net book amount 10,349 1,929 1,684 1,166 49 631 120 15,928
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HONG KONG, CHINA RUGBY
(Incorporated in Hong Kong and limited by guarantee)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6 	 Intangible assets
Computer software

HK$’000

Year ended 30th April 2024
Opening net book amount 67
Additions 1,032
Amortisation charge (225)

Closing net book amount 874

At 30th April 2024
Cost 5,068
Accumulated amortisation (4,194)

Net book amount 874

Year ended 30th April 2025
Opening net book amount 874
Additions 252
Amortisation charge (398)

Closing net book amount 728

At 30th April 2025
Cost 5,320
Accumulated amortisation (4,592)

Net book amount 728

7	 Subsidiaries

	 The Company’s subsidiary information is as follows:

Name

Place of
incorporation and
type of legal entity

Principal activities and
place of operation

Particulars of
issued share
capital

Group
interest

held

REAL Sports and 
Entertainment Limited

Hong Kong, limited 
liability company

Management of rugby 
events

2 ordinary shares 100%

HONG KONG, CHINA RUGBY
(Incorporated in Hong Kong and limited by guarantee)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

8 	 Right-of-Use assets and leases
This note provides information for leases where the Group is a lessee.

(i) 	 Amounts recognised in the statement of financial position
The statement of financial position shows the following amounts relating to leases: 

2025
HK$’000

2024
HK$’000

Right-of-use assets
Buildings 6,343 2,761
Others 601 1,005

6,944 3,766

Lease liabilities
Current 3,240 2,515
Non-current 3,720 1,263

6,960 3,778

There is HK$3,334,000 additions to the right-of-use assets during the year ended 30 April 2025 (2024: HK$1,212,000), 
representing a new lease for an office at the South China Athletic Association, with a lease term of two years.

There is HK$3,470,000 increase to the right-of-use assets as a result of modifications to certain lease agreements (2024: 
HK$1,562,000).

(ii)	 Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of total comprehensive income
The consolidated statement of total comprehensive income shows the following amounts relating to leases:

2025
HK$’000

2024
HK$’000

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets 
Buildings 3,223 2,482
Others 403 462

3,626 2,944

Interest expense 36 30

The total cash outflow for leases in 2025 was HK$3,658,000 (2024: HK$2,968,000).
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HONG KONG, CHINA RUGBY
(Incorporated in Hong Kong and limited by guarantee)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

8 	 Right-of-Use assets and Leases (Continued)
(iii) 	The Group’s leasing activities and how these are accounted for 

The Group leases various offices and government properties. Rental contracts are typically made for fixed periods of 1 to 5 
years, but may have extension options as described in (iv) below.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease 
agreements do not impose any covenants other than the security interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor. 
Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.  

(iv)	 Extension and termination options
Extension and termination options are included in a number of property and equipment leases across the Group. These 
are used to maximise operational flexibility in terms of managing the assets used in the Group’s operations. The majority of 
extension and termination options held are exercisable only by the Group and not by the respective lessor. 

9 	 Deferred tax asset
	 The balance comprises temporary difference attributable to:

2025
HK$’000

2024
HK$’000

Tax losses recognised 3,861 3,861

Total deferred tax asset 3,861 3,861

Tax losses
HK$’000

Movements
At 1 May 2024 3,861
Utilisation  -
Tax lossed recognised -

At 30 April 2025 3,861

The Group has remaining tax losses of HK$214,582,000 representing a potential deferred tax asset of HK$35,398,000 which 
has not been recognised due to uncertainty surrounding the extent and timing of future taxable profits.

HONG KONG, CHINA RUGBY
(Incorporated in Hong Kong and limited by guarantee)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10 	 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

2025
HK$’000

2024
HK$’000

Investments at fair value 100,636 98,116

	
The movement in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss may be summarised as follows:

2025
HK$’000

2024
HK$’000

As at 1st May of the previous year 98,116 92,816
Net unrealised gains 2,520 5,300

	 As at 30th April 100,636 98,116

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss relate to actively managed and traded unit trust investments measured at 
fair value. The financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are denominated in the following currency:

2025
HK$’000

2024
HK$’000

United States dollars 100,636 98,116
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11 	 Trade receivables, other receivables and prepayments
2025

HK$’000
2024

HK$’000
(Restated)

Trade receivables 27,734 10,505

Trade receivables - net 27,734 10,505
Other receivables and prepayments* 44,975 30,472

72,709 40,977
Less non-current portion: prepayments (3,208) (4,345)

69,501 36,632

*In 2025, management identified a prepayment recorded in the prior year of HK$4,263,000 related to Stadium Costs 
where the more appropriate treatment would have been to expense this amount through the Income Statement. Although 
immaterial, the comparative figures for the prepayment balance as at 30 April 2024 has been restated from HK$11,850,000 
to HK$7,587,000 to correct the recognition of stadium-related costs.

All trade receivables and other receivables are expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date unless stated 
otherwise. 

The fair values of these balances approximate their carrying amounts.

As of 30th April 2025, trade receivables of HK$27,734,000 (2024: HK$10,505,000) were past due but not impaired. These 
relate to a number of independent customers for whom there is no recent history of default. Based on the associated credit 
ratings and history of limited defaults, the Group expects any associated expected credit loss to be minimal. The ageing 
analysis of these trade receivables as at 30th April is as follows:

2025
HK$’000

2024
HK$’000

Up to 30 days overdue 8,010 4,508
Over 30 days overdue 19,724 5,997

27,734 10,505

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of each class of receivable mentioned above. 
The Group does not hold any collateral as security.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables, other receivables and prepayments are denominated in the following 
currencies:

2025
HK$’000

2024
HK$’000

(Restated)

Hong Kong dollars 64,232 34,312
United States dollars 8,330 2,715
Pounds sterling 147 3,950

72,709 40,977

HONG KONG, CHINA RUGBY
(Incorporated in Hong Kong and limited by guarantee)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12 	 Cash and cash equivalents
2025

HK$’000
2024

HK$’000

Cash at bank and in hand 72,261 50,128
Short term bank deposits - 10,232

72,261 60,360

Maximum exposure to credit risk 72,065 60,166

		
Cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the following currencies:

2025
HK$’000

2024
HK$’000

Hong Kong dollars 69,924 49,280
United States dollars 1,663 974
Pounds sterling 674 10,106

72,261 60,360

13 	 Restricted cash
There was no restricted cash as at 30 April 2025. As at 30 April 2024, the restricted cash represented security for a guarantee 
in respect of the hire of Hong Kong Stadium.

14 	 Trade payables, other payables, accruals and contract liabilities
2025

HK$’000
2024

HK$’000
(Restated)

Trade payables 29,825 10,612
Other payables and accruals 39,607 25,451
Contract liabilities 20,673 7,921

90,105 43,984
Less non-current portion: other payables - -

90,105 43,984

Current liabilities are all due within 12 months of the balance sheet date.

Contract liabilities of HK$7,921,000 (2024: HK$10,292,000) were recognised as income during the year that was included in 
such balance at the beginning of the year.

HONG KONG, CHINA RUGBY
(Incorporated in Hong Kong and limited by guarantee)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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HONG KONG, CHINA RUGBY
(Incorporated in Hong Kong and limited by guarantee)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15 	 Income
Revenue primarily comprises subscriptions from members, sponsorship income, and ticket sales. 

2025
HK$’000

2024
HK$’000

Income
Sponsorship, Hospitality and Subscriptions 135,460 133,696
Tickets Sales 60,677 56,543
Investment Income 8,549 6,918

204,686 197,157

Other income
Facilities Management Income 2,986 2,335
Course Income 1,977 1,531
Hong Kong Touch Association – Registration / Entry Fee 1,905 1,082
Capital Grant Recognition 344 343
Exchange Gain 340 -
Miscellaneous 7,308 5,167

14,860 10,458

Total Income 219,546 207,615

16	 Expenses by nature

Note

2025
HK$’000

2024
HK$’000

(Restated)
Expenses

Sevens Costs* 16(a) 95,548 78,985
Staff Costs 17 48,621 38,515
Club & Community 16(b) 26,565 24,343
Representative Squads Costs 16(c) 28,282 20,692
Operational, Administrative Expenses and Donations 13,403 12,595
Depreciation and Amortisation 2,224 2,150
Other Event Costs* 6,048 5,145
Facilities Management 3,729 3,237

Total Expenses 224,420 185,662

*In 2025, management identified that Sevens Costs related to Stadium Costs and Other Event Costs were understated in the 
prior periods by HK$4,477,000 and HK$10,000 respectively. Although immaterial, the comparative figures for the Sevens 
Costs for the year ended 30 April 2024 have been restated from HK$74,508,000 to HK$78,985,000 to correct the recognition 
of stadium related cost; and HK$5,135,000 to HK$5,145,000 to correct the recognition of Other Event Costs.

Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 8) was HK$3,626,000 (2024: HK$2,944,000). This amount is included within 
Operational, Administrative Expenses and Donations.

Operational, Administrative Expenses and Donations include auditor’s remuneration of HK$744,420 (2024: HK$683,800), 
which includes both audit fees of HK$517,420 (2024: HK$343,700) and non-audit fees of HK$227,000 (2024: HK$340,100), 
and lease interest HK$36,000 (2024: HK$30,000).

Subventions from government and sporting governing bodies totaling HK$15,799,000 (2024: HK$21,576,000) have been 
deducted against the expenses that they were intended to compensate.

HONG KONG, CHINA RUGBY
(Incorporated in Hong Kong and limited by guarantee)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16	 Expenses by nature (Continued)
(a) 	 Sevens Costs

2025
HK$’000

2024
HK$’000

(Restated)

Stadium Costs* 47,944 36,583
Accommodation & meals 8,572 8,485
Displays / Entertainment 10,280 7,639
Travel 5,128 5,285
PR and advertising 4,273 5,009
Printing, ticketing, accreditation and office expenses 2,648 2,751
Food and Beverage 6,552 2,400
Function Costs 2,382 2,163
Temporary staff Costs 2,210 1,963
Insurance 1,721 1,672
Kit and laundry expenses 1,176 1,345
Consumables 437 1,236
Programme Costs 318 354
Medical and physiotherapy 176 207
Miscellaneous 1,731 1,893

95,548 78,985

* In 2025, management identified that Seven Costs related to Stadium Costs were understated in the prior periods of 
HK$4,477,000. Although immaterial, the comparative figures for the Stadium Costs for the year ended 30 April 2024 have 
been restated from HK$32,106,000 to HK$36,583,000 to correct the recognition of stadium-related costs.

(b) 	Club & Community
2025

HK$’000
2024

HK$’000

Subventions to clubs 7,624 4,220
Hire of grounds 3,516 4,871
Community coaching expenses 5,180 5,472
Streaming, video, marketing 3,620 3,308
Kit and laundry expenses 1,184 1,226
Referees expenses 640 770
Professional fees and Insurance 1,568 1,678
Consumables 908 862
Travel, Medical, Trophies, Others 2,325 1,936

26,565 24,343
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HONG KONG, CHINA RUGBY
(Incorporated in Hong Kong and limited by guarantee)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16 	 Expenses by nature (Continued)
(c) 	 Representative Squads Costs

2025
HK$’000

2024
HK$’000

Salaries / Allowances 13,434 9,017
Insurance 4,413 4,450
Kit and laundry expenses 4,272 3,493
Travel 568 33
Meals and refreshments 1,609 1,061
Medical and physiotherapy 454 651
Accommodation & meals 855 362
Hardware/Software 886 680
Miscellaneous 1,791 945

28,282 20,692

17 	 Staff costs
2025

HK$’000
2024

HK$’000

Wages and salaries 43,246 33,664
Contributions to Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme 1,543 1,349
Others 3,832 3,502

48,621 38,515

None of the directors received or will receive any fees or emoluments in respect of services provided to the Group during the 
year (2024: HK$ Nil).

Staff costs do not include staff employed specifically to play rugby for the representative teams. The costs for these staff are 
included in allowances in Note 16 (c).

18 	 Benefits and interest of directors
The following disclosures are made pursuant to section 383(1)(a) to (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), 
and Parts 2 to 4 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation (Cap. 622G):

(a)	 Directors’ emoluments (equivalent to key management compensation)
None of the directors received or will receive any fees or other emoluments in respect of their services rendered to the 
Company during the year (2024: HK$ Nil).

(b)	 Directors’ retirement benefits and termination benefits 
During the year, no retirement benefits, payments or benefits in respect of termination of directors’ services were paid 
or made, directly or indirectly, to the directors; nor are any payable (2024: HK$ Nil). No consideration was provided to or 
receivable by third parties for making available directors’ services (2024: HK$ Nil). 

HONG KONG, CHINA RUGBY
(Incorporated in Hong Kong and limited by guarantee)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

18 	 Benefits and interest of directors (Continued)
(c)	 Consideration provided to third parties for making available directors’ services

The Company did not pay any consideration to any third party for making available directors’ services for the year ended 
30th April 2025 (2024: HK$ Nil). 

(d)	 Information about loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of the directors, bodies corporate controlled by or 
	 entities connected with such directors

No loans, quasi-loans and other dealings were made available in favour of the directors of the Company, or bodies 
corporate controlled by or entities connected with such directors subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during 
the year 30th April 2025 (2024: HK$ Nil).

(e)	 Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements or contracts 	
No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to the Company’s business to which the Company was 
a party and in which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end 
of the year or at any time during the year 30th April 2025 (2024: HK$ Nil).

19 	 Taxation
(a) 	 Income tax expense

2025
HK$’000

2024
HK$’000

Current income tax - -
Deferred income tax - -

Total income tax expense - -

(b) 	Reconciliation of income tax expense
The taxation on the Group’s profit before taxation differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the taxation rate 
of Hong Kong, the home jurisdiction of the Group, as follows:

2025
HK$’000

2024
HK$’000

(Restated)

(Loss)/ Profit before taxation (2,354) 27,253

Tax at the Hong Kong rate of 16.5% (2024: 16.5%) (388) 4,496
Income not subject to tax (1,950) (2,110)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 16 -
Tax effect of temporary differences not recognised 283 (435)
Tax loss recognised 2,039 (1,951)

Tax expense - -
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HONG KONG, CHINA RUGBY
(Incorporated in Hong Kong and limited by guarantee)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

20	 Note to the consolidated cash flow statement
(a)	 Reconciliation of profit for the year to net cash from operating activities:

2025
HK$’000

2024
HK$’000

(Restated)

(Loss)/ Profit before taxation (2,354) 27,253
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 5) 1,826 1,925
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 8) 3,626 2,944
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 6) 398 225
Fair value gains on financial assets (Note 10) (2,520) (5,300)
Interest income (750) (577)
Interest expense (Note 8) 36 30
Dividend income from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (8,549) (6,918)

Operating (loss)/ profit before working capital changes (8,287) 19,582
Increase in amounts due from related parties (802) (472)
Decrease in amounts due to related parties - (366)
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables, other receivables and prepayments (31,732) 6,628
Increase/ (decrease) in trade payables, other payables and accruals 46,121 (2,474)
Decrease/ (increase) in restricted cash 5,000 (2,500)

Cash generated from operating activities 10,300 20,398

(b)	 The analysis of changes in financing during the year is as follows:
2025

HK$’000
2024

HK$’000

Lease liabilities 
At 1 May 3,778 3,943
New leases arranged during the year 3,334 1,212
Lease payments (3,622) (2,939)
Modification 3,470 1,562
Interest expenses 36 30
Interest paid (36) (30)

As 30 April 6,960 3,778

HONG KONG, CHINA RUGBY
(Incorporated in Hong Kong and limited by guarantee)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

21	 Commitments
(a)	 Lease commitments

The Group had future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases as follow:
2025

HK$’000
2024

HK$’000

Not later than 1 year 3,667 6,778
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 3,720 1,263

7,387 8,041

(b)	 Capital commitments
No capital commitments have been contracted for as of 30th April 2025 (2024: HK$ Nil).

22 	 Related parties
(a) 	 Significant transactions with related parties

During the year, the Group undertook the following transactions with related parties in the normal course of its business:

2025
HK$’000

2024
HK$’000

Income
Subscriptions fee from members – Rugby Union Club 100 37,200
Staff cost recharge to Rugby For Good 4,022 4,052

Related party transactions are based upon mutually agreed terms and conditions as agreed between the transacting parties.

(b)	  Balances with group companies and related parties
The amounts are unsecured, interest free and payable or receivable on demand. The carrying amounts approximate their fair 
values and are denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

2025
HK$’000

2024
HK$’000

Amounts due from Rugby Union Club 100 -
Amounts due from Rugby For Good 1,174 472

(c) 	 Compensation of key management personnel 
The remuneration of key management during the year was as follows:

2025
HK$’000

2024
HK$’000

Short-term benefits 7,330 6,687
Post-employment benefits 89 108

7,419 6,795
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HONG KONG, CHINA RUGBY
(Incorporated in Hong Kong and limited by guarantee)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23 	 Statement of financial position and reserve movement of the Company
2025

HK$’000
2024

HK$’000
(Restated)

Assets
Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 15,928 13,966
Intangible assets 728 874
Right-of-use assets 6,944 3,766
Deferred tax asset 3,861 3,861
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 100,636 98,116
Prepayments 3,208 4,345

131,305 124,928

Current assets
Trade receivables, other receivables and prepayments 69,490 36,620
Amounts due from related parties 1,374 472
Cash and cash equivalents 72,092 60,199
Restricted cash - 5,000

142,956 102,291

Total assets 274,261 227,219

Equity and liabilities
Equity attributable to owners of the company
General fund 90,976 95,766
Revaluation reserve 86,273 83,753

Total equity 177,249 179,519

Liabilities
Current liabilities

Trade payables, other payables and accruals 90,052 43,922
Lease liabilities 3,240 2,515

93,292 46,437

Non-current liabilities
Other payables - -
Lease liabilities 3,720 1,263

Total liabilities 97,012 47,700

Total equity and liabilities 274,261 227,219

HONG KONG, CHINA RUGBY
(Incorporated in Hong Kong and limited by guarantee)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23 	 Statement of financial position and reserve movement of the Company (Continued)

Note:
Reserve movement of the Company

General
fund

Revaluation
reserve Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1st May 2023 73,717 78,453 152,170

Total comprehensive profit for the year (Restated) 22,049 5,300 27,349

At 30th April 2024 (Restated) 95,766 83,753 179,519

At 1st May 2024 95,766 83,753 179,519

Total comprehensive (loss)/ income for the year (4,790) 2,520 (2,270)

At 30th April 2025 90,976 86,273 177,249

24	 Approval of financial statements
The consolidated and company financial statements were approved by the board of directors on 5th August 2025.
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